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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible
to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is
given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of
this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the Directors collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

For and on behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the
annual results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
May 2024 to the Shareholders.

Despite the fact that the pandemic significantly subsided
in Hong Kong beginning in 2023, and the Hong Kong
Government introduced a new series of consumption
vouchers in April and July 2023 to stimulate the economy,
the bars and restaurants sector continued to face difficulties
during the Reporting Period. Furthermore, the surge in
northbound consumption in the latter half of 2023, coupled
with a general decline in customers’ spending power,
exerted considerable pressure on our business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded
an increase in revenue of approximately 14.4% from
approximately HK$77,981,000 for the Corresponding Period
to approximately HK$89,245,000 for the Reporting Period
and recorded a net loss of approximately HK$17,321,000
for the Reporting Period as compared to a net profit of
approximately HK$5,880,000 for the Corresponding Period.
Such turnaround results were mainly attributable to (i)
increase in operating costs and depreciation of right-of-use
assets which outweigh the growth in revenue; (ii) increase in
property rental and related expenses such as the opening
of Wanchai Amante Shop; (iii) the slow economy recovery
during the Reporting Period; and (iv) write-off of trade and
other receivables recorded during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, with a view to expanding and
developing along its principal business, the Group has
launched a new cigar shop in Wanchai, which provides its
customer a quiet and relax environment for consumption.
At present, the Group is operating 2 lounges namely LKF
Lounge and Amante House and a shop namely Wanchai
Amante Shop.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHEE

As mentioned above, the uncertainties in Hong Kong’s
economy and the northbound consumption boom are
likely to continue to affect consumption, lifestyle and
entertainment industry in Hong Kong. Thus, the overall
business environment will become more challenging in the
forthcoming year as the spending power and spending
desirability of the population in the community and the
number of tourists visiting Hong Kong are more likely to be
influenced inevitably.

In order to cope with these challenges, we are committed
to strengthen its core capabilities to keep on improving its
business performance and to present satisfactory results
and bring favourable returns to our Shareholders. To achieve
this, the Group will continuously provide a diverse ranges
of value-added products and services to our valuable
customers and look for suitable venues in the market for
maintaining and expanding its club, restaurant, and cigar
lounges businesses.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board and the management of the Group,
| would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our staff
for their unremitting efforts during the Reporting Period and
to all shareholders for their full support. | would also like to
express my heartfelt thanks to all Shareholders, investors,
customers, suppliers and business partners for their valuable
support.

Wong Chi Yung
Chairman and CEO
Hong Kong, 30 August 2024
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Financial Highlight
MG RE

KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION FEMBHEN
Year ended 31 May
HESASIBLLEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FAET FAET
Revenue & 89,245 77,981
Changes in inventories FEZE2E) (27,714) (20,340)
Non-cash items: JEIREIEH ©
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #) ¥ RE R B HEiTE (5,589) (4,049)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEINE (14,185) (8,301)
Impairment loss on property, plant and M EKREERERE
equipment (34) (28)
Write-off of trade and other receivables i B 5 K H A g W sk 18 (5,571) (914)
Reversal of/(provision for) expected credit loss B 5 & H1th fE Ug Z 18
on trade and other receivables TEHAE IR RO (BH) 361 (579)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISMAT (B51B) & F (16,118) 6,239
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income F R (B518) /% &
for the year EEWTAEEE (17,321) 5,880

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue was
approximately HK$89,245,000, representing an increase
of approximately 14.4% when compared with that of the
Corresponding Period.

The Group recorded a loss and total comprehensive income
for the Reporting Period approximately HK$17,321,000,
while there was a profit and total comprehensive income
of approximately HK$5,880,000 for the Corresponding
Period. Such turnaround was primarily due to (i) increase
in operating expenses such as marketing cost and staff
cost as a result of the relaxation of operating hours on a
full year basis during Reporting Period compared to the
Corresponding Period after the ease of anti-pandemic
measures in the first half of 2023 which outweigh the
growth in revenue; (i) increase in property rental and related
expenses such as the opening of Wanchai Amante Shop;
and (i) write-off of trade and other receivables recorded
during the Reporting Period.

The Board did not recommend payment of any dividend for
the Reporting Period (2023: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Reporting Period, the Group operates (i) a
night club, Faye; (i) a sports-themed bar, Paper Street;
(i) 2 lounges, LKF Lounge and Amante House; and (iv) a
cigar shop, Wanchai Amante Shop.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
the Group had been principally engaged in the operation of
club and entertainment business in Hong Kong.

Operation of club and entertainment business

As at 31 May 2024, the Group operated 1 night-club
(namely Faye), 2 lounges (namely LKF Lounge and Amante
House) and 1 shop (namely Wanchai Amante Shop),
covering different segments of the club and entertainment
market. Faye provided unparalleled clubbing and vibing
experience with a stunning view at the rooftop of California
Tower in Lan Kwai Fong. The revenue generated from the
operation of club and entertainment business increased by
approximately HK$11,264,000, or approximately 14.4%,
from approximately HK$77,981,000 for the Corresponding
Period to approximately HK$89,245,000 for the Reporting
Period.

During the Reporting Period, our sports-themed bar, Paper
Street, had ceased operation in March 2024 due to non-
renewal of lease.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue was
generated from the operation of club and entertainment and
catering business in Hong Kong.

The Group recognised its revenue from (a) the club and
entertainment operations (i) the customer takes possession
of and accepts the products; (i) when the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group or other products were delivered to
its customers (including tips, cloakroom fees and service
income from an entertainment studio); and (b) entertainment
income when services have been transferred to the
customer.
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Faye; (ii)— B ZE 8) F B B ICPaper Street; (i)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERE®EDR

The table below sets forth the breakdown of the revenue by
club and entertainment operation and restaurant operation
for the Corresponding Period and Reporting Period:

TNREIII K F R HI R 3R & HA 12 P e R 4
BEUKREREES D WERM !

Year ended 31 May

HESH31HILEEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
% of total % of total
HK$’000 revenue HK$'000 revenue
FHET  1GEKE FET  1hAENE
=2 B3t
Club and entertainment operation & Fff f {3 4 % 38 89,245 100.0 77,981 100.0
Total 485t 89,245 100.0 77,981 100.0

The revenue generated from the operation of club and
entertainment business increased by approximately
HK$11,264,000, or approximately 14.4%, from
approximately HK$77,981,000 for the Corresponding Period
to approximately HK$89,245,000 for the Reporting Period.
Such increase was mainly due to the relaxing in the business
hours of our outlets on a full year basis during the Reporting
Period compared to the Corresponding Period after the ease
of anti-pandemic measures in the first half of 2023.

Changes in inventories

The changes in inventories mainly represented the cost
of beverage and food ingredients used in the Group’s
club, entertainment and restaurant operations. The major
beverage and food ingredients purchased by the Group
include but is not limited to liquors, champagne, liqueurs,
frozen food, dried food, etc. The changes in inventories, one
of the components of the operating expenses, increased by
approximately HK$7,374,000, or approximately 36.3%, from
approximately HK$20,340,000 for the Corresponding Period
to approximately HK$27,714,000 for the Reporting Period.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income decreased by approximately
HK$1,155,000, as compared with the Corresponding Period.
Such decrease was mainly due to the (i) reduction in gain
on early termination of leases amounting to approximately
HK$2,919,000; and (i) absence of the government grants
under the pandemic.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Advertising and marketing expenses

Advertising and marketing expenses primarily consisted
of advertising and promotional expenses such as the cost
of engaging resident and guest DJs and the expenses
incurred for engaging a public relations company for the
provision of marketing and promotion services to the
Group’s club, entertainment and restaurant operations.
The advertising and marketing expenses increased by
approximately HK$4,546,000, or approximately 45.0%, from
approximately HK$10,104,000 for the Corresponding Period
to approximately HK$14,650,000 for the Reporting Period.
Such increase was mainly due to the surge in expenses
incurred for public relation services and advertising and
marketing services resulted from increase in the business
hours of our outlets during the Reporting Period.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses primarily consisted of all
salaries and benefits payable to all employees and staff,
including the Directors, headquarters staff and operational
staff in each outlet. The employee benefits expenses
increased by approximately HK$4,240,000, or approximately
25.6%, from approximately HK$16,569,000 for the
Corresponding Period to approximately HK$20,809,000 for
the Reporting Period. Such increase was mainly due to more
staff being hired for the opening of Wanchai Amante Shop
and longer business hours of our outlets.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Depreciation represented the depreciation charge for
property, plant and equipment (including, among others,
leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment)
and right-of-use assets. Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The total depreciation increased by
approximately HK$7,424,000, or approximately 60.1%, from
approximately HK$12,350,000 for the Corresponding Period
to approximately HK$19,774,000 for the Reporting Period.

BEEw RO

BEREHBS

BEEhEHBYTIEZAEESRESRS (W
BEESEREEERBMANAA) BEFA
MABAREBRNEF REKEBREBER
HEE R HEERTFIEENRES BEERE
HE R EAEBIMNA10,104,0008 g M
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HE#HSMREFN EEGNBEIHEEREH
B9 #%916,569,0008 JTiE MN494,240,0008 5T 3¢
#25.6%FE R 5 HEBY4920,809,000B 7t B
R 1% 0 £ 2 2 A ¥ Wanchai Amante ShopB #
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREEs Rt

Other expenses

Other expenses mainly represented security expenses
for the clubs, credit card commissions, repairs and
maintenance costs, cleaning expenses, professional fee and
entertainment expenses. The other expenses increased by
approximately HK$4,552,000, or approximately 28.9%, from
approximately HK$15,771,000 for the Corresponding Period
to approximately HK$20,323,000 for the Reporting Period.
Such increase was mainly due to (i) write-off of property,
plan and equipment due to closure of sports-themed bar
“Paper Street” during the 4th quarter of the Reporting
Period; and (ii) the opening of the Wanchai Amante Shop in
the 3rd quarter of the Reporting Period.

(Loss)/profit before income tax

As a result of the cumulative factors discussed above, a loss
before income tax of approximately HK$16,118,000 was
recorded for the Reporting Period, compared to the profit
before income tax of approximately HK$6,239,000 for the
Corresponding Period.

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income for the
year

The loss and total comprehensive income for the Reporting
Period was approximately HK$17,321,000 compared to
the profit and total comprehensive income of approximately
HK$5,880,000 for the Corresponding Period.

FINANCIAL POSITION, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group recorded net cash generated from operating
activities of approximately HK$5,885,000 for the Reporting
Period and net cash generated from operating activities
of approximately HK$7,065,000 for the Corresponding
Period. Such decrease in net cash generated from operating
activities was primarily due to the increase in operating costs
and inventory level.

As at 31 May 2024, the Group’s total cash and bank
balances (including cash and cash equivalents and restricted
bank deposits) were approximately HK$1,816,000 (2023:
approximately HK$10,589,000). The current ratio (calculated
by current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group
was 0.68 (2023: 0.81), the difference was mainly due to
the (i) purchases of property, plant and equipment for the
opening of Wanchai Amante Shop; and (ii) repayment of
principal portion of lease liabilities during the Reporting
Period. The gearing ratio (calculated by total debts divided
by total equity) of the Group was nil (2023: 90.0%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AUDITOR’S DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Board wishes to draw the attention of the Shareholders
to the sections headed “DISCLAIMER OF OPINION” and
“BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION” in the Auditor’s
Report contained in pages 88 and 90 of this report. The
Auditor has issued a disclaimer of opinion on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period,
which arising solely from going concern issue of the Group.

Reasons for the Disclaimer and Proposed Measures

The net loss for the Reporting Period, net liabilities and
net current liabilities of the Group were mainly attributable
to number of reasons, including (i) high administration
expenses and costs including advertising and marketing
expenses; (i) property rental and related expenses such
as the opening of Wanchai Amante Shop; and (i) write-
off of trade and other receivables caused by long-aging
receivables during the Reporting Period.

In respect of the basis for Disclaimer as disclosed in the
Auditor’s Report relating to the appropriateness of the
assumption regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, the management of the Group has prepared
a cash flow forecast covering a period of 18 months from
the end of the Reporting Period taking into account of a
number of Proposed Measures to improve the Group's
liquidity and financial position including but not limited to:

(i) in August 2024, the Group entered into a loan facility
agreement with a shareholder for an amount of
HK$30,000,000 for 24 months. The Group will utilise
this facility to support its liquidity needs;

(if) in August 2024, an independent third party lender
and ex-shareholder undertook that they will not
request the Group to repay the outstanding amounts
of approximately HK$3,089,000 and HK$2,563,000
respectively until 30 November 2025; and

(iii) the Directors have continued to expand the existing
cigar business other than night club in the “operation
of club and entertainment business” segment; and
will strengthen to implement measures aiming at
improving the working capital and cash flows of
the Group, including closely monitoring the general
administrative expenses and operating costs.
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Taking into account of the above Proposed Measures,
the management of the Group considers and is confident
that the Group will have sufficient liquidity to finance its
operations for the next 18 months and therefore is of
the view that the Group would be able to continue its
businesses and operations as a going concern and the
going concern issue will be fully resolved in the immediate
future.

Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer,
the position of the management of the Group concerning
the Disclaimer and the Proposed Measures taken by the
Group for addressing the Disclaimer. The Audit Committee
agreed with the position of the management of the Group
based on the reasons as stated herein. Moreover, the Audit
Committee requested the management of the Group to
take all necessary actions to address the impact of the
Disclaimer and to strive that such situation leading to the
Disclaimer would not happen or be improved in the coming
future. The Audit Committee had also discussed with
the Auditor regarding the financial position of the Group,
Proposed Measures taken and to be taken by the Group,
and considered the Auditor’s rationale and understood their
consideration in arriving their opinion.

For further details, please also refer to the section headed
“DISCLAIMER” under the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 37 to 39.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group comprises of issued
share capital and reserves. As at 31 May 2024, the
equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$4,313,000 (2023: approximately
HK$15,574,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Rights Issue

In order to provide working capital to support the setting
up and operation of new lounge in Lan Kwai Fong (i.e.
LKF Lounge) as well as routine operation of the Group,
the Company raised funding by way of rights issue of total
number of 29,964,000 ordinary shares (aggregate nominal
value: HK$5,992,800) at a price of HK$0.42 per rights
shares (net price per rights share: approximately HK$0.40,
and the closing price of the Share on 28 December 2022:
HK$0.47 per share) on the basis of one (1) rights share for
every two (2) ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.20 each
to the qualifying Shareholders whose name appear on the
register of members of the Company on 12 January 2023
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the underwriting
agreement entered into by the Company with Silverbricks
Securities Company Limited on 28 December 2022.

All the conditions precedent under the underwriting
agreement have been fulfilled and the right issue was
completed on 27 February 2023. For details of the right
issue, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 28 December 2022, 12 January 2023 and 24
February 2023 and the prospectus of the Company dated 3
February 2023.

The net proceeds from the rights issue of approximately
HK$12,000,000 (gross proceeds: approximately
HK$12,500,000) have been fully utilised for the intended
announced purposes as at the date of this report.

Placing of New Shares under General Mandate

On 17 May 2023, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent to raise fund for setting up
the Amante House, inventory purchases of the lounge and
as general working capital of the Group. Pursuant to the
placing agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed to
place through the placing agent, on a best effort basis, for
up to 11,985,600 placing shares (aggregate nominal value:
HK$2,397,120), to not less than six placees independent
of the Company at a price of HK$0.50 per placing share
(net price per placing share: approximately HK$0.484; and
the closing price of the share on 17 May 2023: HK$0.50
per share). The placing shares were allotted and issued
pursuant to the general mandate granted to the Directors
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 14
November 2022. All the conditions precedent under the
placing agreement have been fulfilled and the placing was
completed on 23 June 20283. For details of the placing,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
17 May 2023, 6 June 20283 and 23 June 2023.
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The net proceeds from the placing was approximately
HK$5,800,000 (gross proceeds: approximately
HK$5,992,800) which have been fully utilised as at the date
of this annual report as approximately HK$1,000,000 for
the cost and expenses of setting up the Amante House;
approximately HK$4,000,000 for inventory purchasing for
the Amante House and approximately HK$800,000 for
general working capital of the Group.

Capital Reorganisation

In order to provide greater flexibility to the Company to
declare dividends and to undertake any corporate exercise
which requires the use of distributable reserves in the
future, on 26 July 2023, the Board proposed to implement
capital reorganisation which involving (i) the capital reduction
involving the reduction of the par value of each issued then
share from HK$0.20 to HK$0.01 by cancelling the then
paid up share capital to the extent of HK$0.19 per issued
then share so that following such reduction, each issued
Share with a par value of HK$0.01 in the share capital of
the Company shall become one new share; and (ii) the
share premium reduction involving the reduction of the
entire amount standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company to offset the accumulated losses
of the Company. Since the Capital Reorganisation was
completed on 19 December 2023 and become effective on
20 December 2023, the issued share capital of the Company
is 101,877,600 shares of HK$0.01 each and the authorised
share capital of the Company is 500,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each.

For details of the Capital Reorganisation, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 26 July 2023, 16
August 2023, 8 September 2023, 12 September 2023, 27
October 2023, 7 December 2023 and 19 December 2023
and circular of the Company dated 23 August 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Due to the expiration of the lease, the night club “FAYE” had
ceased its business as from 4 August 2024. The Group had
tried to negotiate with the landlord for renewal of the lease
but no agreement could be reached eventually. The Group
will continue to look for suitable venues in the market for
maintaining and expanding its club, restaurant, and cigar
lounges businesses.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are certain risks involved in the operations of the
Group’s business. Set forth below are some of the major
risks that could materially and adversely affect the Group.

1)

In order to expand and diversify our outlet network,
we expect to establish more lounges and set up more
restaurants in Hong Kong. The food and beverage,
and entertainment industry in Hong Kong is highly
competitive. Our success to branch out is subject
to a number of risks and uncertainties, including
identification of suitable locations and/or securing
of leases on reasonable terms, timely acquisition
of necessary governmental approvals and licences,
ability to hire quality personnel, timely completion
decoration and renovation works, acquisition of
sufficient customer demand, securing of adequate
suppliers and inventory that meet our quality
standards on timely basis, reduction in potential
cannibalisation effects between the locations of
our outlets and the general economic conditions.
The costs incurred in expansion plans may place
substantial strain on our managerial, operational and
financial resources. As such, we cannot assure that
we can always operate the expand outlets network
on a profitable basis or that any new outlet will
reach the planned operating levels. If any new outlet
experiences prolonged delays in breaking even or
achieving our desired level of profitability or operate
at a loss, our operational and financial resources
could be strained and our overall profitability could be
affected.
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2)

As we lease or license all of the properties on
which our outlets operate, we are exposed to the
fluctuations in the commercial real estate market.
There is no objective way for us to accurately predict
the rental rates in the commercial real estate market
in Hong Kong, and our substantial lease liabilities
expose us to potentially significant risks, including
increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic
conditions, limiting our ability to obtain additional
financing and reducing our cash available for other
purposes. Any non-renewal (whether as a result of the
landlord’s or licensor’s or our decision) or termination
of any of our leases or licence or substantial
increased rentals or licence fees could cause us to
close down the relevant outlet or the need to relocate
to another site, depending on our business needs
or performance from time to time. In such events,
we could face a drop in sales, write off leasehold
improvements, and could incur relocation costs for
renovation, removal and resources allocation, which
could in turn result in financial strain in our operations
and diversion of management resources.

For each of the Corresponding Period and Reporting
Period, our purchases from our largest supplier
accounted for approximately 38.2% and 72.0% of
our total purchases, respectively. We make purchases
from our largest supplier under individual purchase
order, and have not entered into any long term
contract with it. If our largest supplier for any reason
reduces the volume supplied to us or cease to supply
to us, we will need to find alternative suppliers on
similar sale terms and conditions acceptable to us. If
we fail to do so in a timely manner, the operations of
our clubs will be interrupted, our costs may increase
and our business, financial condition, results of
operations and growth prospects may therefore be
materially and adversely affected.

To address the above risks and uncertainties, the Directors
will closely monitor the progress of the expansion plan and
to operate the expanded network on a profitable basis. The
Directors will continue to review and evaluate the business
objective and strategy and make timely execution by taking
into account the business risks and market uncertainties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investment for the
Reporting Period.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did
not carry out any material acquisition nor disposal of any
subsidiaries for the Reporting Period.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company, or
by any of the companies now comprising the Group for the
Corresponding Period and Reporting Period.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since most of transactions are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, the Group is not exposed to significant foreign
exchange exposure.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any capital commitments as at 31
May 2023 and 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
as at 31 May 2023 and 2024.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not have any restricted bank deposit that
were pledge to secured bank borrowings as at 31 May 2023
and 2024.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION

As at 31 May 2024, the Group employed 149 employees
(2023: 88 employees) and the gender ratio in the
workforce was approximately 59.7% male and 40.3%
female. Employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
remuneration, wages, salaries, performance related
bonuses, other benefits and contribution to defined
contribution pension plans) amounted to approximately
HK$20,809,000 for the Reporting Period (2023:
approximately HK$16,569,000). Brief summary of the
remuneration policy of the Group is set out in pages 30 to
31 of this annual report.
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OUTLOOK

The entertainment and lifestyle industry are always full of
challenges, constantly evolving with fierce competition.
The demand for our business is highly influenced by
shifting lifestyle trends and the overall economy landscape.
Following the pandemic began to ease in Hong Kong in
2023, and with the Hong Kong Government rolling out new
series of consumption vouchers in April and July 2023,
there was a rebound in the economy that benefited the
Group through both local and tourist spending. However,
this positive period was short-lived, as we noticed a surge
in northbound consumption in latter half of 2023. We have
observed that a general shift in tourists’ spending patterns
from high-volume spending to a much more cautions and
restrained approach, which exerted considerable pressure
on our business.

To stay competitive and enhance our public appearance in
the entertainment and lifestyle industry in Hong Kong, the
Group has newly launched a cigar shop, namely Wanchai
Amante Shop, in the third quarter of the Reporting Period.
This shop is designed to offer its customers a causal and
comfort environment for consumption. Meanwhile, our
sports-themed bar Paper Street and night club Faye closed
in March and August 2024, respectively, due to non-renewal
of the leases. The Group will continue to look for suitable
venues in the market for maintaining and expanding its
club, restaurant and cigar businesses. Dedicated resources
will be allocated to revenue-generating operations in order
to maintain a competitive edge in market and enhance
diversification.

In order to cope with the fast changing environment, the
Group has devised plans to cement our lead and share
in market by (i) identifying weaknesses of the operations
on an on-going basis and impose improvement via review
by frontline managers regularly; (i) keeping upgrade of
standards and qualities of facilities and refurbishment of
our premises to keep our clientele satisfied; (iii) enhancing
cooperation with suppliers and landlords for better terms to
make ends meet; and (iv) reviewing the operational efficiency
and stringent cost control measures.

The Group is committed to strengthen our core competency
to keep abreast of the latest trends, analyse the situation
and adjust our strategies from time to time to minimise
the business risk and bring favourable returns to our
Shareholders.

20

New Amante Group Limited ¥ EEEEARAE

Al =

BB EFFRNITEERBREIE A ERE
B BREFHIN -HMNEBTERIEESE
EANEERES REBKESBECFRE E
WBEZIBR2023FEEEMBER  REBK
FR2023FE 4B R7TB#HEE —RFIFHES » &
ERAEE AEBEAMNEREES@EY
BED A EEHNEBLELE—R > HMFE
EH2023F THEFEIL LHE B HKMEEBR
R HEREAN T RN HEE R R AEE
BRFIHES R AHRMANERTREKXE
jjo

AU HEENIRRERMETBRERETES
RNITENBNE AEFERREPBFE =5
EMEE—-—XEAES > BlWanchai Amante
Shop  ZIEHEEABER T HERIEMR—E
REHFENIRBE -BR > AR AEMRLDN > FHM
BB S + BB MEPaper Street& M E&FiFaye
DAR2024FE38 8B R o AEBE R M E N
TEYEEBENSFRUERRBREGH &
EREmER RS AEMNEREEEME
BLUERRTENGEERRRESE T

RERRSEENRE BERMEHHTH
BAMARFAEMER ZEBERESEI()F
BRINCENESRAORBEB —REETHR
BEME (i) GR35 P& i R S ET B IRE K
RIEEGE MFERWE (ii)0mEH#Em &
FROGHE WSEEBNEREFT KX ; &
(V)R ES A E R e AR E B Al As

AEBB IR MBEFANZ OGRS DUR LR
WEE DWERBRARFIRAERHKEURE
BBREFRR KRB EPANRRGEREER K-



Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Chi Yung, aged 41, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director and the Chairman on 1 March 2021
and re-designated as an Executive Director, Chairman, CEO
and compliance officer of the Company on 12 July 2021 and
appointed as an authorised representative of the Company
on 14 March 2022. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’s degree
of Business Administration in Finance and Management
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
Mr. Wong has extensive experience in accounting and
corporate finance. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Polyfair Holdings Limited (stock code:
8532). He was a licensed representative under the SFO to
carry out Type 6 regulated activity (advising on corporate
finance) in INCU Corporate Finance Limited (from July 2016
to April 2021). He was also an executive director (from
April 2015 to July 2016) and a non-executive director (from
July 2016 to June 2019) of China Information Technology
Development Limited (stock code: 8178).

Ms. Liu Huijing, aged 41, has been appointed as an
Executive Director and the vice-Chairman on 3 April 2023.
Ms. Liu has extensive experience in entertainment, brand
promotion and business management. From 2006 to
2023, she worked at New Sparkle Roll International Group
Limited (“New Sparkle”, a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 970)) and held
various senior positions, including deputy general manager,
investment manager and assistant to the group’s chairman
of New Sparkle, where she was responsible for overseeing
marketing and brand management of world-renowned
high-end luxury brands represented by New Sparkle or
associated with it in Shanghai, including Davidoff, Richard
Mille, DeWitt, Parmigiani, Boucheron and Rolls-Royce, and
the operation of the group’s film and television and media
sections. Ms. Liu obtained a master’s degree in marketing
from the University of Hertfordshire in the United Kingdom in
2011. Ms. Liu currently holds 4,265,250 Shares.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFREFS

Ms. Lui Lok Yan, aged 35, has been appointed as an
Executive Director on 3 May 2022. Ms. Lui served in various
securities and asset management companies and has over
5 years of experience in fund management, investment
analysis and assets management. Ms. Lui was a licensed
representative under the Securities and Futures Commission
in accordance with the SFO to carry out Type 1, 4 and 9
regulated activities. Ms. Lui obtained a bachelor’'s degree of
science from Aston University, United Kingdom in 2010.

INEDS

Mr. Pong Chun Yu, aged 46, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 22 January
2021. He is also the chairman of the audit committee and
remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee. Mr. Pong is an associate member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Directors and fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute Certified of Public Accountants. Mr. Pong was
the financial controller of Sunny Side Up (Never) Limited,
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Sun Entertainment
Group Limited (stock code: 8082) (from December 2016 to
November 2018). He was a financial manager of Television
Broadcasts Limited (a company listed on main board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 511)) (from April 2022
to September 2022). Mr. Pong graduated from the Hong
Kong Baptist University in 2000 with a bachelor’s degree
in Business Administration (Accounting). Mr. Pong currently
holds 20,352 share options of the Company.

Mr. Hui Wai Hung, aged 34, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 February 2021.
He is a member of each of the nomination committee and
audit committee and remuneration committee. Mr. Hui
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting
and Finance from the University of New South Wales,
Sydney, Australia in 2015. Mr. Hui has experience in retail
and food and beverage sectors over 6 years. Mr. Hui
currently holds 20,352 share options of the Company.

Mr. Jiang Qiaowei, aged 30, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 February 2021.
He is also the chairman of the nomination remuneration
committee and a member of each of the audit committee
and remuneration committee. Mr. Jiang graduated with a
Bachelor of Computer Science from Susquehanna University,
United States in 2016. Mr. Jiang also obtained a Master
degree of Business Administration in Finance from La Salle
University, United States in 2018 and a degree of Bachelor
of Public Policy Management from the Education University
of Hong Kong in 2020. Mr. Jiang currently holds 20,000
Shares.
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The Board is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance by emphasising transparency,
independence, accountability, responsibilities and fairness.
The Board strives to ensure that effective self-regulatory
practices exist to protect the interests of the Shareholders
and to enhance long-term shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company endeavors to adopt prevailing best corporate
governance practices and has applied the CG Code. The
Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and has formed the opinion that the Company
throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report, has complied with the CG Code except for the
following deviations.

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, which
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. Accordingly, there will be a deviation
from the code provision C.2.1 by the Company as Mr. Wong
Chi Yung is the Chairman and CEO.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviation, the Board
considers that the present structure will not impair the
balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Group as the Board assumes collective
responsibility on the decision-making process of the
Company’s business strategies and operation. Nevertheless,
the Company will continue to review its operation and
seek to re-comply with the code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code by splitting the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer at a time when it is appropriate to increase the
independence of corporate governance of the Group.

Pursuant to the code provisions C.5.1, C.5.3 and C.5.8
of the CG Code, the Board should meet regularly and
board meetings should be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals, and at least 14 days’
notice (together with the agenda and the meeting materials
should be sent at least 3 days before the meeting) should be
given in advance. During the Reporting Period, due to the
amendment of the GEM Listing Rules (which only required
the reporting of interim and annual results onward), and
there was no material changes in the Group’s position in the
three months ended compared with the interim results, as
agreed by the Directors verbally, no third quarterly results
was formally prepared, thus no meeting was held, and no
notice and agenda were sent. However, going forward, the
Board will comply with this requirement accordingly.
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Pursuant to code provision D.1.2 of the CG Code, the
management of the Company should provide monthly
updates to the Board to enable the Board and each Director
to discharge their duties. However, given that companies
listed on the GEM board are required to prepare quarterly
financial results, and that no material changes in the Group’s
business operation or performance between months have
been noted in the past, the Company considers that
providing quarterly updates to the Board is sufficient for the
Board and each Director to discharge their responsibilities.
In the event there are any significant updates to be provided,
the Company will update the Board as early as practicable
for discussion and resolution.

Pursuant to the code provision D.1.3 of the CG Code, the
Auditor has issued a Disclaimer regarding the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Group has
taken and will continue to take certain Proposed Measures
to improve the Group’s working capital and cash flow
position and mitigate its liquidity pressure. For details of
the Disclaimer and Proposed Measures, please refer to the
section headed “AUDITOR’S DISCLAIMER OF OPINION”
under Management Discussion and Analysis and the section
headed “DISCLAIMER” in this Corporate Governance
Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is primarily responsible for formulating strategies,
monitoring performance and managing risks of the Group.
At the same time, it also has the duty to enhance the
effectiveness of the corporate governance practices of the
Group. Under the Board, there are three board committees,
namely the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee. All these committees perform their
distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of
reference (available on the Company’s website) and assist
the Board in supervising certain functions of the senior
management.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings.

Having made specific enquiries with all the Directors and all
the Directors have confirmed they have complied with the
required standard of dealings under the code of conduct
for Directors’ securities transactions during the Reporting
Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At present, the Board of the Company comprises six
Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Chairman and CEQO)
Ms. Liu Huijing (Vice-Chairman)
Ms. Lui Lok Yan

INEDs:

Mr. Pong Chun Yu
Mr. Hui Wai Hung
Mr. Jiang Qiaowei

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages
21 to 22.

The Board has the responsibility of leading the Company.
They are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s
affairs. The Board is accountable to the shareholders of the
Company for the strategic development of the Group with
the goal of maximising long-term shareholder value, while
balancing broader stakeholder interests.
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The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings,
audit committee meetings, remuneration committee
meetings, nomination committee meetings and general
meeting for the Reporting Period is set out in the following
table:

Board

Meetings

(attendance/

total no. of

Name of Directors meeting held)

EEEF

(tiEER

Y/ 81

3z EE L

Executive Directors HrEZ

Mr. Wong Chi Yung ITERE 6/6

Ms. Liu Hufing YEERL 6/6

Ms. Lui Lok Yan Ef /8 e 6/6
INEDs EUFHEE

Mr. Pong Chun Yu BIRTAE 6/6

Mr. Hui Wai Hung TEERE 6/6

Mr. Jiang Qiaowel BBELE 46

All Directors are provided with details of agenda items
for decisions making with reasonable notice. Directors
have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board
procedures are complied with and advising the Board on
compliance matters. Directors are also provided with access
to independent professional advice, where necessary, in
carrying out their obligations as Directors, at the expenses of
the Company. Directors who are considered to have conflict
of interests or material interests in the proposed transactions
or issues to be discussed would not be counted in the
quorum of meeting and would abstain from voting on the
relevant resolutions.
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All Directors assume the responsibilities owed to the
shareholders of the Company for the well-being and success
of the Company. They are aware of their duties to act in
good faith and in the best interests of the Company.

The Board is responsible for maintaining proper accounting
records so as to enable the Directors to monitor the
Company’s overall financial position. The Board updates
shareholders on the operations and financial positions
of the Group through quarterly, half yearly and annual
results announcements as well as the publication of timely
announcements on other matters as prescribed by the
relevant rules and regulations.

The Company has three INEDs, at least one of whom has
appropriate financial management expertise, in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules. Each of the INEDs has made
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all INEDs meet the independence guidelines as set out
in rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

According to the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

Each of the executive Directors and INEDs has entered
into a service contract or letter of appointment with the
Company for three years but subject to termination in certain
circumstance as stipulated in the relevant service contracts
or letter of appointment. At each annual general meeting,
one third of the Directors for the time being or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one third, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the first annual
general meeting of members after his/her appointment and
be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate
governance duties and has adopted written terms of
reference on its corporate governance functions.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

Up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the
corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of
reference.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will
be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Based on recommendations from the Nomination
Committee, the Board will set measurable objectives to
implement the board diversity policy and review such
objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness
and ascertain the progress made towards achieving those
objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the board
diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness from time to time.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 4 male
directors and 2 female directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was set up on 14 March
2017 to oversee the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management.

Within terms of reference in compliance with code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code, the primary objectives of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure
of the Directors and the senior management and
determining the remuneration packages of all Directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee
is also responsible to ensure that no Director or any of
his associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration, which will be determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as
market practice and conditions.

EEXELRRS

EFEMEZTIEER
EXZECHMESTIMNEZ TEERR EFH
EEREEFEMEZSTIENS #H FTRAFARBAR
EBZTEEREREFEMES TIL &
BEARRINMERN F& XERHEBEER
BFEER M -N#RRFZEH-ZEFE
PREZERUB A BRA > WAFETT DR
REFEMESTIENERBER TURTERE
ERBAE-

REANERFU-—RIZTCHESEE B
BARREN Fik XTREABER -EF
B RERMB RERERBEEENE
NEREKRBSESTGHRNE/MEL -

RERLZEGVERER EFIRHEN
STEERNBERESEMNES TEHER A
iRt EFERUBRESEEREEERZ
SERNEE -RLZZEGRTHNEERK
BNEFENESZ BN URFREKESR
R e

RAERSH EZCERENXEEEERME
MBS

NEEE
FINEESMN2017E38 140K LUEES
BEELREEBNHNE R RZE-

ENAEEERTRINTAMRXEEAN 2R
BELERN FHEZE SN IEEREEME
EREREEBNFHERARBRAESTTIR
HEBER  UKEEMAEEREREER
MHEMTE - FMNEE T TEERFESFHH
ERBBAANSSHEBEEEB I HM AR
MR 2EEARETRBNEREUARTHZER KR
15 750 T /28 RE e

2024 ANNUAL REPORT R

29



Corporate Governance Report

EEXELARS

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
held 1 meeting.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs,
namely:

Mr. Pong Chun Yu (chairman)
Mr. Hui Wai Hung
Mr. Jiang Qiaowei

Remuneration Policy of the Group

The remuneration policy of the Group is designed to ensure
that remuneration offered to the Directors and/or employees
is appropriate for the respective duties performed,
sufficiently compensate them for the effort and time
dedicated to the affairs of the Group, and is competitive and
effective in attracting, retaining and motivating employees.
The key components of the Company’s remuneration
package include basic salary, and where appropriate, other
allowances, incentive bonus, mandatory provident funds and
Options granted (if any) under the Share Option Scheme.
Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out on pages 78
to 81 of this annual report.

The emoluments payable to Directors are determined with
reference to the responsibilities, qualifications, experience,
duties, performance of the Directors, prevailing market
conditions and remuneration benchmark with directors of
listed companies of similar size and industry nature. They
include incentive bonus primarily based on the results of the
Group and Options granted (if any) under the Share Option
Scheme. The Remuneration Committee performs review
on the emoluments of the Directors from time to time. No
Director, or any of his associates or executive, is involved in
deciding his own emoluments.

Employees’ remuneration packages are determined
with reference to the responsibilities, qualifications and
experience, duties and performance of individuals as well as
prevailing market compensation packages. The packages
are reviewed annually and as required from time to time.
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The Group will spend resources in training, retention
and recruitment programs, and encouraging staff for
self-development and improvements. The Group keeps
monitoring and evaluating the performance of managerial
staff, aiming to achieve continuous improvements and
correction of deficiencies.

The Group believes that direct and effective communication
is essential for the establishment of good relations between
the management and employees. The Group receives
comments and suggestions from employees through internal
networks and the suggestion box, and adopts and analyzes
related comments and suggestions, and rewards those
providing recommendations.

Directors’ and the Five Highest Paid Individuals’
Emoluments

The Directors’ fees and remuneration and the emoluments of
the five highest paid individuals during the year are disclosed
in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

The contributions to pension scheme of Directors for the
year are disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was set up on 14 March 2017
for making recommendations to the Board on appointment
of Directors and succession planning for the Directors.

Within terms of reference in compliance with code provision
B.3.1 of the CG Code, the principal duties of the Nomination
Committee include reviewing the Board composition,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of Directors, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and viewing the Board Diversity Policy.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Wong Chi
Yung and Ms. Lui Lok Yan shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. No Directors proposed for re-election at the forth
coming AGM has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the following policies for the
nomination of Directors:

Selection Criteria

In assessing and selecting candidates for Directors, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the following non-
exhaustive list of factors:

° the candidate’s character and integrity, professional
skills and experience;

o the potential contributions that a candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of diversity of gender, age,
culture and educational background etc.;

° whether the candidate meets the required
independence criteria as set out in the GEM Listing
Rules;

° whether the candidate is willing and able to devote
sufficient time to fulfill the duties of being a Director;
and

° such other perspectives appropriate to the

Company'’s business.

Nomination Procedures

The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director
shall be assessed and considered by the Nomination
Committee and the Board against the Selection Criteria and
the Board Diversity Policy.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, after the Nomination Committee receives the
proposal to appoint a new Director or the nomination from
a shareholder, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate
the candidate’s eligibility to serve as a Director based on
the above criteria in combination with his or her personal
profile. If multiple candidates are involved, the Nomination
Committee shall prioritize them according to the Company’s
needs and candidates’ respective qualification.

In the case of the re-appointment of a Director at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
of the Directors and their services, their participation and
performance within the Board and whether such Director still
meets the above selection criteria.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held
1 meeting.

The Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs namely:

Mr. Jiang Qiaowei (chairman)
Mr. Hui Wai Hung
Mr. Pong Chun Yu

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was set up on 14 March 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision
D.3.3 of the CG Code that set out the authorities and duties
of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee performs,
amongst others, the following functions:

° Review financial information of the Group

° Review relationship with and terms of appointment of
the external auditor

° Review the Company’s financial reporting system,
internal control system and risk management system.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held four
meetings. The Audit Committee oversees the internal control
system of the Group, reports to the Board on any material
issues and makes recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely:

Mr. Pong Chun Yu (chairman)
Mr. Hui Wai Hung
Mr. Jiang Qiaowei

The chairman of the Audit Committee possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company'’s existing external auditor.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has
held meetings with the Company’s auditor and/or the
management of the Company to discuss the auditing, risk
management, internal control systems, the effectiveness of
the internal audit function and financial reporting matters of
the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the Year, the first
quarterly report for the three months ended 31 August 2023
and, the interim financial report for the six months ended
30 November 2023, including the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that aims to
provide the guidelines for the Board to determine whether
dividends are to be declared and paid to the Shareholders
and the level of dividend to be paid. Under the dividend
policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into
account, among others,

° the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance;
° the Group’s expected working capital requirements,

capital expenditure requirements and future
expansion plans;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each member of the Group;

° the Group'’s liquidity position;

° the general economic conditions and other internal
or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the
Group; and

° any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
shall remain to be determined at the sole discretion of the
Board and is also subject to any restrictions under the
Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the GEM Listing
Rules, the laws of Hong Kong and the Company’s articles of
associations and any other applicable laws and regulations.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution
record in the past may not be used as a reference or basis
to determine the level of dividends that may be declared or
paid by the Company in the future.
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The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy
and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any
time, and the dividend policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board and the Audit Committee acknowledge their-
responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control systems in order to safeguard the Group’s assets
and Shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk
management systems annually so as to ensure that internal
control and risk management systems in place are adequate.
The Company also has a process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks to the achievement of
its operational objective. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objective,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. This process is
subject to continuous improvement up to the date of this
annual report. The day-to-day operation is entrusted to
each individual department, which is accountable for its own
conduct and performance, and is required to strictly adhere
to the policies set by the Board. The Company carries out
reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control systems
from time to time in order to ensure that they are able to
meet and deal with the dynamic and ever-changing business
environment.
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The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and are of the view that in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be
more cost effective not to appoint external independent
professionals to perform internal audit function for the
Group. Currently, the financial controller of the Company
oversees such a function. The Company has engaged an
Internal Control Consultant to conduct independent review
on the internal control systems of the Group. Internal control
review report was submitted to and approved by the Board
and the Audit Committee. For the principal risks faced
by the Group, the Management has developed ongoing
mitigating measures to manage such risks. For control
weaknesses identified by the Internal Control Consultant,
the Group has adopted enhanced control measures to
rectify relevant control weaknesses. The abovementioned
annual review covered material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions of the Group. The Board considered that the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group were
effective during the Reporting Period. The improvement
of the systems of risk management and internal control is
an ongoing process and the Board maintains a continuing
commitment to strengthen the Group’s environment control
and processes.

The Board and the Audit Committee have conducted an
annual review and considered that the internal control and
risk management systems is effective and adequate, and in
compliance with the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code, and that there have adequate resources, qualifications
and experience, training and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, results
and cash flows of the Group for the Reporting Period.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim
reports, inside information announcements and other
disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The Management has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements which are put to the Board
for approval.

The Directors were aware that the Group’s net
current liabilities and net liabilities were approximately
HK$15,248,000 and HK$972,000, respectively as at 31 May
2024. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding the above conditions, the financial
statements were prepared based on the assumption that the
Group can be operated as a going concern.

DISCLAIMER

Pursuant to the code provision D.1.3 of the CG Code, the
Board would like to provide more details on the Disclaimer
regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

As mentioned in the section headed “AUDITOR’S
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION” under Management Discussion
and Analysis, the Auditor has issued a disclaimer of opinion
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
Reporting Period, which arising solely from going concern
issue of the Group.
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The net loss for the Reporting Period, net liabilities and net
current liabilities of the Group was mainly attributable to
number of reasons; (i) high administration expenses and
costs including advertising and marketing expenses; (i)
property rental and related expenses such as the opening of
Wanchai Amante Shop; and (iii) write-off of trade and other
receivables caused by long-aging receivables during the
Reporting Period.

The management of the Group is optimistic and confident
that the Company has sufficient working capital for the
next 18 months because the following Proposed Measures
have been and/or will be taken to improve its liquidity and
financial position:

(i) in August 2024, the Group entered into a loan facility
agreement with a shareholder for an amount of
HK$30,000,000 for 24 months. The Group will utilise
this facility to support its liquidity needs;

(ii) in August 2024, an independent third party lender
and ex-shareholder undertook that they will not
request the Group to repay the outstanding amounts
of approximately HK$3,089,000 and HK$2,563,000
respectively until 30 November 2025; and

(iii) the Directors have continued to expand the existing
cigar business other than night club in the “operation
of club and entertainment business” segment; and
will strengthen to implement measures aiming at
improving the working capital and cash flows of
the Group, including closely monitoring the general
administrative expenses and operating costs.
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The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer,
the position of the management of the Group concerning
the Disclaimer and the Proposed Measures taken by the
Group for addressing the Disclaimer. The Audit Committee
agreed with the position of the management of the Group
based on the reasons as stated herein. Moreover, the Audit
Committee requested the management of the Group to
take all necessary actions to address the impact of the
Disclaimer and to strive that such situation leading to the
Disclaimer would not happen or be improved in the coming
future. The Audit Committee had also discussed with
the Auditor regarding the financial position of the Group,
Proposed Measures taken and to be taken by the Group,
and considered the Auditor’s rationale and understood their
consideration in arriving their opinion.

The Board is of the view that that the Proposed Measures
are feasible and should be sufficient to address the
Disclaimer. Taking into account that if the Group is able to
improve the Group’s working capital, cash flow and financial
position in next financial year, and assuming there are no
other material adverse effects that will cause the Auditor to
issue other disclaimer(s) of opinion, the Board expects that
the Disclaimer may be removed in the next year’s auditor’s
report, or at least the financial position will be improved. The
Auditor also holds the same view and basis in this regard.

The annual results of the Group for the Reporting Period
have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for effective governance and
oversight of the environmental, social and governance
matters, as well as assessment and management of material
environmental and social risks. The ESG Report is prepared
in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide, and which is
set out in pages 45 to 71 of this annual report.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company discloses information in compliance with
the GEM Listing Rules, and publishes periodic reports and
announcements to the public in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company
is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate,
truthful and complete, thereby enabling shareholders,
investors as well as the public to make rational and informed
decisions.

The Group has put in place the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Group discloses inside information to
the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as stated
in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the
public, the Group ensures the information is kept strictly
confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would
immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements or circulars are not false or misleading as to
a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission
of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear
and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both
positive and negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed and facilitating
communications among Directors as well as with
shareholders and management.

Ms. Sun Shui was appointed as the Company Secretary on
16 February 2021 and is responsible for overseeing all the
company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Sun confirmed that, she has taken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company on
their reporting responsibilities and opinion on the Group’s
financial statements for the Reporting Period is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this
annual report.

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the
appointment of the external auditor and reviewing any non-
audit functions performed by the external auditor, including
whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential
material adverse effect on the Company.

The fees paid/payable to BDO Limited in respect of the audit
services and non-audit services for the Reporting Period are
set out as follows:
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, newly
appointed Director(s) should receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Pursuant
to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in a programme of continuous
professional development (the “CPD”) to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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During the Reporting Period, all the Directors have
participated in the CPD and/or induction and the relevant
details are set out below:

Name of Directors

EFxgs

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Wong Chi Yung TEBRE

Ms. Liu Huijing AEFELT

Ms. Lui Lok Yan ERMuL L
INEDs BUFHTEF
Mr. Pong Chun Yu BiIRFEE

Mr. Hui Wai Hung SRAETESTE

Mr. Jiang Qiaowei BERLE

note: Participation in CPD includes attending seminars, reading relevant
materials in relation to the business of the Group, directors’ duties,
latest development of the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable

regulatory requirements.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

A special resolution was passed at the AGM held on 14
November 2022 to amend the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company and adopt the new M&A
to reflect the changes of the relevant laws of the Cayman
Islands and the GEM Listing Rules and other consequential
and housekeeping changes. A consolidated version of the
Company’s constitutional documents is available on the
Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to its shareholders and investment
public.
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The Company updates the Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through
its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate
website of the Company (www.new-amante.com) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public
and the shareholders.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The objective of shareholder communication is to
provide the Shareholders with detailed information about
the Company so that they can exercise their rights as
shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to
ensure the Shareholders are kept well informed of key
business imperatives. These include annual general meeting,
annual report, various notices, announcements and circulars.
The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forums for communication
between the Company and its shareholders. The Company
provides shareholders with relevant information on the
resolution(s) proposed at general meetings in a timely
manner in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. The
information provided is reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s).

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDER TO CONVINCE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Act. However, Shareholders are
requested to follow article 64 of the Articles of Association
which provides that extraordinary general meetings should
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than 10% of the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis)
in the issued share capital of the Company. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit
of such requisition. If the Board fails to proceed to convene
an extraordinary general meeting within 21 days of the
deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist(s) may convene
an extraordinary general meeting himself/themselves, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDER TO PROPOSE
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

The provisions for a Shareholder to propose a person
for election as a Director of the Company are laid down
in article 113 of the Articles of Association. No person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended
by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
principal office of the Company or at the Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar. The period for lodgment of the notices
required under the Articles of Association will commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and
the minimum length of the period during which such notices
to the Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company,
for the attention of compliance officer, by email:
edwin108@new-amante.com, or mail to 25/F., China
Huarong Tower, 60 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group regards corporate social responsibilities as
one of the core values of its business operations for
sustainable development. The Group persistently strives to
operate its business in an economic, environmentally, and
socially sustainable manner. The Group is keenly aware of
the importance of balancing its business needs with the
stewardship of the natural environment, the need to meet
market demand for resources, and the need to achieve a
harmonious development of society.

The Company presents this ESG Report for the Reporting
Period, in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide
and based on the material aspects of the Group and
stakeholders.

The ESG Report has complied with the “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide. The
Group values your feedback regarding the review and the
Group’s overall sustainability practices. Please provide your
comments by email to info@new-amante.com.

This ESG Report serves to provide details of the Company’s
ESG policies and initiatives of its major operating segment in
Hong Kong, which is principally engaged in the operation of
club, entertainment and restaurant business.

The Board has the overall responsibility for the Company’s
ESG strategy and reporting, monitoring and managing
the ESG related risks. The management is responsible for
evaluating effectiveness of the ESG risk management and
internal control systems and the management confirms that
these systems are effective to mitigate the Group’s ESG
related risks. Assessment of ESG status and progress are
conducted on an ongoing basis. To understand the concerns
of various stakeholders, the Company has engaged and
discussed with various business functions and management
personnel, and identified the following material aspects and
has managed them strictly in accordance with the Group’s
policies and guidelines and in compliance with the relevant
legal and regulatory standards.

ESG Report
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During the Reporting Period, to the best knowledge,
information and belief of the Directors after having made all
reasonable enquiries, no member of the Group had been
involved in any material breach, or non-compliance, with
any applicable environmental laws or regulations, or laws or
regulations relating to employment, employee’s health and
safety, labour standards, product and service responsibility
or corruption that had a significant impact on the Company
or the Group.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in directing and overseeing
sustainability initiatives to ensure the effectiveness and
relevance in light of the evolving sustainability landscape.
The Board is committed to incorporating ESG mindset into
the Group’s business operations and responsible for the
long-term sustainability of the Group, including formulating
strategies and overseeing the Group’s ESG related risks
and opportunities. The Board considers ESG-related risks
and opportunities as part of the Company’s overall strategic
formulation.

The Board has delegated the power of sustainability
strategies development and policies implementation to the
management. The management is responsible for executing
projects, evaluating results, monitoring potential risks and
reporting on performance.

ESG management approach and strategy for material
ESG-related issues

To better understand the opinions and expectations of
different stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality
assessment is conducted annually. The Group ensures
various platforms and channels of communication are used
to reach, listen and respond to its key stakeholders. Through
communication with the stakeholders, the Group is able to
understand their expectations and concerns. The feedbacks
obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions,
and to better assess and manage the impacts of the
business decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality for each of the ESG
aspects through the following steps: (i) identification of ESG
issues by the Group; (i) key ESG areas prioritisation with
stakeholder engagement; and (iii) validation and determining
material ESG issues based on the results of communication
with the stakeholders.
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Taking these steps enhances the understanding of the
expectations and concerns of the Group’s stakeholders on
various ESG issues, which enable the Board to plan the
sustainable development direction to address material ESG-
related issues in the future.

Progress review made against ESG-related goals and
targets

ESG-related goals and targets have been set to provide a
strategic direction for all operations, the progress is closely
reviewed by the Company from time to time. Modification
may be needed if the progress falls short of expectation and/
or change of business operations.

The Group’s sustainability target enables the Company
to develop a realistic roadmap and focus on results of
achieving the visions. The sustainability performance and
progress made against the goals are reported annually to the
Board for review at least annually.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This ESG Report is based on the following four reporting
principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality
assessment were conducted regularly to identify material
ESG issues, and to ensure that these issues are addressed
in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this report have been
collected prudently. Please refer to the environmental and
social performance data for standards and methodologies
used for calculation of key performance indicators.

Balance: An unbiased and balanced picture of the
performance has been disclosed in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data
collection and calculation methods have remained consistent
throughout the years to facilitate comparability over time.

REPORTING BOUNDARIES

This ESG Report covers the Group’s business operation
of clubhouse, entertainment and restaurant in Hong Kong
and has primarily highlighted the major performance and
disclosure for the four environmental aspects and eight
social aspects in the Reporting Period.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the
sustainability of the Group. The Group fully appreciates
the needs to build both online and offine communication
channels and to provide stakeholders with timely reports
on strategic planning and performance of the Group in
order to establish a continuing communication mechanism
with the stakeholders. In addition, the Group consults the
stakeholders on their recommendations and propositions
to ensure its business practices can meet the expectations
of the stakeholders. Through regular engagement with key
stakeholders, the Group is able to identify major concerns
and proceed to formulating a response.

The stakeholders include the shareholders, government and
regulatory bodies, employees, customers, suppliers, society
and the public. The Group discusses with the stakeholders
through various channels about their expectations and
relevant feedback of the Group as below:

Stakeholders Expectations
BHinE B
Shareholders e Financial results
[T R

e ESG performance
RIB-HEREBEW

e Corporate transparency
EFERE

e Sound risk control
B2 R ke E

FinESH
ROENZ2HEEAEENAIREERTEES
EEB-AEERATHRATERIR LR
BMTHBERE IARNEERREHAERLE
EERBHEIRRBHRS WERFHER
YHR@EREG I REBEMFMNEN
BERIREAMMERS URREIXHEEL
EIFOHENRE - BBIEFHENEHES
B XEEEHHNTIEBNELEFHES

5

FROHEEERR BNEEEKE EBE - &
P-HEB HEARR - AEEEZBEEER
BRFMHESNRMMANERE  MAEBEHER
REEWMT :

Communication and response

BERKRERE

e Improving profitability
Re&MED

e Monitoring use of resources
ERERER

e Regular information disclosures
ERRE BIKE

e Optimising risk management and
internal control

BERBREERANBPEE

Government and e Compliance with laws and regulations e Compliance operation

regulatory bodies BTERER BRAKE

BT 62 B5 & 14 R e Tax payment in accordance with laws e Tax payment in full and on time
RIERIR B R BB

e Compliance with environmental e Compliance of environmental policies

regulations BTIRIBEGER
BRIEAR

Employees e Career development platform e Promotion mechanism

/3= BEERTE
e Salary and benefits
B e ra A

e Safe working environment
Z2 TIFIRIE
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e (Competitive salary and employee
benefits
BB F MRS TEF

e Providing trainings for employees and
strengthen their safety awareness
REESEINIRMREZ 2 EH



Stakeholders Expectations

Fin& HAZE
Customers e Product (food and beverage) and
g service quality

Em B RERHEEXR

e Customer rights and interests

protection

RERXP S
Suppliers e Business ethics and credibility
R mEEERES

e Integrity cooperation

MIEEIF

Society and the public
HERAR

Environmental protection
IRIRRE

e Employment opportunities

MERT

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted a
comprehensive materiality assessment, which involved
interviews and surveys with internal and external
stakeholders to identify “material issues” and reflect the
environment, social and operational issues which have the
most significant impacts on the Company’s business and the
relevant issues which are of concern to the stakeholders.

With reference to the scope of disclosure as required
under the ESG Reporting Guide, as well as taking into
consideration its business features, the Group has identified
and determined 24 issues covering GHG emission, energy
consumption, employee welfare, occupational health and
safety, training and development, supply chain management,
customer privacy, anti-corruption, and community
investment with respect to its business operation.

ESG Report
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Communication and response

B8 R o] fE

e Monitoring customers’ satisfaction level
through enquiry, questionnaire and
social media platforms
UEH BERARXERTaERER
R E

e Complaint handling mechanism

Bz 1 5% o 1% )

e Performing the contracts according to

law
KEBH

e Building a responsible supply chain
BB EERHER

e Putting into use environmental

protection and energy saving equipment
FRRRAEERE
e Providing employment opportunities
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The Group’s materiality matrix of ESG issues in the HREHBAERRE HETREAEENEE

Reporting Period: B P
HIGHEST
BS
10 R LR LR E R R RR TR )
: High Priority

9 $ B25%
o 19 oo
o 21
= 22
2 7 o
="
< B . 13 1546
D i 1447
ee T2 6 13418
ot 5 o- e 2 A
s 7
O
) 12
S 4
S
2 5889
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g 23
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1044
1
0 K
0 1 2 3 4 5] 6 7 8 9 10
IMPORTANCE OF TOPIC TO BUSINESS HIGHEST
HEHEBENBEY B85

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES IRIEEE SOCIAL ISSUES HEEE OPERATION ISSUES &&&£H

Environmental issues Social issues Operation issues
RIEEH HEEEHE REEH
1. Greenhouse gas emissions 8.  Community contribution 16. Anti-corruption
AERIBEHIN Can =R =7 RES
2. Energy consumption and 9.  Occupational health and 17. Supply chain management
resource management safety fH i B B 18
FEEFRHERERERE BxREizse 18. Supplier evaluation and
3. Water resources management 10. Child labour selection
KEREE BT 13 78 7 5 1k e B 43¢
4.  Waste management 11. Forced and compulsory 19. Customer service and
EBEEYERE labour satisfaction
5. Use of packaging materials I8 KR H % T EERBRARE
BE M B 12. Development and training 20. Customer privacy
6. Impact on the environment BRI EYSY N
HIRIENTE 13. Salaries and employee 21. Feedback and complaint
7. Climate change benefits handling
RiEE1E e kEESET [REE R 3% v R I8
14. Diversity and equal 22. Product safety and quality
opportunity ERZekiE
bk TFE#E 23. Intellectual property protection
15. Talent attraction and retention M EERE
R 40 sz #5088 N A 24. Marketing and labelling
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ENVIRONMENTAL

During the Reporting Period, the Group measured and
managed its environmental performance in several aspects
throughout its operations.

Emissions

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of
clubhouse, entertainment and restaurant in Hong Kong.
Throughout the operating process, the relevant emission
includes noise emission, light emission, air emission and
GHG emission.

i

Noise Emission

The operation of the Group’s club, named Faye,
naturally generates music in the evenings. To
minimise noise emission, the Group has installed
noise reduction materials and structure. The location
of the Group’s clubs and bar are not in residential
crowded areas. Faye is located at Lan Kwai Fong, a
night entertainment district in Hong Kong, whereas, a
sport-themed bar, named Paper Street! is located at
Bonham Strand in Sheung Wan.

The Group is not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to noise
emission.

Light Emission

The light emissions should not and do not cause any
disturbance to the public since all the featured events
are conducted inside the Group’s club. To minimise
light emission, the Group has complied with all the
relevant laws, ordinances, rules and regulations in
Hong Kong in the Group’s structural construction
and operation to ensure all the lighting systems are
properly installed.

The Group is not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to light
emission.

L The operation of Paper Street in Sheung Wan was
terminated in March 2024.
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iii)

52

Gas Emission

As cooking process involves the usage of fuels,
restaurant operation inevitably generates exhaust
gases. To protect the vicinity environment, all of the
Group’s restaurants have strictly complied with the
oil fume and cooking odor requirements as stipulated
by Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of
the laws of Hong Kong). The Company is committed
to executing effective gas emissions control through
the installation and use of appropriate and efficient
filtering equipment as well as organising the regular
inspection, maintenance and repair of the ventilation
system.

During the Reporting Period, the major GHG
emissions of the Group were mainly produced from
indirect emissions due to electricity purchased from
The Hong Kong Electric Company Limited.

Other air pollutants include nitrogen oxides (“NOx”),
sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and particulate matter
(“PM”), which have adverse effects on the climate,
ecosystems and air quality. The Group uses electric
vehicles which have no vehicle fuel usage and mainly
uses electric cooktops in the operation of restaurants,
therefore no material emissions of NOx, SOx and
PM were generated. The Group generates other
air pollutants through town gas consumption in its
operation.
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The key environmental performance indicators of the Group’s
emissions in the Reporting Period are shown in the table

below:

Air emissions

Environmental Indicators

RIGIEIR

NOx (Note 1)

g by v
SO«

el

PM

GEA e

Note 1: NOx is produced by gas cooking stove.

Reduction target of air emissions

Environmental Indicators

RIBIER

NOx intensity
Al
SOx intensity
mattmzE
PM intensity
R Mk A

Unit
B

Kilogram (“Kg”)
T (F51)
Kg

T

Kg

T

Reduction Target

ESG Report
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RSB ~EBFRYBIRARIRE

BREHP TR

RASHER

2024
20244

0.01
N/A
TEA
N/A
TEA
MiEET  mECERAR L
RASHER BV R EE B R

Baseline Year

ez =R BEF
Maintain minimal generation N/A
REFELEBMY EA
Maintain minimal generation N/A
REFELEBMY EA
Maintain minimal generation N/A
REFELEBMY EA

BRIE

2023
20234

0.01

N/A
B
N/A
B

Status
AR AR

N/A
B
N/A
B
N/A
B
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GHG emissions from operation

Environmental Indicators

IRIRIEIR
Direct emissions (Scope 1)
BB (BEN)

Indirect emissions
(SCOpe 2) (Note 1)

EEEEN (EE2) W=D

Other indirect emissions
(Scope 3)

HuhE N (B8E3)

Total GHG emissions MNote 2

BE RSN AR S (e

GHG emissions
intensity Mot 3)

BE RN R E e

Note 1: The emission factor of electricity consumed is sourced from: Hong MosET -

REEERNREREHNR

Unit 2024
B 20244
Tonnes of carbon dioxide 0.2

equivalent (“Tonnes of COze”)
W_EbikEE
(M| EREE))

Tonnes of COze 142.2
%L'ﬂ: FEEE

Tonnes of COze 10.5
%L'ﬂ: FEEE

Tonnes of COze 152.9
%L'ﬂ: FEEE

Tonnes of COz/HK$ million 1.7

revenue

—ftREE /BRBETHE

2023
20234

0.1

101.4

0.7

102.2

1.3

FEBNHIRARMIKE | 2023F BEBNREFTF

Kong Electric Sustainability Report 2023. BERRS -
Note 2: GHG emissions can be classified into three scopes: Msr2 . BERBHERAISA=EHE :
Scope 1: It represents mainly town gas consumption by gas cooking HE . FEEMRMEEENRBRROEE

stove.

Scope 2: It represents mainly the electricity purchased from power

suppliers.

Scope 3: It represents mainly the paper waste disposed at landfills

and water consumed.

Note 3: GHG emissions intensity is calculated by dividing the total GHG  Ki53: BEREHINZENIZAEREI N
emissions by the Group’s total revenue of club, entertainment and
restaurant business. The Group’s total revenue of club, entertainment
and restaurant business for the year ended 31 May 2024 was
approximately HK$89,245,000 (2023: HK$77,981,000).

77,981,000 7T) ©
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Reduction target of GHG emissions intensity

Environmental Indicators
RIBIEE

GHG emission intensity
(Scope 1)
BERBHRZE (BEN)
GHG emission intensity
(Scope 2)
BERBHREZE (BE2)
GHG emission intensity
(Scope 3)
RERBENEE (#E3)

iv)

HHFE R

2028FHIR 5%

2028FHIR 5%

2028FHIR 5%

Sewage Discharges and Waste Management

During the Reporting Period, all of the Group’s clubs
and restaurants have been granted with the water
pollution control licenses by the Environmental
Protection Department of the Hong Kong. To minimise
the environmental impact from the sewage discharge,
the Group has also installed adequate, efficient and
appropriate equipment to ensure the sewage has
been properly processed before discharge.

The Group is committed to reducing waste in its
operating activities which produce non-hazardous
wastes comprising mainly of food wastes, waste
oils, paper wastes and plastic wastes. The Group
hires waste disposal companies to handle club and
restaurants’ waste collection and recycling. No
material hazardous wastes are generated from the
Group’s operations of club and restaurants which
serving customers with food, light refreshment and
beverages.

ESG Report
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mEREHFREENRGEBR

Reduction Target

Reduce 5% by Year 2028

Reduce 5% by Year 2028

Reduce 5% by Year 2028

iv)

Baseline Year Status

HEF AR BE

2023 In progress

20234 TP

2023 In progress

20234 T

2023 In progress

20234 T

TR R EEYEE

RESHB ~&EBFMAEMAER
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o RS KEFRA B R ERE-
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Wastes produced from operation

Environmental Indicators Unit

RIS B

Non-hazardous wastes produced Tonnes
in total Nete D

EFMNBREZSEREYRE W= g

Non-hazardous wastes produced
intensity Mote 1)

EFMNBREEEYEE W= =R S €
Hazardous wastes produced in total Tonnes

EFMNESEEYRESE U]
Hazardous wastes produced intensity

EENEETBEREYEE

Note 1: The Group has engaged waste management companies to handle
non-hazardous wastes, such as kitchen waste and food waste.
Hence, no data of non-hazardous waste is maintained.

Reduction target of intensity of non-hazardous and
hazardous wastes produced

Environmental Indicators

RIGIEIR AR R

Non-hazardous waste produced intensity
EFNBREEEYEE
Hazardous waste produced intensity

EENBEEBEREVEE

TR I B A MR A
R 15 2 A R

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Water Pollution
Control Ordinance and Waste Disposal Ordinance and
other applicable laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharging into water and land, generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste of the Group during the Reporting
Period. In addition, no non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that resulted in significant fine or sanction
has been reported in the Reporting Period.
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Tonnes/HK$ million revenue

Tonnes/HK$ million revenue

L=V St 6

Reduction Target

Maintain minimal generation

Maintain minimal generation

REESHNEEREY
2024 2023
20244 20234
N/A N/A
BN el: T
N/A N/A
iE A & A
N/A N/A
iE A & A
N/A N/A
iE A & A

Wil 2EBERFERYEERIRERETERY W
BEEZRNKBMERY AL BIRRERIER
MBI B ©

EENEERRYAASERVEENRGE
=

Baseline Year Status
HEF AR EE

N/A N/A

TEH TER

N/A N/A

TEH TER

BT EER AN

RREHE AEBTELBEERRENRE
EREHR -BARIHMBE T - AEBELEE
EREEEEY I EETAREER TR SR
B HMEB ~ KT FE B K B =Y B B 1R
UREMBRERERER UBEREAFE
BB I o b 4h » FASR &5 BA RS W 4 (R & A RE V&
BEEREMEREAINAF RS -



Use of Resources

The resources used by the Group are principally attributed to
the consumption of electricity, gas, water and paper at the
back office and outlets.

Electricity is consumed during the daily business
operations from using electrical equipment. To promote
an environmentally friendly office, the Group promotes
and advises several measures such as: (i) employees are
encouraged to switch the electric equipment to energy
saving mode such as the automatically power down of
printers and computers after a period of inactivity and
turn off lightings before leaving the office and outlets;
and (ii) temperature switches are adopted to maintain
the workplaces at a reasonable temperature. The
Group’s electric vehicles are strictly used for transporting
management, customers and for business activities to keep
energy consumption at a minimum.

Although non-significant amounts of water is consumed
through the business activities, the Group also encourages
water saving by driving water-saving habits and posting
green messages in the workplace to remind the employees
to use water effectively. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has not experienced any difficulty in sourcing water
that is fit for the usage of the Group.

The Group implements measures for reducing the paper
consumption such as: (i) double-sided printing and reuse
of single-sided printed papers are encouraged; and (ii)
encourage to use more e-channels to disseminate corporate
information.

ESG Report
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BREA
FEBFREANBEREEZERBAEMAERPIE
FREMBIE MR~ KMok e

EEREEFEET  BEORBENEROTHE
BN RIBERRMAE ~EBREENRER
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RIF- LG RERKRS

Relevant consumptions from operations

Resources consumed

BiRHFE

Energy consumption
RETRIH ¥E

Electricity consumption
BIIHFE

Gas consumption

WA ROH #E

Total energy consumption
HERETRHAE

Energy consumption intensity
BERHERE

Water consumption

KFE

Water consumption

IKFE

Water consumption intensity

KERE

The Group’s operations of club and restaurants mainly
serving customers with food, light refreshment and
beverages, no significant packaging materials were recorded

during the Reporting Period.

Reduction target of resources consumption

Environmental Indicators
IRIBIEE

Energy consumption intensity
BEERE
Water consumption intensity

KERE

REELEMBERERE
Unit 2024
B i 20244
kWh 215,446
T REF
kWh 487
T REF
KWh 215,933
T REF
kWh/HK$ million revenue 2,426.2
FRE /" B8BTWE
Cubic metre (“M®”) 1,475
A K (TILHKI)
M3/HK$ million revenue 16.6

UHKR/ BEBTEE

B MR o

BIRHFERUHBEE AR
Reduction Target Baseline Year
AHEE R g
Reduce 5% by Year 2028 2023
20284F A 15% 20234
Reduce 5% by Year 2028 2023
20284F AR 5% 20234
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2023
20234

149,110
240
149,350

1,914.7

1,420

18.2

RBREHE AEECEEMRER(EEM
BERHEBRY N BRRGK) TEELERESR

Status

In progress
HEITH
In progress
HEITH



During the Reporting Period, the Group adopted a series of
initiatives for efficient energy use and energy conservation.
Details of such measures and the related results achieved
are listed as follows:

Resources saving measures

HIREAHEE

Water conservation

ESG Report
RI-HERESHRS
R EARY > A 5 B IR — R 5 SO PR AR

R ENKIBETRBIIE T - s FHE BT 1B R T Z 2
ARG R ¢

Details and results achieved

FREBRFRRER

Usage of water resources is strictly controlled in the back

office and outlets. All staff is encouraged to save water in
the workplace. As a result, consumption of water has been

reduced.
i 49 A 7k

BRAEMAERFENKEREAZIBRESN SBEESET

EIRSPRERAI K - FEIE > KFEBRD

Energy saving

Staff are encouraged to switch the electric equipment to energy

saving mode and turn off lightings before leaving the office and
outlets thus reducing the relevant consumption of electricity.

2

BT A9 BE TR

BERETHERMAMAERFIERNRERRBYIRENERNL

REIRARRER » {E iR L AR B B FE

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to reducing the operation
impacts on environment and natural resources. The Group
encourages environmental education and advocacy among
employees to motivate environmentally responsible behavior
which helps fufil the Group’s commitment to minimizing its
adverse impacts on the environment. During the Reporting
Period, there was no significant impact on the environment
and natural resources from the operations of the Group.

The Group actively introduces environmental protection
measures in the office spaces and outlets including turning
off electric equipment and lighting during non-operating
hours, posting green messages in the workplace to remind
staff to save water and reusing of papers. In addition, the
Group also encourages its employees to save resources,
cherish food and avoid wastage of resources.

RIEREAER
AEEROBLVEEHRERBRAERZE
E-rEEZBRARERHREATRERU
EBHRRRAEZTA WIBRTEAEERRE
WMOHEIRBEMN AR EZ A - NRE
i 2EENEETRBIRERERERE
MERTE-

AEBRMWAEBKRPIESIARFRER 21
EFREXEFHREAEERERRR EITF%S
PRRAG A EESUIREE THNAKREERR
AR lLh  REBTHBETHNER
DERYUKRBRREER
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Climate Change

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (the
“TCFD”) provides a reporting framework for companies to
report their climate-related risks to the stakeholders. TCFD
divided climate-related risks into physical risks and transition
risks, the physical impacts of climate change and transition
risks brought by decarbonisation could have material impact
to the Group’s operation and development. The Group
has raised its awareness towards the risks and potential
impacts on the Group due to climate change. The Group has
identified the climate-related risks that may adversely impact
the Group’s operations and development.

The Group understands that the climate change has posed
existential threats to the world and its operation, and the
Group must put effective measures in place to protect its
operations from potential disruptions and damages caused
by them. Such risks include physical risks such as typhoon
and rainstorms potentially leading to loss of electrical power
and property damage and staff casualty as well as transition
risks such as policy and regulatory changes.

In response to these, the Group regularly reviews global and
local government policies, regulatory updates and market
trends to identify potential climate-related risks which may
have an impact on the Group’s business operation. The
Group will develop a response plan when necessary such
as by changing the business strategy and modifying the
development plan in order to reduce the negative impacts of
such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable
practices in its business operations and prepare and
maintain sufficient resources for managing identified
climate-related risks and studying the potential remediation
measures.

During the Reporting Period, there was no climate-related
risk, including physical risks and transitional risks that had a
significant impact to the Group.
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SOCIAL
Employment

Employee is the foundation of success of the Group.
The Group is an equal opportunity employer and no
discrimination is tolerated on the basis of age, gender, race,
colour, sexual orientation, disability or marital status.

The Company also prohibits any kinds of discrimination
at the workplace, which generally refer to the gender,
pregnancy, marital status, disability, family status, and
race in the practices for human resources. Other than the
policies for anti-discrimination, the Company provides fair
opportunities for all staff members.

The total number of employees and the distribution on
demographics as of 31 May 2023 and 2024 have been

depicted as below:

Employee distribution BEDT

By gender g E b
Male E5

Female %z

By age group FER B 2
Under 30 years old 30 AT

30-50 years old 30E505%

Over 50 years old 5088 A &£

By employment type BEFENE 2
Full-time 28

Part-time £

By geographical region it & 8 9
Hong Kong e

ESG Report
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g

(0

BERAEERYNER AEEBLTHE
EBX BRLEEREH EH -BHR-Be 1%
0] ~ 52 B 48 R AR O BY A ] AR o

ERBTRELEETFSREAMEANLR &
BHARANDEROMER S BZ BRI E
B RERRKRER - BRREGERI > BR
AR AERERHB TSRS -

R2023F K2024F5H31H  BREHRH LEE
et HBERUWT ¢

2024 2023
20245 20234

89 (59.7%)
60 (40.3%)

48 (54.5%)
40 (45.5%)

81 (54.3%) 44 (50.0%)
60 (40.3%) 36 (40.9%)
8 (5.4%) 8 (9.1%)

49 (32.9%)
100 (67.1%)

47 (53.4%)
41 (46.6%)

149 (100%) 88 (100%)
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s employee turnover
rate by categories is as follows:

EERKE

Employee turnover rate

By gender ot¢ ) 4 Bl B 4y )
Male z
Female 5oy

By age group Mot "

Under 30 years old 30 AT
30-50 years old 30E505%
Over 50 years old 5058 M k&

i & &4y D
HE

By geographical region Mot ?
Hong Kong

Note 1: Employee turnover rate is calculated based on the number of
employees who ceased employment in specified category during the
Reporting Period divided by the total number of employees as at the
end of the Reporting Period in specified category.

The Group aims to provide a harmonious and respectful
working environment for the employees through competitive
remuneration packages including basic salary, commissions,
holidays, group insurance and mandatory provident
fund that are comparable to the market standard and
structured to commensurate with individual responsibilities,
qualifications, experiences and performance. Periodical
review is conducted and the appraisal results provide basis
for annual salary review and promotion appraisal.

The employment contract specified the terms including
scope of work, wages/allowances, working hours, rest days,
dismissal and other benefits and welfare to the staff. To stay
competitive, the Group’s base salaries are in line with the
industry norms.
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RBRESHB ~&EBRENE DN EERAE
M

BRERARE o ED

2024 2023
20244 20235
55.1% 89.6%
51.7% 52.5%
61.7% 93.2%
48.3% 63.9%
12.5% =
53.7% 72.7%

MizEt : EERKFRREHEFEHANBERES AKG
DR SRR ERNNESRHYAE -

EREHATSRERE AARF HAER
BABE EE - ERARFEHBOFNGE
(BREEL#Hz A BE - EEFRERRR
BE)  AEERNAEEAIEMNBSTENT
FRB R EEHETHRS  FLHERES
FEFMES REAFHREEKE

EBESQIBEERGER @FTFHEE-TE
SRMCTFEEHS -REB -BEREMBEIE
FlemBEGIE N AEENERFEKFER
GITEIER -



Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Employment Ordinance, Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance and other applicable laws and regulations
that have a significant impact relating compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination
and other benefits and welfare on the Group during the
Reporting Period. In addition, no non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that resulted in significant fine
or sanction has been reported in the Reporting Period.

Health and Safety

The Group realises that ensuring the health and safety of
employees are very important to the business operations of
the Group and therefore we make every effort to build and
maintain a working environment which is free from workplace
health and safety incidents.

The Group follows safety manuals issued by the
Occupational Safety of Health Council which set out work
safety measures to prevent common accidents which could
happen in the outlets. Managers are responsible to ensure
compliance of safety, hygiene and fire requirements by
conducting checks and inspections of the premises regularly
such as fire exit passageway shall be kept clear from
obstruction. Fire extinguishers and other equipment shall be
kept at the correct location and that they are accessible and
remain free from obstruction.

ESG Report
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EBFIERZRRER
FEBTAMERBSHE ~AEBEEHE
EERERGY - EERERIIKEMERZ
BEZHRNBER SEEEEHNREE A
BREM ILFHEH KEFBE FEEE 2
b REBREMSEREH D EBRERX
FE UL MENEBTHEBZRRERNE
MERNREAEAE2RAERT NI -

BEREZE

FERFRP RERENBERZREHEAEE
EBEBERER AL TERNMAE R
RETIFEMEERZEERHIFRIE

FEREBRHREZE2EERETNZE2TM
ETIHEEZEER UBHLEFIEBRSE
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The Group has engaged a third-party security company
for the clubs which will provide a team of security staff,
working under the supervision of the club managers. The
roles of the security team cover performing patrolling,
attending the scene and liaising with customers to stop
any potential fights in case of arguments or any fights or
other suspicious circumstances, and reporting fights, drug
use, theft and harassments to the police when necessary.
The Group has established safety and anticrime manual,
which is implemented strictly by the security team. The club
managers are responsible for coordinating with the security
team.

The Group implements headcounts and identity checking
procedures at the entrance of the premises of the clubs
to monitor the number of guests inside the premises and
whether the customers are above 18 years old when
entering into the clubs. In order to spot potential illegal
activities such as fights, drug abuse or theft at an early
stage, CCTVs are installed inside the club premises. The
security team will attend the scene investigate immediately
if any suspicious circumstance arises or stop any potential
fight inside the premises once identified.

The below table shows the work-related fatalities and
recordable injury for the three years ended 31 May 2022,
2023 and 2024:

AEEEZEE—RBE=ZARZADAEMN
SRR HERZABER RELFXEMREE
EE - REZEBNBEEEKE - EARGHR
BEERFBAAUELEMFH FRIEMD
RERNATEERNEAR URRLERFDER
REFR - EE - BBRRBESEH -AEEHE
MHEZEREMLERFM ARZEZRERE
Mo BRI EETHBREBRK -

FEEBTEEMADEBT AR RENIBER
FUBEZEEFMABEZE A B REREA ST
EROEmMISH B REEFREMAR - EEAS
MEBEIFELE EAFMESAZERR
BER - BZPANRZEZRERIRBFERGIULAN
ABE REFAREREMRETE L ERE
ko

TRETNE E20225F2023F &2024F58
S1HLE=EEE  AIET ABE KDL HEILE

B :

2024 2023 2022
Notification of accident BB 2024%F 20234 2022%F
Number of work related fatalities EIET AH - _ _
Rate of work-related fatalities RIETEEX - - _
Lost days due to work injury R TEMmELRNKXH - - -
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and other
applicable laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards of the
Group during the Reporting Period. In addition, no non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that resulted
in significant fine or sanction has been reported in the
Reporting Period.

Development and Training

As part of the Group’s initiatives for improving business
performance and encouraging personal development of
the staff, the Group strives to provide comprehensive
development to the employees.

The Group has provided training across different operational
functions, including induction training for new employees,
technical training, and training to enhance the employees’
knowledge, skill level and quality when performing their
duties. For the bartenders and cooks, the Group encourages
them to take courses to further enhance their technical
skills. The senior management also gives regular training to
the staff in relation to customer service skills.

During the Reporting Period, a staff has attended an external
training programme, Basic Food Hygiene Certificate for
Hygiene Supervisors, to enhance food hygiene and safety
knowledge.

ESG Report
RIE-HEAELGRS

EBFIERZRRER
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R RBEAILREMBERZRKERNE
NOHTEEREZETFRERFREREER
SHEECETEBRERTE I HE
NETHEBERRERENERERN RS HHE
ERAERINNES -

BRRIE
FRAAEERAEGREERZBETEAZRE
BEN—H0 AEERNIRAEERHE2EE
B o

FEESBEEMMIREEI SEHEIA
BEI MBI RARABREERTREMN
HoORERREMETHEN - AEEZEH
B REM2MBEASEERENRE  -SRE
BABTHETREEREPRBRITNEH
3l o

REBEEE —RETOSNANELEEE
BEMBENMEHES  UMBRYEERES
A1 o

65

2024 ANNUAL REPORT R



ESG Report
RIE-HHERELSRS

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of employees

trained is as follows:

Percentage of employees trained o "

Employees trained by gender Mot ?)
Male
Female

Employees trained by
employment category o2

Senior management

Middle management

General staff

RilfBEE 5L

P&

E1)

HifE > ZIIEEB DLW ¢

BRI B BB RS 5

5
£78

R RIS 0 Z IR A 0

SHREIERE
hiREEE
—RET

Note 1: Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number
of employees who took part in training by the number of employees

as at the end of the Reporting Period.

Note 2: It is calculated by dividing the number of employees trained in
specified category by the total number of employees trained.

During the Reporting Period, the average training hours

completed per employee are as follows:

Average training hours per
employee Mete 7)

Average training hours by gender %2
Male
Female

Average training hours by employment

category Mo 2
Senior management
Middle management
General staff

RS-

B sET

Mi5E2 :

R E

2024 2023
20244 20234
14% 106%
52% 59%
48% 41%
4% 1%
29% 9%
67% 90%

EERINE DL %S BEII0ES AMBRLURE
HERNEEAHE-

ZEEEINZIEEABFRURIES B ARG
o

HAR EERTHZIRHENT

e B B 53 B 49 T 8 R B

5
Z

BERERN2DH

E'ZiL_J g %‘m E%ﬁ (Hrat2)

BREEE
hiREEE
—RET

Note 1: Average training hours per employee is calculated by dividing the
total number of training hours by the total number of employees at

the end of the Reporting Period.

Note 2:

It is calculated by dividing the total number of training hours for

specified category by the number of employees for specified

category as at the end of the Reporting Period.
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4.8 26.6
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Labour Standards

The Group fully understands that the exploitation of child
and forced labour are universally condemned, and therefore
it takes the responsibility against child and forced labour
very seriously. The Group strictly complies with all laws and
regulations against child labour and forced labour.

Employment by the Group is based on the principle of
fairness, openness and willingness. All individuals enter into
employment contracts without acts of forced labour. In case
of child labour and forced labour, the Group will immediately
terminate the contract with the employee concerned and the
person-in-charge accountable.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Employment Ordinance, Employment of Children
Regulations and other applicable laws and regulations that
preventing from employment of child or forced labour by
the Group during the Reporting Period. In addition, no non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that resulted
in significant fine or sanction has been reported in the
Reporting Period.

Supply Chain Management

Suppliers have a direct impact on the Group’s sustainability
performance. The Group’s suppliers mainly include beverage
and food suppliers.

The Group selects the major suppliers based on a set
of criteria which includes product and service quality,
cost, reputation, service, agility, delivery efficiency, past
performance and relationship with the Group. Suppliers’
attitudes towards environmental and social issues including
workplace health and safety and human rights are also
considered. Such supplier selection criteria ensure that
the Group can secure continual supply of ingredients of
consistent quality, identify the source of supply promptly,
maintain flexibility in stock levels and establish a responsible
supply chain for the environment. Generally, the Group
would not procure from the suppliers unless they pass the
selection criteria.

ESG Report
RIE-HEAELGRS

% TR

AEEFRFAETRAASE TSEEER
R R B 4 1 PR B8 T o3 5125 T o A SR B A
BT E T RBH S THR I ERRE
o

FEBEAEQAF -2HAKEBRNERAERESR
T-2REEHNRERRBGA  LERFIFT
TR -NMHBRERAEIRAHSE L AEER
THEEFEREEEGGORAEEAES

B FIERZRERER
AEBTAMEBRBESHE > ZEBED L&
BETRRHFTIHEH EENREERER
wO - EBREERIREMBEREZRKERN
Batelbih MEABTHEEZRKEZRNIE
MERNREAEAERAEERITNIE -

HAERER

HEBNAEENIFEERRREERR
E-XEENHERIECERH AR RHEE
7o

FEERE—ERE (BREAARBEE
A BB RF - BEE - RXYRER -BEE
BRAXEENEFRS) EETSMHEMHH#
BENEREBERIEEE BEIFEMBREK
ZERANENBETETFTUETE -ZEHER
EERERRIEEALERBECSHEEERTE
BRE AEB A HER B EEFKT
RERHIRBEEENHERE  —RM = Kk
HEBBEBRMANEERE SREAEELS
RSS2SR

2024 ANNUAL REPORT R

67



ESG Report
RIE-HHERELSRS

The operating managers are primarily responsible for
monitoring the level of food and beverage and making
orders. Each of the outlets place purchase orders with the
procurement staff which then place orders with the relevant
suppliers. Upon delivery of the items to the outlets, the staff
checks the time of delivery, the brand and type, quantity and
quality of deliveries against the delivery notes or invoices
and the orders before acceptance. The Group also inspects
the best by date and condition of the food ingredients, and
if they fall below the Group’s quality control standards, the
Group would return them to the suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not experienced
any significant problems with the quality of beverage and
food products provided by the suppliers, any material
limitations in the supply nor any shortage of beverage and
food products. The Group believes that the supply chain
management and procedures can ensure the safety of the
supply chain.

During the Reporting Period, the number of suppliers by
geographical region is as follows:
Suppliers by geographical region

Hong Kong 58
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Product Responsibility

Considering the importance of continuous customers’
satisfaction and support, the Group is committed to
providing customers with high quality services and products.
The Group provides training and guidelines to its staff on
service-related areas such as beverage and food handling
and personal hygiene to enhance the quality of services
provided to the customers. All frontline service staff is
trained to be courteous, competent and responsive and to
provide cordial hospitality to customers. The outlets staff is
required to be professionally uniformed during all working
hours. The operating managers hold daily briefing sessions
with all front-line service staffs on the daily operations of
outlets. In these briefing sessions, the managers would
review staff performance and reflect the customers’
feedbacks. Such daily performance reviews assist the front-
line service staff in maintaining and improving service levels.
The Group strives to promote customer satisfaction through
responding to their comments and feedbacks. The front-
line service staff is required to treat customer requests,
enquiries or complaints promptly and seriously. In case of
any customer complaint in relation to beverage or food or
quality of services, the relevant operating managers would
take initiatives to investigate and resolve the matter and
attend to the customers promptly.

If any staff receives a complaint from a customer, he shall
report to his supervisor, usually the operating manager,
who would review and understand the matter with the
relevant customer and offer remedial proposals to the
customer. If the complaint cannot be resolved on site or if a
complaint has been received through emails, the operating
managers will investigate the incident and file a report to
the management with solutions to improve or avoid similar
incidents in the future. An explanation will be sent to the
relevant customer to ensure the matter would be resolved
and to maintain a good customer relationship. The Group’s
management will review the complaints and arrange
necessary training to the staff to consistently improve
the operation of outlets. During the Reporting Period, no
recalls of products due to safety and health reasons and no
complaints related to products and services were reported.
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Data Privacy Protection

The Group has implemented certain internal control
measures in ensuring the confidentiality of the operation
data so as to protect the suppliers, business partners,
customers and itself. The Group’s employment contract,
staff handbook and internal control manual clearly define the
requirements in relation to protecting the Group’s data. For
example, (i) staffs are only allowed to access, retrieve, store
and/or copy computer data that are necessary and directly
related to their work; (i) any unauthorised access, retrieval,
storage or copy of computer data, as well as unauthorised
transfer and disclosure of data to third parties, are strictly
prohibited and may lead to summary dismissal; and (iii)
administrative department is tasked with the implementation
of a practical and reliable mechanism to ensure security of
all data contained in computers and to protect data against
unauthorised access or retrieval.

Intellectual Property Rights Protection

The Group is committed to complying with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to intellectual property right. It
is the Group’s policy to respect intellectual property rights
during its daily operations and not to use any infringing
articles including computer software. The Group will not use
or copy except for necessary and lawful backup purposes,
any software of related documentation, unless having been
authorised by the owner of the copyright concerned.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Trade Descriptions Ordinance, Copyright Ordinance,
Prevention of Copyright Piracy Ordinance, Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance and other applicable laws and
regulations that have a significant impact relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress
on the Company during the Reporting Period. In addition,
no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
resulted in significant fine or sanction has been reported in
the Reporting Period.
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Anti-corruption

Corruption, deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, money
laundering and any other kinds of business fraud are strictly
prohibited and fully investigated by the Audit Committee. In
every business operation, employees and the management
must demonstrate integrity. No tolerance is given to fraud.
According to the staff handbook and internal control manual
established by the Group, policy is established to govern
investigation and follow-up procedures of reported fraud
incidents. To enhance the governance of the Group, periodic
and systematic fraud risk assessments are conducted. Any
abnormality should be reported to the Audit Committee for
investigation. Whistle blowing channel is also established for
the reporting of violations of professional conducts.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has provided
anti-corruption education and training materials such as
directors’ ethics and myths about corruption which are
published by Independent Commission Against Corruption,
Hong Kong, to its directors and senior management, in
order to raise their awareness towards ethical and corruption
issues.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other applicable
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering during the Reporting Period. In addition, there
was no legal case concerning corruption brought against the
Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.

Community Investment

The Group cares about its community and is willing to give
helping hands to the needy in order to promote harmony and
stability of the society. The management continues to focus
on the needs of the society and endeavour to enhance the
sustainability of the community.

ESG Report
RIE-HEAELGRS

RES
FEBBRRE S NE BB -RE -AFRL
BEREFMEMEANBERE THEZE
EERMAEERE - EEAREERBAMGHE
TEEEBKE - TEREFIEIHFEFE -
BEAEEMGENETIFMARAIESF
i AEEFEBRUAGEEHERRFEHN
HERRERF RNBEERNEXESG
FEBRTEMNRRZFCETIREFRERT G - #5R
EFRAEBEBERT BABZEEGRE  UIF
HBE - AEETESEIRRERE UHEME
REFERTETRER

RBREHME ZRABRHEERESREERER
HERESHBEREBIEN NMEBRBAZE
THEFTHERNKREFSRRE) ' URERSF
NWERERAMEESE -

B FIERZRREZR
AEBUAMERKSHE  EHB PR
BMEFRORET BB ERBREE R LLBRED
REMBRZEZRZRERNOER HAEEB N
ERFE I RREHE  AEBLHE
BNEY RABRETRIARSR

HEKRE

FEERBEEME YEEENARENA
DR EHENMEBERE BEEEBREREH
EHNTER UEEFERSHENIFKE M-

2024 ANNUAL REPORT 3§ /|



Report of the Directors

EFEHRS

The Board presents its annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

COMPANY INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability. The address of its registered office is
located at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman lIslands. The address
of its principal place of business is located at 25/F., China
Huarong Tower, 60 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in the operation of club and
entertainment as well as restaurant business in Hong Kong.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by the principal
activities and geographical locations of operations for the
Reporting Period is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages
86 to 87 of the annual report.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Details of the business review are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9
to 20.

RESULTS AND RESERVES

As at 31 May 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium
account plus accumulated losses. No distributable reserves
was available for distribution as at 31 May 2024 (2023: nil).
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DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Reporting Period (2023: nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group made no charitable donations during the
Reporting Period (2023: HK$50,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, the majority
of customers consist of retail customers from the general
public. As such, the Directors consider that it is not
practicable to identify the five largest customers of the
Group for the Reporting Period.

Our Group purchased approximately 72.0% of its total
purchases from the largest supplier during the Reporting
Period. Detail of the trade and other payables of the Group
as at 31 May 2024 are set out in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements. Up to the date of this report, the
trade and other payables to the largest supplier has been
fully settled. For the procurement of bulk commodities or
services, the Group has set bidding programme with strict
implementation.

The information in respect of the Group’s purchases
attributable to the major suppliers during Reporting Period
are as follows:

The largest supplier B A ERS
Five largest suppliers in aggregate I ARHIEmRE 48T

Except for Amante Group Limited, which holds 7.04% of the
Shares and being one of the five largest suppliers, none of
the Directors, their associates or any shareholders, which to
the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued Shares, had a beneficial interest in any of
the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 May 2024
was HK$5,652,000 (2023: approximately HK$9,425,000).
Particulars of loans and borrowings are set out in notes
23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of share capital of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 26 to the
financial statements.

Details of the Company’s activities involving Shares or
share capital during the Reporting Period are set out in
sub-section “CAPITAL STRUCTURE” under Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 14 to 16.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Chairman and CEQO)
Ms. Liu Huijing (Vice-Chairman)

Ms. Lui Lok Yan

INEDs:

Mr. Hui Wai Hung
Mr. Jiang Qiaowei
Mr. Pong Chun Yu
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Pursuant to article 108 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that each Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) will be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at
the annual general meeting. The retiring Directors shall be
eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of Association, the
Board shall have power from time to time and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a
casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company (in the case of an addition to the
Board), and shall then be eligible for re-election. Any Director
appointed under this article shall not be taken into account
in determining the Directors or the number of Directors who
are to retire by rotation at an AGM.

Accordingly, Mr. Wong Chi Yung and Ms. Lui Lok Yan shall
retire from office and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 21
to 22 in this annual report.

Pursuant to rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules,
except for Ms. Liu Huijing resigned from her full time
senior positions in New Sparkle, there is no change to the
directorship and no updated information since the date of
publication of the 2023 interim report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Mr. Wong Chi Yung, being the Executive Director, has
renewed his service contract with the Company for a term
of three years on 30 August 2024 and shall be renewable
thereafter, unless terminated by either party by giving not
less than one month’s written notice to the other party.
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EFEHRS

Ms. Liu Huijing, being the Executive Director, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 3 April 2023 and shall be renewable
thereafter, unless terminated by either party by giving not
less than one months’ written notice to the other party.

Ms. Lui Lok Yan, being the Executive Director, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 3 May 2022 and shall be renewable
thereafter, unless terminated by either party by giving not
less than one month’s written notice to the other party.

Each of Mr. Pong Chun Yu, Mr. Hui Wai Hung and Mr.
Jiang Qiaowei, being the INEDs, has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 22 January 2021 (Mr. Pong Chun Yu)
and 16 February 2021 (Mr. Hui Wai Hung and Mr. Jiang
Qiaowei) and shall automatically be renewed thereafter,
unless terminated by either party by giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

None of our Directors, including those proposed for
re-election at the AGM, has entered or has proposed to
enter into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with us or any other members of the Group, which is not
expired or not determinable by us or any member of the
Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

All the INEDs were appointed for a specific terms subject to
the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any
other applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or
retire from their office.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, the directors are indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices. The Company has taken out and maintained
directors’ liability insurance which provides appropriate
cover for the directors and directors of the subsidiaries of
the Group.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to rule
5.09(c) of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, the Directors, including the INEDs, are not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the
management of the Company and their respective close
associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group
and any other conflict of interest which any such person had
or might have with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
CONTRACTS ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section head “RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTION” below and note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report, there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which the Directors had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end
of the year or at any time during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 May 2024, the Company did not enter into or have
any management and/or administration contracts in respect
of the whole or any principal business of the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS, CONTRACTS ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE” above and note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report,
no other connected transaction nor related party transaction
of the Company has been carried out during the Reporting
Period. In relation to the transactions disclosed under note 33
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report,
the loans and transactions are fully exempted connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules as they are
conducted on normal commercial terms and are unsecured
by the assets of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a
resolutions passed by the Shareholders on 14 March 2017
for the primary purpose of granting options to eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include any employees, any executives, non-executive
Directors (including INEDs), suppliers, customers, advisers
and consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

On 8 March 2021, a total of 68,800,000 Options (prior to
the effect of the Share Consolidation and Rights Issue) were
granted to directors, employees and consultants of the
Company at an exercise price of HK$0.385 per share (prior
to the effect of the Share Consolidation and Rights Issue)
exercisable within 5 years from the date of grant, of which
each of the INEDs, namely Mr. Hui Wai Hung, Mr. Jiang
Qiaowei and Mr. Pong Chun Yu, have been granted 400,000
Options (for details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 8 March 2021). As at 1 June 2022, there
were 11,200,000 Options (prior to the effect of the Share
Consolidation and Rights Issue) available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme. As at 31 May 2024, up to 549,514
Options of HK$0.01 each granted but yet exercised; and
there are up to 1,510,486 outstanding Options available for
grant for the equivalent shares of HK$0.01 each. During
the 12 months ended 31 May 2024, saved as disclosed in
the below table, no Option has been granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed. No service provider sublimit was set
under the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company (excluding options lapsed pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme of the Company)
is 2,060,000 shares (after taking into the effect of the
Share Consolidation and the Rights Issue), representing
approximately 2.02% of the issued shares of the Company
as at the date of this annual report.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued to
each eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme
in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the issued
shares of the Company unless approved in advance by the
Shareholders in general meeting.

Any option to be granted under the Share Option Scheme to
a Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder or to
any of their respective associates must be approved by all
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent
non-executive Director who is the grantee). In addition,
any option to be granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive Director or to any of their
respective associates which will result in the shares issued
and to be issued in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares or
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000
within any 12-month period is subject to approval by the
Shareholders in general meeting.

The offer of a grant of Options under the Share Option
Scheme may be accepted within 21 days from the date
of the offer and by payment of HK$1.00 as consideration
for the grant of an Option. An Option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time during a period as to be determined and notified
by the Directors to each grantee, but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of the grant of Option.
There is no vesting period requirement for the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the listing date of the
Company. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
four years.

The exercise price is determined by the Directors and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant of
an option, which must be a trading day; (i) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant of an
option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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Share Option Movements BiREEs

Particulars and movement of the Options granted under the FRIREHIE  BIEBREA R B ERES

Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period are set

out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and @ F °

summarised as below.

Movement of Options during the Reporting Period:

RESHBENEREZS !

Number of share options'

BREFDHNGEMBRRMEF27 LT

Exercise mRE"HE

price Exercisable As at As at

Grant date (HK$) period 1/6/2023 Granted Exercised® Lapsed Cancelled 31/5/2024

1@ N 1

BHAH (&) 7168 1/6/2023 B BT BRHM B 31/5/2024

Mr. Hui Wai Hung (INED) 8/3/2021 7,567 08/03/2021 - 20,352 - - - - 20,352
SFEREL (BUFNTES) 07/03/2026

Mr. Pong Chun Yu (INED) 8/3/2021 7,567 08/03/2021 - 20,352 - - - - 20,352
BRFEE (BLENTES) 07/03/2026

Continuous contract employee 8/3/2021 7,567 08/03/2021 - 20,352 - - - - 20,352
RESNER 07/03/2026

Consultants? 8/3/2021 7,567 08/03/2021 - 488,458 - - - - 488,458
EBme 07/03/2026
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Notes:

(1) All Options are vested immediately on the date of grant.

2) Options were granted to 6 consultants (namely, Ms. Hung Wai Ching,
Mr. Liu Shaobai, Mr. Chow Yuk Lam, Mr. Liu Xiaoyi, Mr. Dong Bo
Frederic and Mr. Togo Takashi) equally in recognition of their past
and/or for motivation of future contributions and services provided to
and/or to be provided to the Group.

(3) As of 31 May 2024, there remained 1 of the mentioned consultants,
namely Mr. Dong Bo Frederic, yet to have any of his Options
exercised.

(4) No Option was exercised during the Reporting Period, therefore, the

weighted average closing price of the relevant Shares immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised was zero.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Brief summary of the remuneration policy of the Group is
set out in pages 30 to 31 of this annual report. Details of
the Directors’ fee and remuneration of the Directors and the
emoluments of the five highest paid individuals during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

PENSIONS SCHEME

The Group’s principal retirement benefits schemes available
to its Hong Kong employees are defined contribution
schemes (including the Mandatory Provident Fund) which are
administered by independent trustees. Both the Group and
the employees contribute respectively to the schemes sums
which represent a certain percentage of the employees’
salaries. The contributions by the Group are expensed as
incurred and may be reduced by contribution forfeited for
those employees who have left the schemes prior to full
vesting of the relevant employer’s contribution. During the
year, the Group had no forfeited contribution available to
reduce its existing level of contributions to the retirement
benefit schemes in future years.

The contributions to pension scheme of Directors for the
year are disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Report of the Directors
EFGHRS

(1 FREMERESNEE HRRSRE -

@) BRESSHEET LERE Bt 208
RE-BEREE RHRAE EREERRLE
THE)  URBREBEGARARKHREE
B F B R R IR AR > K SUBEN R F R R
RAEBFHERMRIR MR

(©) R2024F 58310 LR PERT —% (BIER S
&) HARITEEEAERE-

(4) REMBARBITEERE It BRARNEZER
BITEERZANNEFHRHERSS

EFRABEEFHMALBFHMN

AEBMFMWHEENBMEZH N A ERFI0OES
B -RREHB EENEERERFHUR
hEeHFMATHHFEMEBEENAERES
R FE100

BARESE
AEENEBERERAEANFITZEREM
METE (BERED) HABURSEAEE 2
MEFsEEKEERFKZEEHRENETES
ROEEHRR - AEENHMRL N EEFH K
ERIIFRA> ZSHRTETREETAE
ER28ETHMANREHERFTERNSARHE
MBORW M A FTR LD o FEA > RERE W E S W
7R U BY £ TR DU 3R 55 B oK 2R 2 R R AR A Bt
BIFF R R Z K F o

FANEFEBREAEIURD N EERESH
FEIR A M SEBOIREE o

2024 ANNUAL REPORT 3§ 31



Report of the Directors

EFEHRS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 May 2024, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which are required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name of Directors

Exs By tHEmEE
Ms. Liu Huijing Beneficial owner
BBHELL BEm#EA A

Mr. Pong Chun Yu
BEIRF L

Beneficial owner

BEm#EBEA

Mr. Hui Wai Hung
SFAHETE ST

Beneficial owner

BEm#EBEA

Beneficial owner

BEm#EBEA

Mr. Jiang Qiaowei
BBREE

Note:  Options granted to the Directors

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no
time during the Reporting Period was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements which
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate, and neither the Directors nor the
chief executive (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) had an interest in, or been granted any
rights to subscribe for the securities of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO), or
had exercised any such right.
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Capacity/Nature of Interest
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REABRMBPNETE

Number of shares

and underlying Percentage of

shares shareholding
17 AR & B RHEE DL
4,265,250 4.19%
20,352 0.02%

(note)

(H13t)
20,352 0.02%

(note)

(H13t)
20,000 0.02%

Mt RTIEBNERE

EFREERMIEETET

BARFBRFARBEEIN XA HEERMNE
AT IR S B AE A B B A ST AL Z BE
HNEERNEBWBRRT N EFAEMEZREA
KON EEEMERD BEEREHTTHRAER
(BHERFZERBRAMISENF L) BT
AT REBBER (E& R B HFMPERE)
E’JDH%EF'%EEF“’Nﬁtﬁé?ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬂ
SO EE ST RURER o



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 May 2024, to the
best knowledge of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, no person (other than a Director or chief executive
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section

336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name

LeE2Pge Y

Mr. Wang Ning
TRAELE

Mr. Yuan Lin®

Mg ED

Zhongcai Herui Industry
Development Co Limited™®

MR EXERARAFO

Zhongcai Herui Investment
Group Co Limited
PHMANRKEEEERAF

Cheung Ka Kwan
SRR BB E

Ho Chin Nang @
AR AESRED

Amante Group Limited @
BEERARATQ

Capacity/Nature of Interest

g5 HEME

Beneficial owner

BEmBEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmBEAA

Interest of spouse

B m

Interest of controlled corporation

ZEEEED
Interest of controlled
corporation
FEEE RS
Beneficial owner

BEmBEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmBEAA

Interest of controlled corporation

ZEAEED

Beneficial owner

BEmBEAA

(FREFHAERT

Report of the Directors

REABRMBFNEE

Number of shares

R 8B

17,401,761

11,643,250

200,000

12,075,000

12,075,000

12,075,000

12,075,000

9,970,000

7,170,000

7,170,000

= 24

=

EFEHRS

FERRREATRMIEDS

TR IR EE SN R2024FE5831H M E
ERARDIRSTERAEMEAN  BIE AL
TEHABN) RARE
RPN RMD P ERA LN A AT RIRES
KR E R B E336 R EEMN B MR

NP
KA

Approximately
Percentage of
shareholding

IRESNOT DL

17.08%

11.43%

0.20%

11.85%

11.85%

13.43%

11.85%

9.79%

7.04%

7.04%
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Note:

(1) Mr. Yuan Lin (i) personally holds 8,313,000 Shares; (i) is deemed
to have interest in 200,000 Shares held by his spouse; and (iii) is
deemed to have interest in 12,075,000 Shares held by his indirectly
controlled company, Zhongcai Herui Investment Group Co Limited
(@ company directly and wholly owned by Zhongcai Herui Industry
Development Co Limited, which is directly held as to 90% by Mr.
Yuan Lin).

(2) Mr. Ho Chin Nang is deemed to have interest in 7,170,000 Shares
held by his direct wholly owned company, Amante Group Limited.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the Company
during the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a prorate
basis to existing shareholders.

REVIEW OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and the Auditor, the accounting principles and
policies as adopted by the Company, the practices of the
Group and the audited consolidated financial statements for
the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standard of corporate governance practices. Information
on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 23 to 44 of this annual report.

ESG REPORT

The ESG Report is set out on pages 45 to 71 of this annual
report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in the section headed “EVENTS AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD” on page 17 in this annual report,
the Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring
disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 May 2024
and up to the date of approval of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

BDO Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Group
in 2017 for conducting the audit works of the Group since
then.

BDO Limited shall retire in the forthcoming AGM and, being
eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of BDO Limited as the auditor of the
Group will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained
the sufficient public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

PUBLICATION OF INFORMATION ON WEBSITES

This annual report is available for viewing on the website
of Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.com.hk and on the
website of the Company at www.new-amante.com.

By order of the Board

Wong Chi Yung
Chairman and CEO

30 August 2024
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFEMBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of MU TFTAXEBNERLAEGTBEERNESEUR
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from ZBEKEBGBEHE > LHEEERAFERANNLEEZ
the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual # &M BHRELIBRSZ !

report and the prospectus, is set out below:

RESULT e
Year ended 31 May
HESH31HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

2024%F  2023F 2022 2021%F  2020F
HK$’ 000 HKS$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
FET TFAET  TFET  FET  TFET

Revenue W 89,245 77,981 50,257 24,427 50,397
Finance income BEUWA - = = - 249
Changes in inventories 78 7 88 (27,714  (20,340) (12,641)  (5,127) (10,206)
Other income and gains HAKRA K 28 4,283 5,438 3,304 19,066 1,861
Expense related to short term lease BN - = = = (777)
Advertising and marketing expenses BEREHAY (14,650) (10,104)  (8,594)  (3,591)  (7,310)
Employee benefits expenses BERAFES (20,809) (16,569) (13,163) (11,367) (16,939)
Fair value change on financial assets at AT EF ABRNEE

fair value through profit or loss BENTEEE - - - - (15)
Equity-settled share-based payments MREEEURGAERZ

N - - - (15,676) =

Depreciation of property, plant and M BB MR ETE

equipment (5,589)  (4,049)  (3,480)  (4,131)  (3,916)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (14,185)  (8,301)  (7,089) (12,790) (17,537)
Other expenses Hithfsz (20,323) (15,771)  (16,057) (14,212)  (15,665)
Impairment loss on property, plant and ~ #1% WE KR & &R ERKE

equipment - = = (3,988) (2,090)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets AR E ERERE - - - (8,369)  (8,555)
Write-off of trade and other receivables  #i8 & 5 K & Ux =018 (5,571) 914) (593)  (1,951) (2,988
Write-off of amount due from a related  #ii$5 FE Uz BE Bt A S 7018

company - = = = (172)
Reversal of/(provision for) expected credit &5 Rk EfMEW B

loss on trade and other receivables FHEERRER (BE) 361 (579) (367) (226) (476)
Finance costs RhE A (1,166) (553)  (1,311)  (1,541)  (2,485)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETSMAT (B8 /&A (16,118) 6,239 (9,734)  (39,476)  (36,624)
Income tax (expense)/credit sk () /HER (1,203) (359) 1,792 (10) 130

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive R (B18) /w5 &
income for the year 2 E I 4R (17,321) 5880  (7,942) (39,486) (36,494)
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(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive
income for the year attributable to:
- Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEMBEHRE

Year ended 31 May
HESASIHLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024F  2023%F 20224  2021%F  2020%F
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FExr FErT  THT THrn  TFExn

UPALREER (BB /
A R 2 E W
—XRAEBA

ke

(17,140) 3,649 (8,871)  (36,873)  (35,704)
(181) 2,231 929 (2,613) (790)

(17,321) 5880  (7,942) (39,486) (36,494

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total liabilities

B
o m
ST

€l
v
A

BEHAHE
Year ended 31 May
HBESHBHLLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

2024%F  2023F  2022fF  2021F  2020%F
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
FET TET  TFET  TFET  TFERT

50,473 55,363 31,548 64,679 47,126
51,445 (44,803) (44,885) (75,674) (69,589)

Total (deficiency in assets)/equity

)

ERA) /tEn

(972) 10,470  (13,337) (10,995) (22,457)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BALIZBET RS

IBDO

www.bdo.com.hk

FEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NEW AMANTE GROUP LIMITED
(HFEEEBRFRAR)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of New Amante Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
92 to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 May 2024, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion”
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the
going concern assumption

As disclosed in note 3(c) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$17,321,000 for the year ended 31 May 2024. As of
that date, the Group’s net liabilities was approximately
HK$972,000 and net current liabilities was approximately
HK$15,248,000 and included other borrowings and loan
from an ex-shareholder amounting to approximately
HK$3,089,000 and HK$2,563,000 respectively, while the
Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$1,816,000 only. As disclosed in note 40, subsequent
to the year end, the night club operated by the Group
has ceased its business since 4 August 2024 due to the
expiration of the lease. For the year ended 31 May 2024,
the revenue of the night club accounted for approximately
69.16% of the Group’s revenue from the “Operation of club
and entertainment business” segment.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that the
Group may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration of the liquidity and future
cash flows of the Group in assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. For this purpose, the directors
of the Company have prepared a cash flow forecast of the
Group covering the next eighteen months from the end of
the reporting period (the “Cash Flow Forecast”) which takes
into account the plans and measures as set out in note
3(c). Based on the assessment made by the directors of
the Company, assuming the plans and measures can be
successfully implemented as scheduled notwithstanding the
inherent uncertainties associated with the future outcome
of the above plans and measures, the Group is able to
continue as a going concern and it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The appropriateness of the consolidated financial statements
prepared on a going concern basis largely depends on
whether those plans and measures as detailed in note 3(c)
can be successfully implemented as scheduled.

However, in respect of the plans and measures that the
Group would successfully make drawdown of the loan
facility from a shareholder, as and when necessary, we
were unable to obtain the information that we considered
necessary for our evaluation of the financial viability of the
shareholder to provide sufficient funds to the extent that
is necessary based on the Cash Flow Forecast due to the
unavailability of the information of the shareholder.

Due to the limitations on our scope of work as stated above
and there are no alternative audit procedures that we can
perform to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
support the above plans and measures can be successfully
implemented, as a result, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence to conclude whether the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting to prepare the
consolidated financial statements is appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B R BENR S

Should the Group fail to achieve the above plans and
measures as abovementioned, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the
HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms
of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

90

New Amante Group Limited ¥EEEEARAE

ff BEBREBERLMSEIRER Hol8k
BEARELKE BAFHBREBUS EHEESA
ENREEMAERTERFE MAELEEE
WERE—P ERHREE R > LD RRIFRS
EERFRBERENDERSRNBEERMD
BR-ZTHBNFEIENLESIEEMHR

KPR

EFHGRAMBHRRNEE

EXREERBEBGSMAT ((EEB G
AE)BEHNEBMBRESEL ((EBMBER
SEA) REBREFROINKERERREL
EEAARBMNGEMHEREL TEEFETE
EER/LENAES BRESHMBRERZ
AR AAFF SR E BRI R MR -

mMAGSUBRERF EFE5TE E55E
REQSENED TEBRB R TRERRE
KERFRANSEE URERAFBELE RS G
B BFRFEFEER EERBBENFLE
oA EEMBRNBERD R

EEE EEEMBEBREBE -BZX
ZEEMhEFETEER BRI

BRHEME REMBRRNOEE

ESNEEARETEGSHAAEBEANELE
B ER ((EBBEAEN DY SEERSY
BHRRETHES LHELZBEMRSE - EFE
m BT (FRER RBREEHRRRE KRIE
ZHEHEREAMEN - BEETERERS
REREAEMALE EHABEEFREE-



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

However, because of the matter described in the “Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants”
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kin Tat, Terry
Practising Certificate Number PO7676

Hong Kong, 30 August 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEENmR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ok FET FAET
Revenue W &R 7 89,245 77,981
Changes in inventories Fae2E8) 9 (27,714) (20,340)
Other income and gains H A A R W = 8 4,283 5,438
Advertising and marketing expenses EBEkEiHEES (14,650) (10,104)
Employee benefits expense EERFIFHE 9 (20,809) (16,569)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME -BERREITE
equipment 15 (5,589) (4,049)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEERE 16(a) (14,185) (8,301)
Other expenses Hiihpsz (20,323) (15,771)
Write-off of trade and other receivables &8 B 5 K H 1th F& Ut =t 18 (5,571) (914)
Reversal of/(provision for) expected credit & 5 F E fth F& U =k 18 75 HA
losses on trade and other receivables, {5 E&518#[E, (B H)
net X 361 (579)
Finance costs =N 11 (1,166) (553)
(Loss)/profit before income tax FRPTISIR A (B518) & A 9 (16,118) 6,239
Income tax expense FTiEME 12 (1,203) (359)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive TR (BEER) afl &
income for the year SHEW @A (17,321) 5,880
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive UTATELER (B58)
income for the year attributable to: Ve v ESE
HaEE .
- Owners of the Company R N/NEIEZ Y =N (17,140) 3,649
- Non-controlling interests —JEER (181) 2,231
(17,321) 5,880
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to Z<AF A A FE(S
owners of the Company S (B8 &BF
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) —BEARRKEE (GBL) 14 (16.94) 5.20
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBIRRR

AS AT 31 MAY 2024 /$202455H831H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
V= FET FAET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment YN BB KR 15 6,067 9,603
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 9,667 12,503
Deferred tax assets RIERTEE B 19 1,079 1,784
Deposits b 18 1,356 1,720
18,169 25,610
Current assets REEE
Inventories 78 17 19,173 8,287
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E WIS 18 11,315 10,877
Cash and cash equivalents BEKMBEEEY 20 1,816 10,589
32,304 29,753
Current liabilities mMENEME
Trade and other payables B o M EMENIE 21 18,725 16,659
Contract liabilities == 22 11,815 -
Amounts due to directors FETEE A 25 188 203
Amounts due to non-controlling FET IEFZE RS #E 2 R 18 25
interests 2,660 2,700
Other borrowings H A& 23 3,089 2,948
Loan from an ex-shareholder KE—ZBIRKREZER 24 2,563 6,477
Lease liabilities HEaR 16(b) 7,063 6,964
Current tax liabilities mMENRIEEE 849 351
Provision EEg o] 21 600 850
47,552 37,152
Net current liabilities BB AR (15,248) (7,399)
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHERRBHEE 2,921 18,211
Non-current liabilities ERENER
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 3,893 7,741
3,893 7,741
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfR) EE3HE (972) 10,470
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMFBIRRR

AS AT 31 MAY 2024 /$202455H831H

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
Equity i

Share capital fi& 7 26 1,019 17,978
Reserves (EaRiE] 28 3,294 (2,404)

Equity attributable to owners of KABIHEB AEEER
the Company 4,313 15,574
Non-controlling interests JEZERE = 29 (5,285) (5,104)
Total (deficiency in assets)/equity w(EERBM) R (972) 10,470

On behalf of the board of directors

KEREZT

Mr. Wong Chi Yung
FEBEKRE
Director

EF
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Ms. Liu Huijing
FEBELL
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MEEmEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAFREAES
Total
Non- (deficiency
Share Share  Accumulated  Share option Other controlling ~in assets)/
capital premium’ losses’ reserve’ reserve’ Total interests equity
(S
Rk ke RtEE  BRERE A Bt FokER W i
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
77 77 FET 77 77 FET 77 77
ot 28— Mofe28)  Mote28c)  Moie28(d)  (Note 28e) Note 29
(i) (azey)  Wazae)  (WEAw)  (sse) hizt29)
Balance as at 1 Jung 2022 R00E6R 1R MR 9,988 98,650 (130,157) 6,33 8,662 (6,002 (7,339) (13,337)
Proft and total comprehensive income. - EREHIR2 ANGAE
for the year - - 3,649 - - 3,649 2,281 5,880
Transaction costs attibutable to placing EEHERRELLRHNA
of new ordinary shares - (120) - - - (120) - (120)
Issue of orcinary shares by way of placing EREE AR &{TEER 1,998 3,995 - - - 5993 - 5,993
Transaction costs attibutable to EREERENE
rights issue - (531) - - - (531) - (631)
Issue of ordinary shares by rights issue  EBHBETEER 599 6,593 - - - 12,585 - 12,585
Balnceas at 31 May 03 and  10023E5R31 B R2023E
1 Jne 2023 bR 1RHIER M98 10857 (126508) 688 B8 15T 69 10410
Logs and total comprehengive loss ~ ERBRR2EAHELE
for the year - - (17,140) - - (17,140) (181) (17,321)
Transaction costs attibutable to placing EEH & BREELRRE
of new ordinary shares - (114) - - - (114) - (114)
Issue of orcinary shares by way of placig BAEE & TEER 2,398 3,595 - - - 5,993 - 5,993
Captalreduction sl (19,357) - 19,357 - - - - -
Balance as at 31 May 2024 R04ESR3I AN 1,019 112,068 (124,291) 6,835 8,662 4313 (5,285) (972)

#

The total of these balances represents “reserves” in the consolidated

statement of financial position

ZEEHNBRIEG M BRRRPHGERE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Cash flows from operating activities REEHFAFRER=E
(Loss)/profit before income tax FRETIEIRAT (B548) & F) (16,118) 6,239
Adjustments for: KEEE
Bank interest income IRITH B U A (16) (10)
Imputed interest income on financial assets REBEMR AT ENER
measured at amortised cost BEEESEHNEWA (238) (146)
Finance costs B A 1,166 553
Depreciation of property, plant and ME -BERREITE
equipment 5,589 4,049
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 14,185 8,301
Gain on early termination of leases RERIEAEN KSR (150) (3,069)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AT KGR (127) =
Reversal of provision of reinstatement & 18 BY 2~ 338 & #2 [0
costs (250) (380)
Reversal of write-off of trade receivables B 5 & W Rk TE i 8 5 o] (7) )
Write-off of property, plant and equipment WEE Y2 ~ B Bk 34 28
Write-off of trade and other receivables i 85 & 5 K E Ath FE Uz 18 5,571 914
(Reversal of)/provision for expected credit B 5 K AMmEWRIETERR
losses on trade and other receivables, EEEE (B #E
net kI (361) 579
Covid-19-related rent concession 201973 4k 7% 35 w48
HEEE - (137)
Operating profit before working capital CSEBTEHAREET
changes 9,278 16,914
Increase in inventories FEEm (10,886) (4,561)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & E g R IE
10 (5,316) (7,388)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 MEMEN A
0 994 2,894
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities aH8EEM L) 11,815 (794)
Cash generated from operations REFRISIRE 5,885 7,065
Income tax paid BT ER - =
Net cash generated from operating RETHFRSIREFHE
activities 5,885 7,065
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘7|- Eiﬁﬁlllli‘l%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Cash flows from investing activities BRETHFBRER=E
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEEY % K=Kk ZE (2,087) (4,222)
Interest received B H B 16 10
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of HEKM B AT FAERIE HIKE
cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEZRENIEEEEBY) 96 =
Net cash used in investing activities KREEHFAREFEE (1,975) (4,212)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHFFSRER=E
Proceeds from other borrowings H & ® P18 ;I8 - 3,624
Repayments of other borrowings BEHEMER - (676)
Proceeds from an ex-shareholder BIRR R PTEFRIE 700 220
Repayments to an ex-shareholder EEIEE = (4,614) (2,197)
Repayments of principal portion of EEHEaELAEIHD
lease liabilities (13,568) (10,299)
Interest paid B FE (1,025) (553)
Repayments to directors MEFENR (15) (1,888)
Repayments to non-controlling interests MEIEERERER (40) -
Transaction costs attributable to placing of BEENMSBEREMR S MA
new ordinary shares (114) (120)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares by BERE RN ETZEIRFAE
way of placing I8 5,993 5,993
Transaction costs attributable to rights issue R FE(L 3 5 B 24 - (531)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares by WA R BT L BRTEIE
rights issue - 12,585
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEES (FRA) FrI8RE
financing activities FEE (12,683) 6,158
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HERREEEY CRL)
cash equivalents 1IN % 28 (8,773) 9,011
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERREEEY
beginning of the year 10,589 1,578
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRAERREEEY
the year 1,816 10,589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

GENERAL

New Amante Group Limited (formerly known as
“BCl Group Holdings Limited) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands, as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (as revised)
of the Cayman lIslands. Its shares are listed on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The address of its registered office is Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KT1-1108, Cayman lIslands and its principal place
of business in Hong Kong is located at 25th Floor,
China Huarong Tower, 60 Gloucester Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong. The Company is an investment
holding company and the Group is principally
engaged in the operation of club, entertainment and
securities investment in Hong Kong. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the
“Group”.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Adoption of new standards, interpretations
and amendments - effective 1 June 2023

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants has issued a number of new or
amended HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group:

—RRE N

MEEEEBARAR (FIBEMEER
BERAR) REBEHERAE (KE
S EHEREFMMILIAERLER
NBEI-HEHRMDREEABRERZMEBR
ABIGEM k1 o H & it ¥ 5 5= #th ik 2
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O.
Box 1350, Grand Cayman KT1-1108,
Cayman Islands’> MESFB T Z = =i
BRANMI N BB EF S LT E6OSE PR %
FIRKE251E - A ANBl A—HEEERA
BIRAERFTENETBLCE TR 1R 4%
RBSREEE - ARNBRENEBERA
MBI AEE] o

LIS
(a) IRHIRER REBRESTS -1
2023F6A1HE X

BEBEHMAEGERMETRA
SEERSHHIBE RERH
SIREES] BB HHREER !

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
SRV BHRSENFE17E R &4

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

ARG ENFIFREEUBRS BET BRI E
ZRIEBIRE FHo%w (BT E)

Amendments to HKAS 8

SR G ERFHEST (BT AE)

Amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

BEEFTNESR

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

B—XRGEXNEERSBEHEBIELERE

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

BIFRIRF5 o0F — 2 i Z 1A R

EBZETERFE125% (BF]K)
Amendments to HKAS 12
EBZETERFE125% (BF]K)

Except as described below, none of the new
and these amended HKFRS has a material
impact on the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or previous years.

BR TPt & oh - ME] R ZF &
B EEMBREENHEHAX
EEAFENBEFEXERY
BRRELEEATE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Adoption of new standards, interpretations
and amendments - effective 1 June 2023
(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments
for the first time in the current year. HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term
“Significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting
policy information may be material because of
the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how
an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures
and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added
to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies
set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2. EHHREF (@

(a)

RANFHER 2B RIE5T A — 12
2023FE6H1HE M (&)

BEEEGERF1RREEY
BIREEREFIHRE F25 (1657
%) Bt R KB &
FAEBEERATFEERERZRSF
B - BEEBS ERBIRYHR
"IN EFER] > UTEXRE S
HRER I A TERE 5 HER
—m e HERE R BHRERFH
HtEH —HEEK I 5ER
HESBRENBSEEERYS
BENTEEREREZXSYH
WRFHBRE > ARG 5t EER
BRBEKN-

ZEEBIITEBE MEERIL A
EXCHARERXSHMEEH
fthEFHBER GtEHRER A
FEBEAR-AM LIFMBEHE
ARG -HtMWEHRBERER
S HRREMEFHBEEK -
EREERBEFERGSHRE
o ARENASEEERE
BURE K o

EEVBRESENEFTRSH2
RIERESMHE (TEHES)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

(b)

New standards, interpretations and
amendments that have been issued but are

not yet effective

The following new and amendments to
standards and interpretations have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s

BEBERES (B)
(b)  EIEFEE R ERHER R
RAEST

THUR AT RSB ST 2R U e 52 1%
BEAEHEREN BRERE
EREXM - AEBEBAMBENE
EREERERES-

current intention is to apply these changes on

the date they become effective.
Amendments to HKAS 1

SR EFE1] (BT )
Amendments to HKFRS 16

SRV BERSELFE165F (BET4)
HK Int 5 (Revised)

BAREEME (RES])

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7
ERGHENFTREEBVHERS
Z R 7R (BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 21
ARG ERFE215E (BFT4)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
ERVMBREENFEI0EREE G
B 55285% (57 4%)
Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7
EBMBREENEORRE BT
HREZERFET7IR (BT

HKFRS 18
BAEMBREERFE 1858
HKFRS 19

BRMBHREERIF195%

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1

January 2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2

January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a 3

date to be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 4

January 2026.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 5

January 2027.
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Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- current,
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'’

BEESEANNIERE WHEZENIERBEE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'’

ERODENHEESR

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause’

MBERERNEIN —ERABHBERERERERZ EH
BN E

Supplier Finance Arrangements!

HIERERE 2B

Lack of Exchangeability?

TR = 7] a2

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

KREEHHBEA AT N SELE BHESEAEES

Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments*
ST EMNDE K2

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements®
B SRR 2RV 2 5 R 37 585

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosure®
FAEZFAEERB AR - BB

202411 ARz BBEBHNE
EHAR A o

R2025%F 181X 2 BB E
EHRBEE
REEHHEIZBRENEER
A o

R2026F1B1HS 2 BRABHE
EHAEES -

20274181 B2 BB E
EHAB A -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

New standards, interpretations and
amendments that have been issued but are
not yet effective (continued)

The directors of the Company is in the process
of assessing the potential impact of the above,
other than HKFRS 18 and amendments to
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, the directors do
not anticipate that the application of all new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

New guidance on accounting for the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong
issued by HKICPA

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (“the
Amendment Ordinance”) was enacted.
The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the
use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory contributions under the
mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme
to offset severance payment (“SP”) and long
service payments (“‘LSP”) (“the Abolition”).
Subsequently, the Government of HKSAR
announced that the Abolition will take effect on
1 May 2025 (“the Transition Date”).

The following key changes will take effect since
the Transition Date:

- Accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
cannot be used to offset the LSP/SP in
respect of the employment period after
the Transition Date.

- The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated
using the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition
Date, instead of using the last month’s
salary of employment termination date.

2. EHHREF (@

(b)

(c)

EEMERRERNOMERN 2R
RAEET & (8)

ARABEFETG LM ERRYE
ERE (BAMBHREERE18
5 UREBMBRE ERI BN
REBMBREERBTR (BT
x) BN c EETRHAEA RN
SIRIEES]EBMBREG ERR
BRRRENGEMHRRESE
EAFE-

EARAGHIMASMEABRESH
REARFE SIRHEH 2 S5t EE
LR ]

R2022F68 > (2022F BB KR
RETEAR GRS ZH) (BFT)
BB (MESTIEF) BB o 185]
BHECH S AR (T8
&)t ETRERFIMEERRZ
RetEREHEENRE (ERE))
EREHERH: ((REREE)) =2
2 (TBGHZHE) cHEZB - FE
BATHEBREER  BUHE
B t2025%581H (T@EHR
HA)) AR o

NTEBREEBEEBRE
 :

—  EEasMaEEHmMAA
EENREZ A AF
BERBEAHNERRE
HEZRERT S ER
o

- BERZERERTEE
BB R EIBE B A&
B—REANFHESAE M
WIFNRIERBERAZ &
B—EENHZ=HE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

New guidance on accounting for the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong
issued by HKICPA (continued)

Due to the complexities of the accounting for
the offsetting of accrued benefits derived from
an employer’'s mandatory MPF contributions
and its LSP obligation and the accounting
for the offsetting mechanism could become
material in light of the Abolition, the HKICPA
published ‘Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong’ (“the Guidance”) in July
2023 to provide guidance to account for
the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.
The HKICPA concluded that there are two
acceptable accounting approaches for the
offsetting mechanism, being:

- Approach 1: Account for the amount
expected to be offset as a deemed
employee contribution towards that
employee’s LSP benefits in terms of
HKAS 19.93(a)

- Approach 2: Account for the employer
MPF contributions and the offsetting
mechanism as a funding mechanism for
the LSP obligation

For the years ended 31 May 2024 and 2023,
the Group’s LSP liability before the expected
offsetting under the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism is immaterial. Application of
the Guidance had no material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, HKASs and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “HKFRSs”) issued by HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost basis.

Going concern assumption

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$17,321,000 for the year ended 31
May 2024. As of that date, the Group’s net
liabilities was approximately HK$972,000
and net current liabilities was approximately
HK$15,248,000 and included other
borrowings and loan from an ex-shareholder
amounting to approximately HK$3,089,000
and HK$2,563,000 respectively, while the
Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$1,816,000 only. As
disclosed in note 40, subsequent to the year
end, the night club operated by the Group
has ceased its business since 4 August 2024
due to the expiration of the lease. For the year
ended 31 May 2024, the revenue of the night
club accounted for approximately 69.16% of
the Group’s revenue from the “Operation of
club and entertainment business” segement.

These conditions indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and, therefore,
that the Group may not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

3. REEE

(a)

(b)

(c)

ARERA
REMBRERDRREBGS
ANEBRMHNEBMBREERN R
BEBEFEAKRERE (TXHE
R ERMBREEN) UKE
BAEFRANKERERK UL
IR BEBRREEEENRS
RSP BERABGEMEF LR
RIREMNBERMKE -

stER
GARBRRDRECMARE
e

FFER SRR
AEBREBEE2024FE5H31
BEFEELABEBEIFEAN
17,321,000 w &8 EZH» &
EEBEFEAHNI72,0008 T
MnE B EFEEA%15,248,000
B o wEEAEMEREKE—
ZARBEZER €BONBL
3,089,000 7t 522,563,000#
o MAEENRERIBEEE
Y& A 491,816,0007 7T © U0 B
40P E RERZEB AR
HEIB AEELEWNGR L
B2 H2024FE8H4H =%
B E2024FE5831HIEEE » B
el EmAERKRE TRE
BT RREER | DBWENA
69.16% °

ZEBRRTNFENTERES
MERENPEELEENRRINVE
RAEERZR > FEILA< 5 B0 8
BEARLEXHBRETEIEEE
KRBEER-

2024 ANNUAL REPORT %38 103



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 o = |

RAFsERAR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c)

Going concern assumption (continued)

In view of these circumstances, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration
of the liquidity and future cash flows of the
Group in assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. For this purpose,
the directors of the Company have prepared
a cash flow forecast, which covers a period of
18 months from the year end date of 31 May
2024 (the “Forecast Period”) with plans and
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and
to improve its financial position. Major plans
and measures have been and will be taken by
the directors of the Company include, but not
limited to, the following:

(i) In August 2024, the Group entered
into a loan facility agreement with
a shareholder for an amount of
HK$30,000,000 for 24 months (the
“Loan Facility”). The directors of the
Company are confident that this facility
could provide adequate support to the
Group’s liquidity needs;

(if) In August 2024, an independent third
party lender (Note 23) and the ex-
shareholder (Note 24) undertook that
they will not request the Group to
repay the outstanding amounts of
approximately HK$30,889,000 and
HK$2,563,000 respectively until 30
November 2025; and

(iii) The directors have continued to expand
the existing cigar business other than
night club in the “Operation of club and
entertainment business” segment; and
will strengthen to implement measures
aiming at improving the working
capital and cash flows of the Group,
including closely monitoring the general
administrative expenses and operating
costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c)

(d)

Going concern assumption (continued)

Based on the above, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations
over the Forecast Period as and when they fall
due. Accordingly, the directors considered that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

However, the validity of the going concern
assumption depends upon the successful
outcome of the Group’s plans and measures,
including:

(i) the loan facility can be drawn down
successfully as and when necessary;
and

(if) the business expansion plans and
improvement of operating results and
cash flows through various cost control
measures would be realised.

Should the Group be unable to continue as
a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made to reduce the values of the assets
to their net realisable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to
classify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities respectively. The
effects of these potential adjustments have not
been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which
is the same as the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousands, except
when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RAFsERAR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation and non-controlling
interests

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of the
Group. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in
full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are identified separately from the Group’s
equity and are initially measured at their
proportionate share of the fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the carrying amount of non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to owners of the
Company. Profit or loss and each component
of other comprehensive income is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in
those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

106 New Amante Group Limited $EEEEARAT

4.

&5 ER

(a)

REBERIFERERS

REMBREREREAEENY
BR-EERARTBR S MG
BRRAEHEGHNERESHH
BREFEHHE - REHBE
SHIE RIFAERARSBTESE
EEELTEBE FLBERT
BENIBm g -

RUERE  RNEB LS ZIFE
PRtEm A EE 2 # o B H
Bl BB ERRERES 28
WA BEEFELAFERMMGEL
PIStE -RATBRBVE > FIER
B IREE (BRERHEA
BINERAEED ARER=EN
PR R =N A IR ER
BB EREa REHNED -
FEREDNGEEMHRRTER
BmRNE25] BRRFTERE AR
Mmoo RAEd BakHME
HWR@HNSERBIEBER TR
BIEA ANRIFER B BN I
REERFEREGELE GG
B% o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (i) power
over the investee, (i) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. The cost
of property, plant and equipment includes
its purchase price and the costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RAFsERAR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

20% and the lease
term, whichever is
the shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 20%
equipment

Motor vehicles

Leasehold
improvements

20%

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and its
carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or
loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Leasing
Accounting as a lessee

All leases are capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, except for (i) leases which are
short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value for which
the Group has elected not to recognise. The
lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below
for the accounting policy to account for lease
liability); (i) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate
of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease. The Group measures
the right-to-use assets at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liability. The Group accounts for leased
properties which is held for own use under
HKFRS 16 and are depreciated over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate
can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RAFsERAR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Leasing (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date,
the Group measures the lease liability by:
(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, or to reflect revised in-substance
fixed lease payments.

Financial instruments

()

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at
fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

Debt instruments that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method. Interest
income is recognised using the effective
interest method, and is calculated
by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount
of the debt instruments when the
asset is not credit-impaired. For debt
instruments that have become credit-
impaired, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. Interest income, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group measured loss allowances
for expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on
trade receivables and other financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

ECLs are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation
to the assets’ original effective interest
rate.

The Group measured loss allowances
for trade receivables using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The
Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are
based on lifetime ECLs excepts when
there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the allowance will be based
on the 12 months ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the credit
risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort.
This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continueqd)

Significant increase in credit risk
(continued)

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past
due.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full. Irrespective of the
above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of
the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the

borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continueqd)

Definition of default (continueq)

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments with the
corresponding adjustment recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has
been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over 180 days past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Financial instruments (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial
liabilities at amortised cost. Financial
liabilities at amortised costs are
initially measured at fair value, net of
directly attributable costs incurred and
subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group generally derecognises a
financial asset when the contractual
rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire.

Financial liabilities are derecognised
when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost,
and subsequently at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

()

(i)

Sales of tobacco, food and beverage

Revenue from sales of tobacco,
food and beverage is recognised at
a point in time when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the
products. There is generally only one
performance obligation. Payment of the
transaction price is due immediately
when the tobacco, food and beverage
are transferred to the customers.

Consultancy services

Consultancy services represent a single
performance obligation that is a series
of distinct services that are substantially
the same and have the same pattern of
transfer to the customer. The customers
simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs
and therefore the services are satisfied
over time. The Group satisfied the
performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time with reference to the
actual service period passed relative to
the total contract period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

U]

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer. Contract liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position until the credit balances are
consumed or expired.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax
and deferred tax. Income taxes are recognised
in profit or loss except when they relate to
items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly
in equity in which case the taxes are also
recognised directly in equity.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be
paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

1)

Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised, provided that the deductible
temporary differences are not arises from
initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
appropriate to the expected manner in which
the carrying amount of the asset or liability is
realised or settled and that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period, and reflects any uncertainty related to
income taxes.

Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefit

Short term employee benefits are
employee benefits that are expected to
be settled wholly before twelve months
after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render
the related service. Short term employee
benefits are recognised in the year
when the employees render the related
service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

U]

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to
employees and others providing similar
services, the fair value of the services received
is measured by reference to the fair value of
the options at the date of grant. Such fair
value is recognised in profit or loss with a
corresponding increase in the share option
reserve within equity.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment;
o right-of-use assets; and
° investment in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

(m)

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows expected to be derived from the
asset or cash generating unit, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, which it is probable
that it will result in an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits that can be
reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed
as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits is remote.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at
bank and in hand, and short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decision
about resources allocation to the Group’s
business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial
information reported to the executive directors
are determined following the Group’s major
product and service lines.

The measurement policies the Group use for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8
are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs, except
interest income, unallocated finance costs,
and unallocated corporate expenses, which
are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment, are not
included in arriving at the operating results of
the operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgement going concern basis

As disclosed in note 3(c), the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis. The appropriateness of the going concern
basis is assessed after taking into account all
relevant available information about the future of the
Group, including the cash flow forecast of the Group
covering a period up to 30 November 2025. Such
forecast about the future, at a particular point of time,
about the future outcome of events and conditions,
which inherently involves various assumptions and
uncertainties. In the preparation of the cash flow
forecast of the Group, the directors assumed that
the loan facility can be drawn down successfully
as and when necessary. Actual results could differ
significantly, and hence it may cast significant doubt
in relation to the going concern assumption.
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124

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, other key
sources of uncertainty at the end of each reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below:

(i) Impairment loss for trade and other
receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses of
trade and other receivables resulting from the
inability of the customers and other debtors
to make the required payments in accordance
with accounting policy stated in Note 4(e)
(ii). The Group bases the estimates on the
ageing of the receivable balances, debtors’
creditworthiness and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of the
customers and debtors were to deteriorate,
actual credit loss would be higher than
estimated.

(ii) Impairment loss for non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting
period whether non-financial assets suffered
any impairment or previously recognised loss
may decrease in accordance with accounting
policy stated in Note 4(l). The non-financial
assets are reviewed for impairment or reversal
of impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable
amount or vice versa. The determination of
recoverable amount requires an estimation
of future cash flows and the selection of
appropriate discount rates. Changes in these
estimates could have a significant impact on
the carrying amount of assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods, where applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(ii) Impairment loss for non-financial assets
(continued)

Determining whether an item of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
is impaired or previously recognised loss
may decrease requires an estimate of the
recoverable amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs,
which is the higher of the value in use or fair
value less costs of disposal. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected or change in facts and
circumstances which results in the downward
revision of future cash flows, a material
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 May 2024, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets was HK$6,067,000 (2023:
HK$9,603,000) and HK$9,667,000 (2023:
HK$12,503,000) respectively.

(iii)  Provision for reinstatement costs

Provision for reinstatement costs are estimated
at the inception of leasing property with
reinstatement clause and reassessed at the
end of each reporting period with reference to
the latest available quotation from independent
contractors. Estimation based on current
market information may vary over time and
could differ from the actual reinstatement
cost upon closures or relocation of existing
premises occupied by the Group. As at 31
May 2024, the carrying amounts of provision
for reinstatement costs are approximately
HK$600,000 (2023: HK$850,000).
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AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker is defined as
executive directors of the Company. The Group
has identified its operating segment based on
the regular internal financial information reported
to the Company’s executive directors for their
decisions about resources allocation and review of
performance.

Each operating segment are managed separately as
each business offers different products and services
and requires different business strategies. For the
year ended 31 May 2024, the Group has identified
the following two operating and reportable segments:

. The operation of club and entertainment
business
. Securities investment

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 is as

6. SEHEH

TEEERREEMER LT AT
EFXZ - xEERBRAEATDRTESTE
HE2RANERDERARRBF RN
NEM B EREEEEDE -

HREEEMIEHENERRRBUKER
ENEBRERF— NS EEDBHD
HEIE B E2024F5831HILEFE >
ANEBE S H B LT W EE E K 3|0

2 :
- EESFRBEES
- mEgH

REBMBREERF15KBERN LK
BREZERITIZEHANKREDFMT :

follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with EEAMBHREENF155M
customer within the scope of HET REEZEREHH
HKFRS 15: Wz -
Operation of club and entertainment 1R P R IR S TS
business 89,245 77,981

Timing of revenue recognised under HKFRS 15:

BEEBMBREENEZI5KERTI

A

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Operation of club and AR Py R YR S 2 TS

entertainment business

At a point in time NE—FFEE 89,245 77,981
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e MR AR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HEN B
(a) Segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities (a) SEEE - EEREE
Operation
of club and
entertainment Securities
business investment Total
mEEHRK
[EE S E5RE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET FET
For the year ended 31 May 2024 HE20245E5H31HILEE
Revenue from external customers SMERE P iR 89,245 - 89,245
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A2RDE (B8R &H (5,668) 228 (5,440)
Other income and gains Hl A Rz 3,916 228 4,144
Advertising and marketing expenses BEMEHEEY (14,608) - (14,608)
Employee benefits expense BERHHZ (14,035) - (14,035)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERRENE
equipment (5,575) - (5,575)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE (13,355) - (13,355)
Other expenses 2% (17,572) - (17,572)
Write-off of trade and other receivables  i$5 & 5 K E thfE Ur I8 (5,230) - (5,230)
Reversal of expected credit losses on B REMENFIERREE
trade and other receivables, net BEEERE 238 - 238
Finance costs S (978) - (978)
Additions of non-current assets REFRBEE (13,190) - (13,190)
As at 31 May 2024 12024458315
Reportable segment assets AERNYEE 48,243 - 48,243
Reportable segment liabilities BES: 5=t (41,488) (18) (41,506)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. OHWEN B
(a) Segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities (a) SBESR-BEREE G

(continued)

Operation
of club and
entertainment Securities
business investment Total
K28k
LEE S BHEEE st
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
For the year ended 31 May 2023 HE2023F5A31HILEE
Revenue from external customers HNBREWER 77,981 = 77,981
Reportable segment profit/(loss) 2R EER/ (FE) 11,256 (282) 11,024
Other income and gains H A KWz 1,496 - 1,496
Advertising and marketing expenses BEMEHEEY (9,820) = (9,820)
Employee benefits expense EERTIHS (12,069) - (12,069)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME -BERREITE
equipment (3,561) - (3,561)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (8,086) - (8,086)
Other expenses Hitfs (12,874) (4) (12,878)
Write-off of trade and other receivables  #iS5 B 7 R ELth FE W IB (884) - (884)
Provision for expected credit losses on B REMENFIBEREE
trade and other receivables, net FREE T (479) = (479)
Finance costs REMA (108) (228) (336)
Additions of non-current assets NEFRBEE (19,324) - (19,324)
As at 31 May 2023 112023555315
Reportable segment assets ERNBEE 51,347 1 51,348
Reportable segment liabilities E2RNBEE (31,491) (7,037) (38,528)
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e MR AR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PEHEF (B
(b)  Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) FERIVBEZ -BEERGEHIK

or loss, assets and liabilities

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
(Loss)/profit before income tax  BRFTEMAT (B518) & F
Reportable segment (loss)/profit B 2R &6 (E518) & F) (5,440) 11,024
Other income and gains H AU A K I8 &= 139 3,942
Advertising and marketing BEEREHKBX
expenses (42) (284)
Employee benefits expense BERMEX (6,774) (4,500)
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1¥ -WE KRB IFE
and equipment (14) (488)
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEERE
assets (830) (215)
Unallocated corporate expenses k% B & 2B % (2,751) (2,893)
Write-off of trade and other 28 B 5 B H Ath FE W FR I8
receivables (341) (30)
Reversal of/(provision for) B REMEWFIETEREE
expected credit losses on trade E51E#[E () 258
and other receivables, net 123 100)
Finance costs A& A (188) (217)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before FRFFEM AT S (BE) & F
income tax (16,118) 6,239
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AEZRNIEE 48,243 51,348
Unallocated corporate assets APEEESE 2,230 4,015
Consolidated total assets REREE 50,473 55,363
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RAFsERAR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEEN @
(b)  Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) FEHRSPEZ -BEREBEHRER
or loss, assets and liabilities (continued) (#&)
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FAET FAET
Liabilities af&
Reportable segment liabilities AIERNIEE (41,506) (38,528)
Unallocated corporate liabilities RO PR 2 & 1& (9,939) (6,365)
Consolidated total liabilities REEEE (51,445) (44,893)

Management determines the Group is
domiciled in Hong Kong, which is the location
where the Group principally operates. All
revenue of the Group for the current and
previous reporting periods was derived in Hong
Kong. All its non-current assets are located in

Hong Kong.

No revenue from transactions with a single
customer amounts to 10% or more of the

Group’s revenue (2023: none).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

REVENUE 7. &=
Revenue from the Group’s principal activities during AEERKEHANEITEEREKREN
the reporting period is as follows: TS
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Revenue from: LTFBEENRE :
Clubs and entertainment business D AT R YR B 2 5
Sales of tobacco, food and beverage (EE B RmEKEGIHE 88,301 75,904
Entrance fees ABE 13 386
Sponsorship income EBhHUW A 657 329
Others HAth 274 1,362
89,245 77,981

The following table provides information about trade
receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with

customers:

Trade receivables (Note 18)
Contract liabilities (Note 22)

B 7 rEuia (aE18)
e’ (Ee2)

TRIEHEMBEZRUAEBERKBERZR
BHNENERENER !

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
902 6,221
11,815 =
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AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 8.

Bank interest income RITH B WA
Imputed interest income on financial FREHER AT EN

H g A R W=
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
16 10

assets measured at amortised cost THEEHENEKRA 238 146
Government grants (Note (a)) BT E) (FE5E(a)) - 1,052
Covid-19-related rent concession 2019w mEMEEER

(Note 16(b)(i)) (Bt 5E16(b)(i)) - 137
Gain on early termination of lease RERIEHEN KSR 150 3,069
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE KB A BB W s 127 =
Reversal of provision of reinstatement  1&18 Al 7 & 45 5 o]

costs (Note 21) (Pt 5E21) 250 380
Reversal of write-off of trade receivables B 5 F& W 2k T8 #fi £ 5 [] 7 7
Consultancy services income B 58 AR 7B WA 975 =
Commission fee income B2 WA 2,260 -
Others Hh 260 637

4,283 5,438
Notes: B 5E <
(@) The government grants represents anti-epidemic fund, (a) B HT 7 Bh 16 & B BUN 12201978 i 7 F R &

catering business (social distancing) subsidy scheme and
employment support scheme granted by the Hong Kong
Government under Covid-19 pandemic.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX o. IRERE# A (B538) &
(Loss)/profit before income tax is arrived at after FMRFTEM AT (B518) a A Jh &R LR
charging: BEBEY
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Changes in inventories recognised as MR ARIMNEE 2 &)
expense
— Clubs and entertainment business — BT RIR BT 27,714 20,340
Expense in respect of land THIRIEFRY
and buildings:
— Short term lease payments — MR ENR 576 629
— Variable lease payments linked — DHEREN A EHEENR
to sales (Note 16(c)) (Fft5E16(c)) 433 1,571
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S EM B <&
— Provision for the year —REFEEE 756 759
Write-off of property, WY~ BB Mk
plant and equipment 34 28
Employee benefits expense (including EEFEMNBEX (BEES
directors’ remuneration (Note 10)) M (f¥sx10))
— Wages, salaries and other benefits —TE #He hHMER 20,047 16,017
— Contribution to defined contribution — — 5 & £ FUR Rk 51 & =
retirement plans 762 552
20,809 16,569
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AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

10. EFFMRAIBEREHFMAL

(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) =R
The remunerations of the directors of the KRABIEEZEHMEH T :
Company are set out below:
Contribution
to defined
Salaries and  contribution
other retirement
Fees benefits plans Total
RE MR
HER ERatEl
ik Hitisa# A Mt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 May 2024 HZ202455R31HILERE
Executive directors BTESE
Mr. Wong Chi Yung F5BRE - 1,296 18 1,314
Ms. Lui Lok Yan BEMEL - 480 18 498
Ms. Liu Huijing (note i) 2BE T (k) - 840 18 858
Independent non-executive directors BiJEHTES
Mr. Pong Chun Yu ERFRE 180 - - 180
Mr. Hui Wai Hung SRS 180 - - 180
Mr. Jiang Qiaowei BBRLE 180 - - 180
540 2,616 54 3,210
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e MR AR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 10. EE¥ MR AEZESHM AT

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued) (%8)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued) (a) EFHM &)
The remunerations of the directors of the KRATEBHINET WO T - (8)

Company are set out below: (continued)

Contribution
to defined
Salaries and contribution
other retirement
Fees benefits plans Total
REMT
HEk Rk
kA HthE7 T mst

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
TET TET TE7T TET

Year ended 31 May 2023 HE2023F5831HILERE

Executive directors BTEZF

Mr. Ng Shing Chun Ray (note i) REELE (fHi) 200 425 5 630
Mr. Wong Chi Yung F5BRE - 1,296 18 1,314
Ms. Lui Lok Yan e J7 e - 480 18 498
Ms. Liu Huijing (note i) PBE L () - 135 3 138

Independent non-executive directors BiIFHTES

Mr. Pong Chun Yu ERFRE 180 - - 180
Mr. Hui Wai Hung SERLE 180 - - 180
Mr. Jiang Qiaowei EBRLE 180 - - 180

740 2,336 44 3,120
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AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

The remunerations of the directors of the
Company are set out below: (continued)

Notes:

(i) Ms. Liu Huijing was appointed as executive director
on 3 April 2023.

(ii) Mr. Ng Shing Chun Ray resigned as executive
director on 3 April 2023.

During the current and prior years, none of
the Directors waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration and there were no emoluments
paid by the Group to any of the Directors as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group,
or as compensation for loss of office. The
executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as the
Directors.
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(&)
(a)

ERHMW (&
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(i) P EEL T R2023F483HEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 10.
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, 2 (2023: 2) are
executive directors of the Company for the
year ended 31 May 2024 whose emoluments
are included in Note 10(a). The remuneration of

%ﬂ%%ﬁﬁiﬂ&i%%%%ﬁwﬂ)\i

=

(b) TEEEFMAL
B E2024F5H31HIEEE » K
EEEILARSHFMNALTEEARA
TIM24 (20234 : 24) M1TE
EoHENFMENKMEE10(a) e
BR 3% (20234 : 3%) ALMIF

the remaining 3 (2023: 3) individuals were as a0 -
follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Salaries, allowances and e R REYRER
benefits in kind 2,240 2,006
Contribution to defined REHFER IR B H R
contribution retirements plans 54 55
2,294 2,061

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,000% 7T

BERALHMEAFUTEHE :

2024 2023
20245 20234
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A

3 8

The emoluments paid or payable to
members of senior management were
within the following band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£ 51,000,000 7T

(c) ENfIEMNSHREEEMRENM

ENFUTEE :
2024 2023
20244 20234
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A& AEL
1 1
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

11. FINANCE COSTS 1. FEMX
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FAET
Interest on other borrowings H A ERRF B 141 67
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 16(b)) FHESEF S (MFsE16(0)) 1,025 486
1,166 b5
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FiEREX
The Group is subject to income tax on profits arising REBEMNRETES X MUESTEES
in or derived from Hong Kong, being its principal HEEBETENEMNNBAMER -GE2
place of business. The income tax expense in the W mFzANFSHRASE
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
represents:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Current income tax — Hong Kong Profits BIEAFF 1510 — & B F] 151
Tax
— provision for the year —FEREE 748 351
— over-provision in prior year —IBFFEBRERE (250) =
498 351
Deferred tax (Note 19) RIEFRIE (MF5E19)
— Origination and reversal of temporary — 5 B4 7= 88 B9 2 4 0 5 0]
difference 705 8
Income tax expense FriEMex 1,203 359
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman BIEEENEN EEREN > AEEF
Islands, the Group is not subject to any taxation AREEMETEHE SN EARIE .

under the jurisdictions of the Cayman Islands.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of assessable profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
Assessable profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to

be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

A reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income tax at
the statutory tax rate to the income tax expense is as

A= A
17 ) = B

A 75 SRR b5t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

12.

v
e

&/iﬁ%ﬁ
wmA BTSN RN T ¢

FRriSKAX (@)

AR 35 7 AR 5 F) 45
ERCECABBTZESRR BN FIR
8.25% M 7 =
FE SRR &
T & w4k Bl F 45
SBIRF M EIE16. 5% FE—MERH

SHMEGHE s BERER
IR MBE2EE AT

FI B 216.5% 8 12 5= 418 o &
SHESIE > EEERE

<StEBRPTSRAT (B8

follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
(Loss)/profit before income tax PRPTISIRAT (B518) & A (16,118) 6,239
Tax at the applicable statutory rate BREREEREFTENRIE (2,824) 935
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A AR E X WIRFE S & 1,944 1,530
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERERNENRETE 2 (239)
Tax effect of temporary differences not KRR ERMEEZENMIF T E
recognised 478 114
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERMIBE BN FE L 1,161 4
Over-provision in prior year BEFELBREEG (250) =
Tax effect of temporary differences ERIEREETEN
recognised ML E 150 (619)
Tax effect of tax losses recognised ERERRIEEEN
MBTE 555 627
Utilisation of tax losses previously not U fERFESRIR B 18 2 &) P
recognised (9) (1,993)
Income tax expense PSR i X2 1,203 359
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

13.

14.

140

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shares
of the Company during the years ended 31 May 2024
and 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since
the end of the reporting period.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

13.

14.

35

RAT R E E20244F %2023FE5831H
IFEEBMEMRAATDEBERIKCNES
KR E  MBRSHARURDEES
I ERBR B o

FABHEEARGER (B5R)

BF

2024 2023
20245 20234
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of A BEE AW (BE)
the Company (HK$’000) wmA (FAEIT) (17,140) 3,649
Weighted average number of ordinary BUstEESRERERE
shares for the purpose of calculating B9 58 AR 0 A S B
basic loss per share (in thousands) (F8) 101,155 70,150
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ~ SREARR#E (5B518) &7
share (HK$) (FB7T) (16.94) 5.20

The number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating basic (loss)/earnings per share has been
determined based on the loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$17,140,000
(2023: a profit of HK$3,649,000) and the weighted
average number of 101,155,000 (2023: 70,150,000,
as adjusted to reflect the Share Consolidation and
rights issue as described in note 26) ordinary shares.

The share options outstanding during the years ended
31 May 2024 and 2023 had an anti-dilutive effect
on the basic (loss)/earnings per share, the exercise
of outstanding share options were not assumed in
the computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share.
Accordingly, diluted (loss)/earnings per share is the
same as the basic (loss)/earnings per share for the
years ended 31 May 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. YE - -BEKRRE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Motor vehicles Total
HENERE KR RKERRE HE L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
T FET FET FET
Cost: A
At 1 June 2022 11202265 1H 19,180 5,624 2,431 27,235
Additions NE 4,455 967 - 5,422
Written off fii (6,612) (672) - (7,284)
At 31 May 2023 and 12023F5A831H Kt

1 June 2023 20236818 17,023 5,919 2,431 25,373

Additions NE 1,783 304 - 2,087
Written off s (4,288) (1,470) = (5,758)
At 31 May 2024 1202458314 14,518 4,753 2,431 21,702
Accumulated depreciation: ~ EiiTE:
At 1 June 2022 2022665 1H 14,376 3,696 905 18,977
Depreciation il 2,922 641 486 4,049
Written off i (6,612) (644) - (7,256)
At 31 May 2023 and 1202358310 &

1 June 2023 20236818 10,686 3,693 1,391 15,770
Depreciation & 4,092 809 488 5,589
Written off s (4,267) (1,457) = (5,724)
At 31 May 2024 12024458318 10,711 3,045 1,879 15,635
Carrying amount: REfE:

At 31 May 2024 1£202445H31H 3,807 1,708 552 6,067
At 31 May 2023 12202345H31H 6,337 2,226 1,040 9,603
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

16.

LEASES

(a)

Right-of-use assets

As at 31 May 2024, the Group leases 7 (2023:
7) properties as office premises and for the
operation of club and entertainment business.
The leases have a non-cancellable lease period
of 2 years as at 31 May 2024 (2023: 3 years).

The remaining lease terms are generally 1 to 2
years (2023: 1 to 3 years). One of the leases
contains extension option whose terms are
subject to negotiation between the Group and
the lessor.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-
use assets and the movements during the year
are as follows:

16.

HE
(a)

EREEE

R2024FE5831H  AEBHEEY
1R (20234 : 7H#) MEEA PR
BRRERE SR RIREZER R
2024F5831H > ZEHENF
AHHAE R A25 (20234 © 3
&) o

BRI —RABI1E24F (2023
F1E3F) HP—BEHESRE
EREER HBEAFTAEEA
A ABEe

ENFEBEAREE REE
REEHMT :

Leased

properties

HEME

HK$’000

FAET

At 1 June 2022 12022468 1H 8,271
Additions RE 12,533
Depreciation e (8,301)
At 31 May 2023 and 1 June 2023 R2023F5H31H &2023%F681H 12,503
Additions NE 11,989
Early termination of lease IR IEHE (640)
Depreciation e (14,185)
At 31 May 2024 1£20245F5H831H 9,667
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16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

LEASES (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

16.

HE (&)
(b) MEEMR
ERAEAEZREEREH

movements during the year are as follows: T
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Carrying amount at 1 June R6BA1H ZEREE 14,705 16,226
Additions NE 11,801 12,359
Covid-19-related rent 201973 #A i = /i 48 BE
concession (note (i) HEEE (MsE>)) - (137)
Interest expense MERZ 1,025 486
Payments NN (14,593) (10,785)
Early termination of lease IRATAIERAE (790) (3,069)
Reclassify to trade and other EMNOEEEZ X
payables (note (ii)) HAFEAFRIE (B 5E(ii) (1,192) (375)
Carrying amount at 31 May MREB31HZREE 10,956 14,705
Notes: B 5

(i)

(i

During the year ended 31 May 2023, certain
lessors of the leased buildings provided rent
concessions to the Group through rent reductions.
These rent concessions were occurred as a direct
consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and met all
of the conditions introduced by the amendments
to HKFRS 16, and the Group applied the practical
expedient of not to assess whether the changes
constitute lease modifications. The effects on
changes in lease payments due to forgiveness
or waiver by the lessors for the relevant lease of
approximately HK$137,000 was recognised as
negative lease payments.

The amounts represented lease payments due for
settlement during the years ended 31 May 2023
and 2024 and remained unsettled as at 31 May
2024.

(i) HZE2023F5H31HIEEE  EF
HEREYHNEBAAHLBEBERD
HemrsEBREHASES-
2019 B R m B RB BT EZLEH
NzEHeBERaTEUBER
HER|F165% (B5T4) 5| ABFR
BRt AEEERATER S X
FHEEHEHETEREEE
2o R A A B AHRATE &R S sk
HemMEENHEEMRESHHNE
£49137,0008 TR ABHRE M

Eo
A °

(ii) 22 FAIEE E20234F /2024458
S1HLFEISHEEZHEMNNR
FeiR202455 831 B RAH ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE (&)
(b) Lease liabilities (continued) by MHMEEE B
Future lease payments are due as follows: AERBEMREBERAOT

Future lease

payments Interest  Present value
RIKBE LR FIE RiE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
At 31 May 2024 12024558318
Not later than one year FHEE—F 7,503 (440) 7,063
Later than one year and —F EERBEmE
not later than two years 3,993 (100) 3,893
11,496 (540) 10,956
Future lease
payments Interest Present value
RRBEE T 2 RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE1 FET FET
At 31 May 2023 2023558 31H
Not later than one year FBE—F 7,607 (643) 6,964
Later than one year and not —&E L FERBBRHE
later than two years 5,277 (827) 4,950
Later than two years and not MEMNL L ERBBAE
later than five years 2,842 (51) 2,791
15,726 (1,021) 14,705
The Group discounts the lease liabilities at HE2024F5831HIEFE >
the incremental borrowing rates ranging from KEBUNNI.IO7%ET7.89%
3.97% to 7.89% for the year ended 31 May NitEEIRFNEXHBEEERE
2024 (2023: from 2.86% to 6.93%). TR (20234F : MN2.86%F
6.93%) °©
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16. LEASES (continued)

(b)

(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

16. HE (&

Lease liabilities (continued) by MHME&EE B

The present value of future lease payments are FREENTNIBEESFUT

analysed as follows:

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$°000

FAET FET

Current liabilities mEBaR 7,063 6,964

Non-current liabilities FEREIEE 3,893 7,741

10,956 14,705

For the year ended 31 May 2024, the total B E2024F5831HIEFEE

cash outflow for leases was approximately ERETMHAEEELN14,679,00048

HK$14,679,000 (2023: HK$12,224,000). 7T (20234 : 12,224,000 7T) ©

Variable lease payments (c) A EFH BT

Some property leases contain variable payment BoYMERED S =T &

terms that are linked to sales generated YR s 2 32 A A OGN E B B o] &

from the operation of club and entertainment TR EH T FEFAMsS &%

business. For the night club, up to 2.55% 2.55% (20234 : 10.97%) BY7H

(2023: 10.97%) of lease payments are on the ENNHZoENREESTE 7]

basis of variable payment. Percentages per BHEEBENINFIHEZEN0.I%E

variable lease payment terms are ranging from 2.4% (20234 : 0.5%%E8.5%) °

0.9% to 2.4% (2023: 0.5% to 8.5%) of sales. BORRHEMN ] SFE 5N NEHE

Variable lease payments that depend on sales OSSN R 43 £ 2 HA
are recognised in profit or loss in the period RIS o

in which the condition that triggers those
payments occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

17. INVENTORIES 17. =F&
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Merchandise 7 & 19,173 8,287
For the year ended 31 May 2024, no write-down of HZE2024F5B831HLIEFE > T EEIE
inventories (2023: Nil) was recognised in profit or PR EE MO (20234F © £#) o
loss.
18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. B REHMEUFIE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 W8 (a) 902 6,221
Other receivables HhfE Wz 18 806 140
Advance to a supplier B RE R IE (b) 4,810 =
Prepayments SERNE O] 945 1,274
Deposits & (c) 5,208 4,962
12,671 12,597
Less: Non-current portion under  Ji& : IERENEEE F (c)
non-current assets JERNHEREB (1,356) (1,720)
Current portion under current MENE EE T RIEAES
assets 11,315 10,877
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i a M ERR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Trade receivables
Majority of the Group’s revenue is attributable to sales of
tobacco, food and beverages to be settled via cash and

18. BHKRHMEWRIE (&)

Myt

(a)

FEBABLWHRKEBUFEERERF
RFZNNEE - RRKRRRIEE AEH

credit card. There was no credit term granted to customers. THEEREARIZHEER
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables at the REFPRRESHERHE 5 EWRTE GO
end of the reporting period, net of impairment, based on B ERNREHHNESSFTNT
invoice date is as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-30 days 0%E30H 574 5,692
31-90 days 31E90H 187 125
91-180 days 91%E180H 141 404
181-365 days 181E365H - -
902 6,221

As at 31 May 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$8,414,000 (2023: HK$9,189,000), which are
past due at the end of the reporting period. Out of past
due balance, HK$6,937,000 (2023: HK$2,032,000) past
due for 180 days or more has been written off as the Group
considered such balances could not be recovered based on
repayment history. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are
set out in note 37(b).

Advance to a supplier

As at 31 May 2024, the balance represents the prepayments
made to supplier a for purchase of goods. The supplier
is the largest supplier and one of the shareholders of the
Company.

Deposits

As at 31 May 2024 and 2023, the balance mainly represents
rental deposit. At each reporting date, an impairment
analysis is performed by applying the general approach to
provide for expected credit losses as prescribed by HKFRS
9. The expected credit losses rate for deposits is minimal.

(b)

(c)

R2024FE5831H  AEBER E 5 FE U
BB IERE(E R 48,414,000 7T
(20234 : 9,189,00078 7T) FIFEURER RN » H
ERBEHARAER AR AEBRBENRG
IR AZEEREARE ARLRPES
HA180H 2 L £ £96,937,00058 75 (20234 :
2,032,0007% 7T) B4R HIEH o 745 & B 0 ok 1 5%
EERFEETAEESR

B 5 & W 7k I8 1Y IR (B BT 15 5 1B &Y B A
37(b)°

A EESRIE
R20245F58318 » #E 8k % T T HERE K
BEYMNRE  ZEEEAERAEEETS
RATFRERZ —°

BE

1220245 202356658311 » ek = E4570
ERE - NEREEH AR EFD
BEDTUBEBYHZREERFIRAE
NWEBAEEBERFLER -RENEBEE
BB EM o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 19. RERIBEE
Depreciation
in excess of
depreciation
allowance Tax losses Total
TEREN
HBERITE MRS 45t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 June 2022 R2022%681H 610 1,182 1,792
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss st A/ (1F4) 1B
(Note 12) (FFzE12) 619 (627) 8)
At 31 May 2023 and 1 June 2023  R2023F5831H K
2023%6H1H 1,229 555 1,784
Charged to profit or loss (Note 12)  #fRiE% (MizE12) (150) (555) (705)
At 31 May 2024 122024%5831H 1,079 - 1,079
The Group has accumulated tax losses arising in MR2024FE5831H "EBEEES
Hong Kong of approximately HK$71,698,000 as at ARIBEEEL71,698,000%8 T (2023
31 May 2024 (2023: HK$68,415,000), in which no tax F 168,415,000/ 7T) » A R IEE
loss (2023: HK$3,366,000) is expected to be utilised 18 (20234 : 3,366,000 7T) T =t15 A
in offsetting against future taxable profits of the RIEH AN EFE R KRERREF - MIEE
Group. The tax loss can be carried forward in Hong BN EEEREEH AN EAATES
Kong indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been BA ERR BN KRAERRZER
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of IEEIBR 45 8 > til Rt 71,698,0007 7T
the HK$71,698,000 (2023: HK$65,049,000) as in (2023£ : 65,049,000 7t) BIF &R IE
the opinion of the directors of the Company, it is not BB sRIRE R IBE E o

probable that taxable profit will be available against
which these tax losses can be utilised.
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20.

21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERREEEY

Cash and cash equivalents represented cash at banks REREEEEYIERTEFBEERES
and in hand. Cash at banks earns interest at floating WITHEESHREHETEINRAENF
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank A KBENF B  BITEGRERNESE
balances are deposited with credit worthy banks with RB&r B B A0 82 BUERTT

no recent history of default.

Bank balances, included in cash and cash equivalents R4 (Bt AcEERSERESSE

of the Group, denominated in foreign currencies are BY)) LU NEESHE -
as follows:

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

- UsSD — %7t 1 1

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 21. B RHME(ZIEREE
PROVISIONS

2024 2023

20244 20234

Notes HK$’000 HK$°000

k=3 FAET FET

Trade payables B Z I8 (a) 1,329 3,306
Accruals and other payables FEStE A R EMRE I8 15,281 12,217
Rental payables FESF & 2,115 1,136
18,725 16,659

Provision B (b) 600 850
19,325 17,509
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 21.

PROVISIONS (continued)

BEZREMEBMAMRERER (8

(a) The average credit period of trade payables (a) HPEEE BRERBEBRN
in relation to the sales of tobacco, food and BESENARENFEHEEHRAO
beverage ranged from 0 to 60 days (2023: 30 Z60H (20234 : 30E60H) o &
to 60 days). An ageing analysis of the Group’s EBRNRREHANE ZENHIE
trade payables at the end of the reporting HEREZOHNEBSFNT
period, based on invoice date is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
0-30 days 0Z30H 878 2,993
31-60 days 31E60H 249 289
Over 60 days Bi1860H 202 24
1,329 3,306

(b)  Provision (b) E
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Reinstatement costs (note) B4 (MsE)

Balance at 1 June ®6A81 8 ER 850 1,230
Reversal &[] (250) (380)
Balance at 31 May 58313 B4R 600 850

Note: fEsE ©

The Group provides reinstatement costs for its leased
properties. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing
basis and revised where appropriate. The amount is
expected to be utilised in one year (2023: one year).
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22.

23.

24,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. &R
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Contract liabilities arising from: UTEEEENENER
Billing in advance for sales of tobacco, HEEE B & &M
food and beverage (note (i) BEL S (FTEEd)) 11,815 =
Note: MIsE :
(i) Contract liabilities represent the receipts in advance from (i) SHNEEEMHEEEE - BRABKRAE

customers in respect of the sales of tobacco, food and
beverage and club membership scheme operated by the
Group. The Group operates the membership scheme where
customers accumulate points for purchase made which
entitle them to discounts on future purchase and the credits 3 o
is valid within one year after the date of initial subscription of

club membership.

BFEEN RS BIFRLME S WER
NRE AERBEEGEE TRAAZEB
BYRRRD  IFERBYIFNMA B
BAORMRBEEMEEEME—FRNE

Movements in contract liabilities: BHEREH !
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Balance as at 1 June 681 H B4 ER - 794
Increase in contract liabilities as a result &4 & ERE RN FE L H
of billing in advance during the year 3R 12 0E 11,815 =
Refunded during the year FERIENR - (794)
Balance as at 31 May R5H31H B4 &R 11,815 =
OTHER BORROWINGS 23. HhEMR
A loan was granted by an independent third party for —RBUB=HREUFEH3,089,000
an amount of HK$3,089,000. The loan is unsecured, A TTHY E?X o EAE%?’!EE 1 2 E R
bears interest at 4.80% per annum and repayable #4.80%sT B R —FAHE BRAK
within one year. The lender undertook that she will not EEE20\25¢1 L B30BH ZAI A8 E R
request the Group to repay the outstanding amount EREBEREENRE
until 30 November 2025.
LOAN FROM AN EX-SHAREHOLDER 24, RBE—HAIRRZERM
A loan was granted by an ex-shareholder, Mr. ERBAIRRRABAKENRT - ZE
Kester Ng. The loan is unsecured, interest-free and AR R B RARBERR—FR
repayable on demand or within one year. The ex- B3R ° Al HQ%%EEE2\025EE?1HSOEIZ
shareholder undertook that he will not request the A AEERAEBREEREENR

Group to repay the outstanding amounts until 30
November 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS AND NON- 25,

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts due were non-trade in nature,
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of

BNEERIFEREDR ZME

BAREBFESZME EEF -RE
= e

Bz 8 [E] TE 42 7R AR o

repayment.
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
Number of ordinary shares Amount
LERYE &8
HK$0.2 each  HK$0.01 each HK$ 000
SREE SREE
0287 0.01871 FET
Authorised: EE .
At 1 June 2022 112022565 1H - 10,000,000,000 100,000
Share Consolidation (Note (b)) Kina o (135 0) 500,000,000  (10,000,000,000) -
At 31 May 2023 and 1 June 2023 12023558310 %2023%681H 500,000,000 - 100,000
Share Sub-division (Note (e)) Rt (Fizke) (500,000,000) 10,000,000,000 -
At 31 May 2024 112024458318 - 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At 1 June 2022 12022465 1H - 998,800,000 9,988
Issue of ordinary shares by way of placing BREERABTLER
(Note (a)) (Fir5E(@) - 199,760,000 1,998
Share Consolidation (Note (b)) Rina s (5 D) 59,928,000  (1,198,560,000) -
Issue of shares by rights issue (Note (c)) BBHRETRN () 29,964,000 - 5,092
At 31 May 2023 and 1 June 2023 1202358310 %2023 F651H 89,892,000 - 17,978
Issue of ordinary shares by way of placing BREERNETEER
(Note(d)) (B 3E(a)) 11,985,600 - 2,398
Capital Reduction (Note (g)) RAHIE () (101,877,600) 101,877,600 (19,357)
At 31 May 2024 1£202445531H - 101,877,600 1,019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i a M ERR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 16 May 2022, the Company entered into a Placing
Agreement with the placing agent in connection with the
placing for an aggregate of 199,760,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each at a placing price
of HK$0.03 per share. The placement was completed on
8 June 2022 and the premium on the issue of shares,
amounting to approximately HK$3,875,000, net of the
placing commission and other related transaction costs of
approximately HK$120,000 was credited to the Company’s
share premium account.

On 16 November 2022, the Company completed the
consolidation of shares of the Company whereby every
twenty issued and unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each were consolidated into one consolidated ordinary share
of HK$0.20 each.

On 27 February 2023, the Company issued 29,964,000
ordinary shares upon completion of the rights issue on
the basis of one rights share for two existing shares held
by shareholders of the Company at a subscription price
of HK$0.42 per rights share. The gross proceeds from
the rights issue were approximately HK$12,585,000. The
net proceeds after deducting estimated professional fees
and related expenses of approximately HK$531,000 was
HK$12,054,000.

On 17 May 2023, the Company entered into a Placing
Agreement with the placing agent in connection with the
placing for an aggregate of 11,985,600 new ordinary
shares of the Company of HK$0.2 each at a placing price
of HK$0.5 per share. The placement was completed on
23 June 2023 and the premium on the issue of shares,
amounting to approximately HK$3,481,000, net of the
placing commission and other related transaction costs of
approximately HK$114,000 was credited to the Company’s
share premium account.

26. Bg7s (4®)

Myt

(@)

R20225F5816H ' A B FLEC & E B AR
EREITURE W& REEESK0.03
BT E 5 15199,760,0000 & A B E R E
BH0.01 BT Z B o Bo & BE 122022456
B8HER » TR 7 & E#3,875,0007% 75
(EBEERSREMBRAZRAEL
120,000 70) Bt ARA TN mMELR

R2022F11816H > AR B TMA LT K
HEf B - S +REBETRAETE
REBECOIBTHEERESHA KRS
BREfE0.2058 TV & 3m AR

ERRAEATDRRESFEMBRIEERD
Tfé% RRALRRRG (0 = B4 > LIS AR (AR RS
50.4278 TR EETHRE  XAFAR
202342827 A #1729,964,0008% & &R o
A% Fr 1S SR IB 48 3849 %4 12,585,00058 7T © Y
BRIEFRE (R AtEEE R ERMAS
#9531,00078 7T) %12,054,00078 7T ©

R2023E58170 » AT H R EREM L
SR A& E0.58 oA & 485111,985,6008
BRO2BITAABMEERIIIL—MHAEE
5% o BEL & 12202346323 H 5 /% » H1THR
1 B9 B493,481,0008 7t (A 30 bR D & 18
S REMBEARZMA4114,00087T) B
FFARA B EER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 o = |

RAFsERAR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

26.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(e)

On 26 July 2023, a special resolution has been
passed by the shareholders of the Company
for a capital reorganisation which involves
capital reduction and share subdivision.

The Company implemented (i) the capital
reduction involving the reduction of the par
value of each issued share from HK$0.20
to HK$0.01 by cancelling the paid up share
capital to the extent of HK$0.19 per issued
share so that following such reduction, each
issued share with a par value of HK$0.01
in the share capital of the Company shall
become one new share; and (ii) the share
premium reduction involving the reduction of
the entire amount standing to the credit of
the share premium account. The credit arising
from the capital reduction and share premium
reduction will be applied towards offsetting the
accumulated losses as at the effective date
of the capital reduction, thereby reducing the
accumulated losses.

Immediately following the capital reduction
becoming effective, each authorised but
unissued share will be sub-divided into twenty
(20) authorised but unissued new shares with a
par value of HK$0.01 each.

The capital reduction and share subdivision
became effective on 20 December 2023.
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(€)

R2023FE7H26H &S AT R
ThoW Bz Bl B AR 2 e R AR 0 i 2 BR
NEHBEB—BIFRRERE

A BB () IR A B R 0 W B
BEEMARRA (UEREETT
50198 TAR) » HEKRE %
TR D Z EEH0.207 T H B =
0.018c> UEHEBREE RE
KABRAFEREEOC.0O1E T
ZEBTROBRAS —RTK
195 (i) m BH R 9 K AR
B0 m B AR AU 2 20 3 AR 58 o BR A<
B R Rz BR A9 a8 18 Bl R = A B E BR
FB A VEIE 88 7Y BR AS H R 2 3% H
BN EstEE ML Rtk

Be

EMREBRENE  BREE
BRETRMAEIFARZ1+(20)
KEKREECOIEBITZIEEMERX
LATHRTRD

B A ) 8 B B AR 3 $R FR 20283412
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27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to
a resolution in writing passed by all shareholders on
14 March 2017. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to the
eligible participants for their contribution to the
Group’s operation. Eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other
employees of the Group and consultants. The Share
Option Scheme became effective on 8 March 2021
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for five years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares in issue at the Listing
date. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Share
Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited
to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue up to
the date of grant. Any further grant of shares options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

The share options do not confer rights on the holders
to dividend and to vote at shareholders meetings.

27.

UREEEURMNAERZ IR
RE2ERBENR2017E3F14HBEBEHN
EEREE KA RN —BHERES
BoBREAIEANESERIHEERM
HMEHAEBRZEEBFRESRGA T HE
FRE-BREFE ZEERZHEHER
BEARNBES (BEBUIENTES)
AEBHMES REM BRESIN
20215 3B 8H A > BrIEH 1T T LU
HE T SRR ZBAERFEHTE
2 o

RIEERESE REEERTZRT
EEREZRZHEARFBAEN LHH
HEZETROBEZ10% REM+Z
BRBERN BREASARERTS
LEERBEEZBREMAIETZE
ZROBENDERARTEERT B
BETROHZ1% - EFEMEBBIR
BHBRERESRENERRAG L
fE e

BT EETFHA ARRRE RIKK
RAGRERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

27. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 27. U SREE&EHURBRMASERZ (T2
(continued) (%&)
Set out below are details of movements of the TREYEHE2024F K2023F5H31H
outstanding options granted under the Share Option IFFEERBEBREAEIFELENERITE
Scheme during the years ended 31 May 2024 and RN et S -
2023:
Outstanding Adjustment Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised dueto  Adjustment Lapsed as at
Exercise 1 June during during Share due to during 31 May
price 2023 the year the year Consolidation  rights issue the year 2024
1420235 1420245
681A RiRfR 58318
T WA Enft EnfrfE AR EfR#AZ ERXR WAL
HKS 000 000 ‘000 000 ‘000 000 ‘000
An & & & & & & T
Share Option Scheme BRETE
Directors g2 7.567* 4 - - - - - 4
Employees &8 7.567* 2 - - - - - 2
Consultants B 7.567* 488 - - - - - 488
Total &3 550 - - - - - 550
Weighted average ETH
exercise price fifeE 1.567 - - - - - 7.567
Qutstanding Adjustment QOutstanding
asat Granted Exercised dueto  Adjustment Lapsed as at
Exercise 1 June during during Share due to during 31 May
price 2022 the year the year ~ Consolidation ~rights issue the year 2023
120205 120235
6518 L) 58318
i3] WA FRED ERiTE afEE  AfRSE EREN HARTE
HKS oo oo (i oo (1 oo 000
AT & & & & & & &
Share Option Scheme BRETE
Directors g2 7.567 800 - - (760) 1 - 4
Employees 8 7.567* 10,000 - - (9,500) 9 (488) 21
Consultants Ef 7.567* 19,200 - - (18,240) 16 (488) 488
Total &3 30,000 - - (28,500) 26 (976) 550
Weighted average ETH
exercise price i 0.385 - - - - = 7.567
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27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
(continued)

All of the Company’s share options are exercisable at
grant date. The options outstanding at the end of the
year have a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 2 years (2023: 3 years) and the exercise price
of HK$7.567 (2023: HK$7.567) per share.

During the years ended 31 May 2024 and 2023, no
expense in relation to share options grants by the
Company to employees and others providing similar
services was recognised.

* Adjustments were made to the exercise price
and the number of shares entitled to be issued
upon full exercise of the share options as a
result of the Share Consolidation became
effective on 16 November 2022. The exercise
price of the share options was adjusted from
HK$0.385 per share to HK$7.567 per share.

27.

Léﬂ%*é.%%ﬂﬂ&ﬁ%%ﬁ%Zﬁ%’x
I\‘E

NATIFTEBREREL BHRfTE-
FERBEARTEERENINEFLE TGS
HEAMRE & 24 (20234 : 34F) » 17184
FHE7.567H 7T (20234 : 7.567E L) ©

K& E20244%F K2023F5831H IEF
E ERIEBRASATRES RIZMH
BFLRBFWEMA LR FTERENR
E‘Zo

* HRIRMDE HIR2022E11816
HEM  AATERABTEER
REREERSITEME BT
MO EBEE BRETHEERS
f20.385B TR EEEKT7.5678
oo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ﬁlt! AN
17 o = |

RAFsERAR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

28.

RESERVES

Details of the movements on the Group’s reserves are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity.

Movements on the Company’s reserves are as

et
FEENEEERFBRN GRS
BHE-o

AAT I EHBMT

3 1

follows:
Share Capital Accumulated Share option
premium reserve losses reserve
(note(a)) (note(b)) (note(c)) (note(d)) Total
KinaE Rt RiEE  BRERE fit
(tz¥(a) (GEL)) (Rt3E(c) (Rt (d)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 June 2022 1202265 1H 98,650 34 (116,551) 6,835 (11,032)
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZANREE
income for the year - - (7,959 - (7,959
Transaction costs attributable REMEEREGRAMA
to the placing of new
ordinary shares (120) - - - (120)
Issue of ordinary shares by way of BREEHRETZER
placing 3,995 = = = 3,995
Transaction costs attributable EREGER A
to the rights issue (531) - - - (631)
Issue of ordinary shares BRERETEER
by rights issue 6,593 = = = 6,593
At 31 May 2023 and 1 June 2023 2202358318 &%
20236511 108,587 34 (124,510) 6,835 (9,054)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FABEREZEREHE
income for the year - - (15,840) - (15,840
Transaction costs attributable REMZAREGRAMA
to the placing of new
ordinary shares (114) - - - (114)
Issue of ordinary shares by way of BREEHAETEZER
placing 3,595 - - - 3,595
Capital reduction RAHH - - 19,357 - 19,357
At 31 May 2024 112024%5H318 112,068 34 (120,993) 6,835 (2,056)
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28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

RESERVES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share premium

Share premium represented the amount
subscribed for share capital in excess of
nominal value.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference
between the fair value of consideration paid
and the carrying value of the subsidiaries
acquired.

Accumulated losses

Accumulated losses represented the
cumulative net losses recognised in profit or
loss.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair
value of the number of unexercised share
options granted to employees and consultants
of the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-
settled share-based payments in note 4(k) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference
between the consideration and the carrying
amount of the net liabilities attributable to
the reduction of interest in a subsidiary being
disposed to non-controlling interests.

fEth (&)
(@) PRIAMMHE

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

RO sEBEIBREATRBLE
ENEEE-

RRAf#1E
REZEHEEECTRKELFEHRERR
WENBABKREEZENE
LER

REtBER
RetERENBaTEBH RS
BEFR

Rl
BRERBRERTEAQAEER
BREZHERTEBEREHEZA
FEREG S HFHRERM EAK)
R EEEURDBER Z MR
AR E ST EREITHRESR -

Hh#
HithfEmisEm I rERE oD B EN
BRamABRERZNE AT
A MBSz 8 EFEKRE
BzE%E-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

29.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

29. JEIERGHER

Set out below is the summarised financial information X & %City Silver Limitedr B #5 & it
of City Silver Limited. The amounts disclosed are BME -FAENSEAEBEEIKHEAS
before intra-group eliminations. ZHo
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
For the year ended 31 May BESH31ALEE
Revenue W 7= - =
Profit and total comprehensive income & R A & & U 7= 4248
for the year 763 -
Profit allocated to non-controlling PDEEEIFERE R 2 im
interests 305 =
Dividends paid to non-controlling EXNFIFEREREZKRE
interests - -
For the year ended 31 May BESH31ALEE
Cash flows generated from/(used in) KESEEFTR, (FRA)
operating activities REMRE 778 (29)
Cash flows generated from LEEHMERERE
investing activities - -
Cash flows (used in)/generated from mEES (FTA) 8
financing activities BEME (780) 31
Net cash (outflows)/inflows e CRd) /RAFEE (2 2
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAETT FAET
As at 31 May 58318
Current assets MENE E 4 177
Non-current assets EREBEE - =
Current liabilities mENEE (5,586) (6,522)
Non-current liabilities ERBERE - =
Net liabilities =REPE L (5,582) (6,345)
Accumulated non-controlling interests R st IFIERR = (2,232) (2,537)
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29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)  29. JEIERRHEZE (48)
Set out below is summarised financial information T X & %|Castle Team Limitedd i1 #5 &
of Castle Team Limited. The amounts disclosed are B E IR BENSEA N T BIKHEA
before inter-company eliminations. £ EBo
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
For the year ended 31 May BE5H31A L EE
Revenue W 7 4,010 5,414
Profit and total comprehensive income & A& A & & U 7= 42 48
for the year 711 1,978
Profit allocated to non-controlling PDEEEIFERE R 2 im
interests 348 969
Dividends paid to non-controlling EXNFIEERERZKRE
interests - -
For the year ended 31 May BE5H31A L EE
Cash flows generated from operating &KE EZEFFFERENE
activities 2,142 547
Cash flows generated from/(used in) REEHFRE, (FT )
investing activities HENE 34 (40)
Cash flows used in financing activites BIEEZEFFFARESRE (2,286) (520)
Net cash outflows BE Mt 35 (110) (13)
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
As at 31 May 58318
Current assets MEE E 564 487
Non-current assets EREEE 418 1,998
Current liabilities mENE & (7,373) (9,587)
Non-current liabilities EREEE - =
Net liabilities BEF8E (6,391) (7,102)
Accumulated non-controlling interests R st IFIER R (3,132) (3,480)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

29. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 29.

Set out below is summarised financial information of
Crown Grand Limited. The amounts disclosed are

JEERER (8

T HF5]Crown Grand LimitedR B 75
ERNME-FIRENERES A B B IKHE

before inter-company eliminations. Bl % %8 o
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
For the year ended 31 May BESH31ALEE
Revenue W i 61,719 57,975
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive  E£ R (B18) /& A R E2E W &=
income for the year 4878 (2,878) 4,353
(Loss)/profit allocated to non-controlling DA = JEERR T ~ (B518)
interests ikl (834) 1,262
Dividends paid to non-controlling EXNFIFERERZKE
interests - =
For the year ended 31 May BESH31ALEE
Cash flows generated from operating & ZFHAEBIRERE
activities 13,923 13,486
Cash flows used in investing activities R EEZEFHFFARESHRE (619) (2,091)
Cash flows used in financing activites BIEEZEFFFARESRE (14,224) (10,549)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows & CRd) /RAFEE (920) 846
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
As at 31 May 58318
Current assets MENE E 11,128 13,642
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,818 8,277
Current liabilities mENEE (15,675) (18,746)
Non-current liabilities EREaE - (24)
Net assets BEFEE 271 3,149
Accumulated non-controlling interests R st IFIER = 79 913
30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. BEXRKIE

At the 31 May 2024 and 2023, the Group had no

significant capital commitments.

BMERNERKE-
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 31.

FINANCIAL POSITION

ERATMBRAR

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB ATNKE 1 =
Property, plant and equipment ¥ B E &R E 83 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FE Ui B A B IE 5,772 12,884
5,856 12,884
Current assets MENEE
Inventories =78 32 =
Other receivables HnpEWsIE - 71
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 53 1,392
85 1,463
Current liabilities mENEE
Amounts due to directors FEEEZHIE 168 203
Other payables HAthFEI TR IE 3,721 2,272
Other borrowings H B 3,089 2,948
6,978 5,423
Net current liabilities mBARERE (6,893) (3,960)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BB BEEISE (1,037) 8,924
Equity #Ex
Share capital fig s 26 1,019 17,978
Reserves = 28 (2,056) (9,054)
Total (deficiency in W (EEGM) R
assets)/equity (1,037) 8,924
Represents the amount less than HK$1,000. = 5 F1E 71,0008 7T ©

On behalf of the board of directors

Mr. Wong Chi Yung
FEBRE

Director

EF

KERESZT

Ms. Liu Huijing
BBBERL
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The following are the particulars of the Group’s
subsidiaries at 31 May 2024:

Name

4

BCI Group Holdings (BVI)
Limited

BCI Group Holdings (BVI)
Limited

BCI Group Enterprises Limited

BCI Group Enterprises Limited

Group Best Investment
Holdings Limited

Group Best Investment
Holdings Limited

Legend Vision Limited?

HIBRBRAR?

Bannock Holdings Limited

Bannock Holdings Limited

Buzz Concepts Management
(HK.) Limited

Buzz Concepts Management
(HK.) Limited

164 New Amante Group Limited $EEEEARAT

Country/place and date of

incorporation/establishment and

form of business structure
BT/ BIER/ HER
AHEEEERY S

The British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI’), 6 February 2013,
limited liability company
ARENHE (RERRHE)
201352068 BRAT

Hong Kong, 28 November 2012,
limited liability company
&% 20126118288 ER A

The BVI, 26 April 2013,
limited liability company
HEELHE 2013547268
BERAH

Hong Kong, 8 April 2015,
limited liability company
&8 015F4A80 B RAF

The BV, 4 February 2014,
limited liability company

EERYEE 201452840 BRAT

Hong Kong, 17 February 2014,
limited liability company
&8 2014528170 BIRAT

32. fEBATF#RE
REEKNBASN2024FE5831 HH %

Issued

and paid up

capital
BEf1k
BRR®

Us$10

10%7

HK$1

A7

US$10,000

10,000%7

BWE

Attributable equity
interest

FEfh i
Direct Indirect

B Rk

100% =

100% =

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

(2023:100%)
_ (2003% : 100%;
- 100%
- 100%

= 100%

= 100%

Principal activities
and place of operations

TEERREENG

Investment holding, Hong Kong

RERR 2

Investment holding, Hong Kong

REZR &

[nactive

gEEx

Investment holding, Hong Kong

REZR &

Security investment, Hong Kong

Provision of public relations
services, Hong Kong
RUELERE &%



32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following are the particulars of the Group’s
subsidiaries at 31 May 2024: (continued)

Name

4

Lively World Limited

Lively World Limited

Group Best Investment

Limite?

REREARAR

Grand Diamond Limited

mBARAR

Litton Global Limited

Litton Global Limited

Joint Ace Limited”

Joint Ace Limited"

Crown Grand Limited

Crown Grand Limited

Country/place and date of Issued

incorporation/establishment and and paid up

form of business structure capital

HRRL/RIBR/ HER B2Ef1k

REEZBERTL HRRA

The BVI, 2 January 2015, US$1
limited liability company

ERELEE 20155152 ERAF %7

Hong Kong, 9 July 2004, HK$100,000
limited liability company

&8 00457R98 ERAR 100,000% 7

Hong Kong, 13 February 2008, HK$2,030,750
limited liability company

&% 2008527138 BRAR 2,030,750% ¢

The BVI, 4 February 2014, US$1
limited liability company

HERYHE 201452840 ERAT %7

Hong Kong, 18 March 2015, HK$1
limited liability company

&8 015530185 ERAT %7

Hong Kong, 20 November 2014, HK$100
limited liability company

&5 014E11B20R ERAR 100% 7

32. MBATEE (B
REEKNBASN2024FE5831 HH %
BT ¢ (48)

Attributable equity Principal activities
interest and place of operations
Fefhhe e IBERRERHE

Direct Indirect

E# ik

- 100%  Inactive
= 100% EEEE
= - Inactive
(20283:100%)
(2003% : 100%)
- 100%  Inactive
= 100% EEEE
- 100%  Inactive
- 100% EEEE
- - Inactive
(20283:100%)

(2023 : 100%)

- 71%  Operation of entertainment and
club business, Hong Kong
- % BEREREFEH &R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following are the particulars of the Group’s
subsidiaries at 31 May 2024: (continued)

Name

4

Gity Silver Limited

Gity Silver Limited

Ace Gain Limited

Ace Gain Limited

Maximus (HK) Limited

Maximus (HK) Limited

Castle Team Limited

Castle Team Limited

KLSK Holdings Limited

KLSK Holdings Limited

Sage wonder Limited

Sage wonder Limited

Party Alc Limited

BRERRAR

166 New Amante Group Limited $EEEEARAT

Country/place and date of
incorporation/establishment and
form of business structure
MR/ RIER/ HER
REEZHERETL

Hong Kong, 12 October 2013,
limited liability company
&5 013108128 ERAT

Hong Kong, 5 May 2016, limited liability

company

&8 201665850 ERAF

Hong Kong, 7 July 2017,
limited liability company

&4 017E7R7R BRAR

Hong Kong, 25 January 2018,
limited liability company
&8 018518250 BRAT

Hong Kong, 21 September 2016,
limited liability company

&5 2016598210 ERAR

The BV, 26 February 2021,
limited liability company

EBRYHE 2021528260 BRAT

Hong Kong, 9 February 2021
limited liability company
&8 00152890 BRAF

Issued

and paid up
capital
B2Ef1k
YRR

HK$625,003

625,008% ¢

HK$1

%7

HK$100

100A7

HK$100

10047

HK$1

%7

US§50,000

50,000%7

HK$10,000

10,0007

32. MBARFE (@

REEKNBASN2024FE5831 HH %

‘W (@)

Attributable equity
interest

FEfb i
Direct Indirect
Ef% Rl
- 60%
- 60%
- 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

100% =

100% =

= 100%

= 100%

Principal activities
and place of operations

TEERRERNS

Inactive

Investment holding, Hong Kong

Inactive

LEE-E

Investment holding, Hong Kong

Operation of entertainment and

club business, Hong Kong
TeRERemzs &4



32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following are the particulars of the Group’s
subsidiaries at 31 May 2024: (continued)

Name

4

(12 Beverage Limited

(12 Beverage Limited

IRAEEXEERERAT

IRAEENCERERAT

Country/place and date of Issued

incorporation/establishment and and paid up

form of business structure capital

AL/ RIER/ HER BEfTR

ARARBGRY R HRRE

The BVI, 24 October 2024, USD 100
limited liability company

EERLHE 2024F10F248 100%7
BERAF

PRC, 28 March 2024, RMB100
limited liability company

HE» 202436280 BIRAF ARE1007

i On 7 September 2023, the Group disposed of 100% equity
interest in Joint Ace Limited.

2 On 31 October 2023, the Group disposed of 100% equity
interest in Group Best Investment Limited and Legend Vision

Limited.

32. MBARFE (@

REEKNBASN2024FE5831 HH %
(=R N =)

Attributable equity Principal activities
interest and place of operations
33 IBERRESHE

Direct Indirect

Ef# Ak
100% - Inactive
100% = e

100%  Inactive

100% EEEX

R2023F9A7H » AEEH EJoint Ace
Limitedf9100% R 1 5 o

120234 10831H  *EB R EMEKRE
AIRRB KA IEAMRA IR A B #I100%8 #

fm

2024 ANNUAL REPORT &% 107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BBARS
(a) Related party transactions (a) FEAEXS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the G EeMERREMMESMFRIEE
consolidated financial statements, the Group = R = N =N R SE iy
had the following material transactions with TFUTEKRRS .

related parties during the year:

Related party identity Type of transactions Notes 2024 2023
A7 & 17 RPEE it 52 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Model Genesis International Marketing and
Management Limited promotion fee (i) & (i)
15155 52 37 2K 3 B PR B 18 SiHREEER
BIRAS () & (i - 910
Notes: B 5E
(i) The transactions were conducted at terms and (i) R 5 Jh # 8 F& 75 18 B 15 E B K
conditions mutually agreed between the relevant ARG ET A RBEERBZ
parties. The directors of the Company are of the SHBARZIIRASEEHE X
opinion that those related party transactions were AR ET

conducted in the normal and ordinary course of
business of the Group.

(ii) Mr. Ng Shing Chun Ray, being an executive director (ii) KRABDRTEETRRBEER
of the Company before he resigned on 3 April 2023, 2023F4B3HHERIN A A E
held controlling interests in the related company. TR
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33.

34.

35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)  383.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel
Remuneration for key management personnel
of the Group, excluding amounts paid to the
directors of the Company as disclosed in Note
10(a), is as follows:

Salaries, allowances and e R REYRER
benefits in kind

RREk 5% ()
b) EEBERABNFHH

FEEBNTEZEEAESHFM (F
BEWFEI0(MKRENENER
BEEME WT -

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 34.
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, no contracts of significance
to which the Company’s subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company or an entity
connected with a director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at
the end of the financial year.

NOTE SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 35.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below detail changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
from financing activities.

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T T
738 673
%%K*%*Eﬂﬁé%%ik
m

PriFE M B AWM EE b > #
BARNDWEBABMILEARATNES
NEENHEBENRHTERNEEE
BEABaNEANGHNRYREERB
WERFF AR

RERERERME
RMEEBAEENEHHR

TERFEAEERELTHFFELENER
2% (ARREARFRSEH) -WEE
BFFEENEEAREREESKIRRK
RERERENTEENGERERE
KRNELARELTFREERENE

& o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

35. NOTE SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 35. &Z4HfSHhEaxME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing MEEBIFFEENEEHE &)
activities (continued)

Amounts due to  Total liabilities

Lease Loan from an Other Amounts due  non-controlling  from financing
liabilities  ex-shareholder borrowings to directors interests activities
HEED
RE—%H EfiES FEf R 2R FELM
HEak BRRZER Hittfa A BREZHE aafk
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note 16(b)) (Note 24) (Note 23) (Note 25) (Note 25)
(Hzt16)) (zt24) (z223) (325 (Hz225)
As at 1 June 2023 202356818 14,705 6,477 2,948 203 2,700 27,033
Changes from cash flows: REmELH .
Proceeds from new loans HERMETE - 700 - - - 700
Repayments of loans BEER - (4,614) - - - (4,614)
Repayments of principal portion of ~ EEREEEASHS
lease liabilties (13,568) - - - - (13,568)
Repayments to directors HEZEN - - - (15) - (15)
Repayments to minority shareholders [0 #kEE - - - - (40) (40)
Interest paid BFE (1,025) - - - - (1,025)
Total changes from cash flows REMERLEE (14,593) (3,914) - (15) (40) (18,562)
Other changes: Hit125) .
New leases HHE 11,801 - - - - 11,801
Early termination of lease REAIHE (790) - - - - (790)
Reclassify to trade and ENNBEEAR
other payables HEMTIE (1,192) - - - - (1,192)
Interest expense HERE 1,025 - 141 - - 1,166
Total other changes Hit#Hes 10,844 - 14 - - 10,985
As at 31 May 2024 R2024F58318 10,956 2,563 3,089 188 2,660 20,648
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35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 35.

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (continued)

meERERERME (@

MEZBFEENERYHER (@

Amounts due to Total liabilities

Lease Loan from an Other Amounts due non-controlling from financing
liabilities  ex-shareholder borrowings to directors interests activities
MEEY
RE—%A BNES IR FELR
HEEE RRZER HitfER 25 ERZTE naE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note 16(b)) (Note 24) (Note 23) (Note 25) (Note 25)
(Hi216(b)) (Hf#24) (H#225) if=22) (H225)
As at 1 June 2022 #20225681H 16,226 8,454 - 2,091 2,700 29,471
Changes from cash flows: REmERE .
Proceeds from new loans HERMETE - 220 3,624 - - 3,844
Repayments of loans BEER - (2,197) (676) - - (2,879)
Repayments of principal portion of ~ EEREAEAEHS
lease liabilties (10,299) - - . . (10,299)
Repayments to directors HEZEN - - - (1,888) - (1,888)
Interest paid BIFE (486) - (67) - - (553)
Total changes from cash flows Remenes (10,785) (1,977) 2,881 (1,888) - (11,769)
Other changes: Hitrgs
Rent concession HEEE (137) - - - - (137)
New leases HHE 12,359 = = = = 12,359
Early termination of lease REAILHE (3,069) - - - - (3,069)
Reclassify to trade and ENNBEBAR
other payables HEMNTIE (375) - - - - (375)
Interest expense FERE 486 - 67 - - 553
Total other changes Hitggies 9,264 - 67 - - 9,331
As at 31 May 2023 12023558318 14,705 6,477 2,948 208 2,700 27,083
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

36. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 36. RERENMEHEERSHE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY EME
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated AR AR WEREAMN TS
statement of financial position relate to the following BEENTSRAaEER AR -

categories of financial assets and financial liabilities.

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Financial assets EREE
Measured at amortised cost: B HR A E
Trade receivables, deposits and BERWHIE -BE M
other receivables H & W mk 18 6,916 11,323
Cash and cash equivalents RERIEEEY 1,816 10,589
8,732 21,912
Financial liabilities E =R
Measured at amortised cost: BEHR AT E
Trade and other payables B 5 K HEAME A 18,725 16,659
Amounts due to directors ENEE 22 HIE 188 203
Amounts due to non-controlling FE (I FEIE R #e 2 2 FRIB
interests 2,660 2,700
Other borrowings H & 3,089 2,948
Loan from an ex-shareholder KE—BAIKREZER 2,563 6,477
27,225 28,987
Lease liabilities HESR& 10,956 14,705
38,181 43,692
37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MBERAMERE
The Group’s financial assets that derive directly from AEBEEFESENSRHEEAE
its operations are trade receivables, deposits and SEWNHRIEBE- R REMERRIBEUK
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. B RESEBY ~EENTESR
Principal financial liabilities of the Group include EEEEBE REMMENRZIE HMhE
trade and other payables, other borrowing, lease T -HEBE - RKE—ZAIREZER
liabilities, loan from an ex-shareholder, amounts due ENESE 2 RIBRENIFZERERZ 2
to directors and amounts due to non-controlling HolhZEsmaBEtrtEasrEFIZHE

interests. The main purpose of these financial BEEo
liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations.
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37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group does not enter into or trade
financial instruments for speculative purposes.

(a) Currency risk

The Group mainly operated in Hong Kong with
most of the transactions settled in Hong Kong
dollars and did not have significant exposure to
risk resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates.

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade and other receivables (note 18).
There are no significant concentrations of
credit exposure to the Group. It is spread over
a diversified portfolio of customers.

In respect of trade receivables relating to the
provision of individual credit, evaluations are
performed on the customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay
and take into account information specific to
the customer. Typically, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers, except for the
deposits received.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial
assets, which mainly comprise of bank and
other deposits, arises from potential default
of the counterparties, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments. Credit risk in cash and cash
equivalents are limited as cash is deposited
in the bank with high credit rating. Credit
risk arising from refundable rental deposits is
considered to be low, taking into account the
credit rating of the landlord, and the remaining
lease payments covered by the rental deposits.

Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

37.

MBERKREE (&
FEBSHTIARELNEIEARAS
ERRK  RBESER KRR EER
S FTUNEESR T AUERE
Ao

(@ EB¥ER
AEFBTERNEBEEER M
REBARZXZHLUBTER » I
EEHEAMEXSEHMERN
ERER -

(b) EEER
FEENEERABRIEZRINEH
ZREMBURIE (HFE18) o &
ERTEEAETHNEERR-
FERBRYREZNZERER

MEREEAEEERNESE
WRIEMES » P& #H B FE 2
STRETENZTPAPMET &£E
SEEER P N E MBS
EsC ik A BRI fFH X (T BYBE
s RZERPHNTEER -
BEMs  ~&EBITAEEER
ESHHR & MR ER B IR T BRI o

FEFEMERNEE (T20HE
RITRHEMER BEERRIR
BRFINBEEENTR S
EEEERZETANKREE.
HRREFEREETRESH
RIT - WRERBEESFEYHE
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BB ER T RENE T
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EENEERRAE-

BESEWR%E
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BERZEE—TPED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir e TR AR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

(b)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 37. MBRAKEIRE (B
Credit risk (continued) (b) 8/ (&)
Trade receivables (continued) EBZEIE (Z)
The following table provides information about TERIEHAEEFMEHEEERM
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs REBoEIFIENTEEEEEE
for trade receivables: HER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
2024 loss rate amount allowance
20245 FAHBIRE EREAE BiREE
HK$°000 HK$°000
FAET F#ET
0-30 days past due #HA0E30H 21.9 735 161
31-90 days past due A HAB1E90H 33.0 279 92
91-180 days past due A HEA91E180H 69.5 463 322
181-365 days past due  #H§181E365H - - -
1,477 575
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
2023 loss rate amount allowance
20235 TRHAE 1B AREAME BEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE1 FET
0-30 days past due A HA0E30H 6.4 6,082 390
31-90 days past due A EAB1E90H 49.0 245 120
91-180 days past due A EA91E180H 51.8 830 426
181-365 days past due  #1H§181E365H = = =
7,157 936

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 5 years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over
which historical data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 37.

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

The Group has adopted the general expected

credit loss model in

relation to other

receivables. A summary of the assumptions
underpinning the Group’s expected credit loss

model is as follows:

Category
Ll

Performing

Underperforming

Non-performing
73!

Write-off

55

Company definition
of the category

RAFNHEHERNESR

Counterparties have a low risk of
default and a strong capacity to
meet contractual cash flows

HFRAEVWEARREEEREETRES
NEERE

Balance for which there is a significant
increase in credit risk; and
significant increase in credit risk is
presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due

ERNEERBBELN; REFNER/
FAEETAHBBIOBUNEEAREE
J2 B BB 3E

Interest and/or principal repayments
are 90 days past due
R R/ HAEEFAIABEOH

Interest and/or principal repayments
are 180 days past due and there
is no reasonable expectation of
recovery

FER/HAEEFAIBE180EHBIL
mEIETUEITEH

MHEREER (@
(b)

EERR (&

Bl A

75 B B 5L H M8 WGRIE R —
RERACEEEEEN -Z/FEXE
ERACEEEREANBRREE
LI

The basis for recognition of
expected credit loss provision

HRBEREEGRERENEE

12 month expected credit losses.
Where the expected lifetime of an
assets is less than 12 months,
expected credit losses are
measured at its expected lifetime

12BN EEEE BN BREER
TR ZANEE  BHREEERE
EN i ER 2

Lifetime expected credit losses (non-
credit impaired)

2HEREEEE GFEERE)

Lifetime expected credit losses
(credit-impaired)

2HEREERE (EERHE)

Asset is written off

MIsEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 37.

MEREER (&)

(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE @
Other receivables (continued) B zIE (2
The Group accounts for the above items’ KREBZEBRFATEREERE
credit risk by appropriately providing for BEETIREEE FMIEBENESE
expected credit losses on a timely basis. In EfE AR - sTETEHEEEEX
calculating the expected credit loss rates, the B "EBHZEBAHEFANE
Group considers historical loss rates for each FPEEXRETEE LHAEMS
category of counterparties, and adjusted for REERETEE gL HME U
forward-looking macroeconomic information. HRIBEHTEHEEEETIER AT
Expected credit losses against other T
receivables are provided as follows:
2024 2024 %
Carrying amount
Basis for recognition Estimated gross (net of
Expected credit of expected credit carrying amount impairment Basis for calculation of
Company internal credit rating loss rate loss provision at default provision) interest revenue
RIENEE fEsiEs KEE #EHE
RANBEETR BMEEERE BRAGHEER REAE  (RAGERE WENEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T#En
Performing 0.7% 12 month expected credit 5,745 5,703 Gross carrying amount
losses
E% 12BRNEREEFR REAMH
Underperforming 100% Lifetime expected credit 3 - Gross carrying amount
losses (non-credit
impaired)
Mt PMEBEERR GEHEE REAMH
)
Total deposits and other receivables 5,748 5,703

BERAMERTRELE
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37.
(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

BEREMERRELE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  37. BiIEEASEIE (&)
Credit risk (continued) (b) EERR @
Other receivables (continued) B zIE (2
2023 20234
Carrying amount
Basis for recognition Estimated gross (net of
Expected credit of expected credit carrying amount impairment  Basis for calculation of
Company internal credit rating loss rate 10ss provision at default provision) interest revenue
RARHARE fhEHEL FEE HEFE
RARBESTR FHEERE: BERENAE REAE  MRAERE UeHEE
HK$000 HK$000
FET &
Performing 0.8% 12 month expected credit 5,144 5,102 Gross carrying amount
osses
3] 12ERHNBHEEER EREEE
Underperforming 100% Lifetime expected credit 3 - (Gross carrying amount
losses (non-credit impaired)
() LHRREEER GHEE EREEE
)
Total deposits and other receivables 5,147 5,102

No significant changes to estimation
techniques or assumptions were made during

the reporting period.

R\ ESHE AR RE S
mBEAREIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR AR R MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

37.

MHERBER (@

(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE @
Other receivables (continued) B zIE (2
The opening loss allowance for deposits and B4 & H fhE U I8 2 4 & 18 8
other receivables reconciles to the closing loss HELS R E Mt E KR IEE R E
allowance for deposits and other receivables, EEEHE BEREEAGWT
and the gross carrying amounts are as follows:
Under-
Performing performing Total
EE B E iy
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
F#ET F#ET F#ET
Gross carrying amount for 12024658318 K
deposits and other receivables e R EAMMEWRIE
as at 31 May 2024 RE4AE 5,745 3 5,748
Loss allowance as at 120236818 &
1 June 2023 and 31 May 2024 2024F5H31HIY
BEEE 42 3 45
Net carrying amount for R2024F58318H
deposits and other receivables as &% R EHEWKEIE
at 31 May 2024 REEER 5,703 - 5,703
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37.

(b)

(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  37. BAIEEEE (&)
Credit risk (continued) (b) EERR @
Other receivables (continued) BE=E (&)
Under-
Performing performing Total
EE R 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Gross carrying amount for 1202358310 K
deposits and other receivables e R EAMMEWRRIE
as at 31 May 2023 IREAEE 5,144 3 5,147
Opening loss allowance as at R20226681HH
1 June 2022 BB E - 1,488 1,488
Expected credit loss FBHEERE 42 = 42
Written off b i) = (1,485) (1,485)
Closing loss allowance as at 1220235831 HE
31 May 2023 HRBEER 42 3 45
Net carrying amount for 1202358310 K
deposits and other receivables e R EAMMEWRRIE
as at 31 May 2023 IREFEE 5,102 - 5,102
Liquidity risk () REIEEEMR

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the
Group will not be able to meet its obligations
associated with its financial liabilities. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect
of settlement of trade payables, accruals and
other payables, other borrowings, loan from an
ex-shareholder, lease liabilities, amounts due to
directors and amounts due to non-controlling
interests, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group’s objective is to
maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

MBE T AR R AEBARE
THERERHESENAR-
FAEEEEEREEEZRAMN
BB ERAKREMENRE
HMER KRE—BARRZE
HHEER - BANEFZME
FREMIFERED 2 RBEUR
REREEENRBESAR-
FEESERFTBEERDEEK
FollmERRRRANAHE

2024 ANNUAL REPORT 43§ | 79



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 o = |

RAFsERAR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major banks and financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer terms.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the
Group during the years ended 31 May 2024
and 2023 and are considered to have been
effective in managing liquidity risks.

As disclosed in note 3(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group incurred a net
loss of approximately HK$17,321,000 for the
year ended 31 May 2024. As of that date,
the Group’s net liabilities was approximately
HK$972,000 and net current liabilities was
approximately HK$15,248,000 and included
other borrowings and loan from an ex-
shareholder amounting to approximately
HK$3,089,000 and HK$2,563,000 respectively,
while the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$1,816,000 only.
Subsequent to the year end, the night club
operated by the Group has ceased its business
since 4 August 2024 due to expiration of
the lease. For the year ended 31 May 2024,
the revenue of the night club accounted for
approximately 69.16% of the Group’s revenue
from the “Operation of club and entertainment
business” segment. The Group has taken and
shall continue to take actions to mitigate the
impact as set out in note 3(c) to ensure, as far
as possible, that the Group will have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall
due.

The following table details the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities
are based on the agreed repayment dates. The
table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that liabilities carry interest
at floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rates at the end of the
reporting period.
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(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R TS ER AR MTEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

4= A
7177 g |

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 37. MBRAMEIRE (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) (c) mEBBEEAR @&
Total More than More than
contractual ~ Within one one year but two years
Carrying undiscounted  year or on less than but less than
amount cash flow demand two years five years
BHRER
RERE —ERH BBE—F BBRmE
REE W B2k EIRHE EBIREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 May 2024 2024558310
Trade and other payables B R EME[THIE 18,725 18,725 18,725 - -
Amounts due to directors ENESEZHE 188 188 188 - -
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  FE{F JE ik g% 2 7B 2,660 2,660 2,660 - -
Other borrowings HinfE 3,089 3,110 3,110 - -
Loan from an ex-shareholder RE—ZEIREZER 2,563 2,563 2,563 - -
Lease liabilities HEER 10,956 11,496 7,503 3,993 -
38,181 38,742 34,749 3,993 -
At 31 May 2023 12023558310
Trade and other payables B REME[TTIE 16,659 16,659 16,659 = =
Amounts due to directors ENESZHE 203 203 203 - -
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  FEf} FEZ MR 1B 2 FUB 2,700 2,700 2,700 - -
Other borrowings HEMER 2,048 3,089 3,089 = =
Loan from an ex-shareholder RE—LEIREZER 6,477 6,477 6,477 = =
Lease liabilities HERE 14,705 15,726 7,607 5,277 2,842
43,692 44,854 36,735 5,277 2,842
Interest rate risk (d FI=XERRE
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair MxRBEIREMRIAERTEE
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will IRE M E A iEH == E 8 Mm K

fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s bank deposits bear floating
interest rates. The Group’s other borrowings
bear interests at fixed interest rates and
therefore are subject to fair value interest rate
risks.

R -mEBENRITERIRE
HFERF R - AEEOHEMER
REEMXFE ALEERRF
BRERRER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 #; 202458310 L FE

38.

182

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objective when managing
capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and maximising the return to
stakeholders.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group actively and regularly reviews the capital
structure and makes adjustments to it in light of
changes in economic conditions. The Group monitors
its capital structure on the basis of debt to equity
ratio.

The debt to equity ratio at reporting date was as
follows:

BXEREE
FEREREFNEIEANRRELE
EORECEENLBEREFNEN
B4R -

PRERHRABRELARBE FEEANTH
BaRRKNHREZE RARREE
EX ETHRIHDEEEURLDE
7o

AERRBENRERERRBE > LEL

BRRONWEHRE - AEERBEEH#E
mIEREREEARE-

REBREAMANEF DTN T

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Other borrowings H &k 3,089 2,948
Loan from an ex-shareholder KE—HAIREZER 2,563 6,477
Amounts due to non-controlling interests F& {7 JE =R #E 75 =~ T IE 2,660 2,700
Amounts due to directors EREEZHIE 188 203
Lease liabilities HEaRE 10,956 14,705
19,456 27,033

Total (deficiency in assets)/equity W(EERAM) f#a (972) 10,470
Debt-to-equity ratio BEEEREE n/afRiEH 1:0.4

New Amante Group Limited ¥EEEEARAE



39.

40.

41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wRE MR R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2024 & £2024F5831H Lt FE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries or up to a
maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make
additional contributions. The employer’'s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s
monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(the “mandatory contributions”). The employees
are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65,
death or total incapacity. No forfeited contributions
are available to reduce the contribution payable by
the Group in the future years.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 5 August 2024, due to the expiration of the
lease, the night club “FAYE” being operated by the
Group in Lan Kwan Fong, Hong Kong have ceased its
business since 4 August 2024. The Group had tried
to negotiate with the landlord for renewal of the lease
but no agreement could be reached eventually.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
30 August 2024,

39.

40.

41.

R AEF 5 E
AEBRRBEB(RFINELBESBF
P RAEBEEE - RBEREEFE
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1,600 Tt B (TRFIEHR) BB
JRE5R B IR B TR RARTIFAE
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DEFINITION
(£

“AGM”
MRERBEKRE]

“Amante House”
I Amante House |

“Articles of Association”
MAMEFR4RA
“associate(s)”

N YN

“Audit Committee”
EBiZEE9 ]

“Auditor” or “BDO”
N G ARVE ===l

“Auditor’s Report”
1% BB R &

“Board”
=c==0--

“Capital Reduction”

MR 2 1 78k

“Capital Reorganisation”

MR A E 4

“CEQ”
MTE B E

the annual general meeting of the Company
KABINKRRBFRE

a lounge located at Wan Chai, Hong Kong
—BUREBEFHNEERE

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company
adopted by a special resolution passed on the AGM held on 14
November 2022

R2022F 1MB14HBITHRRBEARG LEKHIRAZEZERANERE
RAEFT R ES TN AB=Z A

having the meaning ascribed thereto under the GEM Listing Rules
BEGEM L RRIMR T 808 &

the audit committee of the Company
KREINBEZEES

BDO Limited, an independent external auditor of the Company
BRIV GEEREAMEHBMERRAE > A QA BIE L INSIZEED

the independent auditor’s report dated 30 August 2024 issued by the
Auditor
ZBRBM PR 2% & B BA 720248 B 30H B L % H AN R &

the board of Directors
EEg

the reduction of the issued share capital of the Company by reducing
the par value of each issued then share from HK$0.20 to HK$0.01
by cancelling the paid-up share capital to the extent of HK$0.19 per
issued then share

HBARBBZETRES T ABRBTHAERAZTEGRER S ET
170198 KERKREREETRM ZEBEH0.208 THI B =0.014
TG

the capital reorganisation approved by Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 6 October 2023
which involves the Capital Reduction, Share Premium Reduction and
Sub-division and became effective on 20 December 2023
R2023F10H6H BT ARARER I ASE FEEREHIEZ KRR
B4 (BE R AR~ 5 mEENR R IfF4) Br2023F 125200 £ 38

the chief executive officer of the Company
N BT AR,
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“CG Code”
2SR

“Chairman”

MEE

“Code Provisions”
I<F Bl B >

“Companies Act”
TABE

“Companies Ordinance”
T B

“Company”

/Nl

“Company Secretary”

MRBEIME]

“Corresponding Period”
rEEREH)

“Covid-19”
201978 & F %

“Directors”
===y

“Disclaimer”

MREXRER)

“ESG Report”
MRE M EREARS]
“ESG Reporting Guide”

NRIF-HEREARSIES

DEFINITION
(£

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules
GEM k3R Bl Bff 21 577 8 BY 1 2= B8 <P Al

the chairman of the Board
EESEE

code provisions as set out in the CG Code
R EEASTRIPT ST AR

the Companies Act (2023 Revision) of the Cayman lIslands as
consolidated and revised
RiZBERESTZHEEEABE (2023F 5] 4)

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
REMEG (BB LG 5622F)

New Amante Group Limited (formerly known as BCl Group Holdings
Limited), a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability, shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
WEEZEEEARLE FBSMERARAR)  —ERHESESEM
I B RAE > HRRD AT L

the company secretary of the Company
KRABNAEWE

the period for the year ended 31 May 2023
B E2023F5831 HEE A

the coronavirus disease 2019
2019 AR fmE =

the directors of the Company
KANBINES

the disclaimer of opinion in the Auditor's Report on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period
ZEEMREFPR AR N BRETHABNGEHFRERAERNITERR
R

environmental, social and governance report of the Group for the year
ended 31 May 2024
AREBEE2024F5831HIEFENRE - HERELRRS

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 20 of GEM Listing Rules
GEM E R AN ER20FT & MIRIE - H E R E AR SIE5]
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DEFINITION
(£

“Executive Director(s)
MHAITES)

“GEM Listing Rules”
FGEM L £ A1

“GHG”
F'GHG J

“Group” or “we” or “our”

Y= (Sl

“HKASSs”
M&Eg st 2

“HKFRSs”
M&EMBRE 2R

“HKICPA”
rERgstAg)

“H K$”
M7t

“Hong Kong”
r&4#]

“INED(s)"
MBI IERITESE]

“Internal Control Consultant”
Ty B Es R RA R

“LKF Lounge”
' LKF Lounge |

“MIA”

MABE 2 XA R MR

“MPF Scheme”
MR E T2

1 86 New Amante Group Limited

the executive Director(s)

HITES

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time
554 32 By A B 1) € BYGEMEE 35 £ 1 7R Bl

Greenhouse gas

Nt
0z R A

the Company and its subsidiaries
KRB REHH B AT

Hong Kong Accounting Standards
EB W HER

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards comprise HKFRS, HKAS
and Interpretations

ERU SRS AIEE BN SRS R EEHEAREE

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
BEBGEEAE

Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B BB EEE!

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China
hEARENMEEBRHITHE

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BUFRTES

an internal control consultant engaged by the Company on 16 January
2023
KRB 2023F1 B 168 ZHERY A & B2 2 B R

the cigar lounge operated by the Group at Lan Kwai Fong, Hong Kong
FEERBBFERKENSHEERE

the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company adopted by a special resolution passed on the AGM held
on 14 November 2022

R2022F 11 B14BRTHRRBEFAEG L REHRBZEZRMN AR E]
RMEE] J E 5T BY AR 4 =572 A 48 S 4 Al

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme

@t AEE 5 E

WEEEEARAR



“Nomination Committee’

MRREEE)

“Option(s)”
TRE R #E

“PRC’
e[

“Proposed Measures”

M2 & i

“Remuneration Committee”

FMEEE

“Reporting Period”
MR &5 HAR

“Rights Issue”

THRZ

“SFO"

5855 R A S 1R 4
“Share(s)”

M7

4

“Share Consolidation’

i1 &

“Share Option Scheme”

s st 8

4

DEFINITION
(£

the nomination committee of the Company
RAAFNRREER

Share option(s) granted to eligible grantee(s) by the Company
RATAEBEE AT AR THRERE

People’s Republic of China
REARENE

proposed measures proposed by the Company to address the
Disclaimer

RABR/BRTIERERMBLERE

the remuneration committee of the Company
KREINFMNEE S

the period for the year ended 31 May 2024
B E2024F5A31HIEFEHAM

the rights issue on the basis of the then one (1) rights share for every
two (2) shares held on 12 January 2023, a total of 29,964,000 Shares
was allotted and issued thereunder on 27 February 2023

22023 F1B12HERSRAEMRBRRMNEZE —(1)RERKROHNE
MR I 102023F2827H » 5$£29,964,000 15 E A3 &
217

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong
Kong)
BERIBEHRA (FREFIE715)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the issued share capital of the
Company
ARBERETRATESREEC.OIVETHNEBER

the share consolidation on the basis that the then every twenty (20)
issued and unissued shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the Company be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of
HK$0.20 each which resolved in the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 14 November 2022

R2022F 1M B14RRITHNARIRRBEFAG LERZRBRKERAE
RERAPEZTROREZETRRETZEREEOIEBTZRAE
HR—()REREER0.20EBTZEHERN

the share option scheme adopted at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 14 March 2017
AT R2017HEIB14BRITHRRENAS LRANEREST
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DEFINITION
(£

“Share Premium Reduction”

Mi& 17 i B B R

“Shareholder(s)”
MRS ER

“Stock Exchange”
MBS 32 PR

“Sub-division”
T35 40

“Wanchai Amante Shop”
'Wanchai Amante Shop |

wgy”
% J

the application of the credit arising from the Capital Reduction and
the credit standing in the Company’s share premium account towards
offsetting the accumulated deficit of the Company as at the effective
date of the Capital Reduction in a manner as permitted by the
Companies Law and other applicable laws
FERRRKRAHRMES 2 ERBREARERMD GERPIVERTE XU
REVEREMBREERFTNANIRER AT N RAHREHNEHB R
5t 5 4t

holder(s) of the Share(s)
e AVEST=IN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERMERBABERRT

the sub-division of each authorised but unissued then share into
twenty (20) authorised and unissued Shares
BHEREREEBRETRMBIFMAA =20 EEMAZITRG

a cigar shop operated by the Group at Wanchai, Hong Kong
—ERAERRNEBEBFEENSMNEH

per cent
Bt

188 New Amante Group Limited $EEEEARAT



NEW AMANTE GROUP LIMITED
MEEEEBRAT



	封面
	聯交所GEM的特色
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告書
	門店
	財務摘要
	管理層討論及分析
	董事履歷詳情
	企業管治報告
	環境、社會及管治報告
	董事會報告
	五年財務概要
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	釋義
	封底



